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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Report constitute “fataoking statementsiithin the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga Reform Act o
1995. Such forwardboking statements involve known and unknown rigsks;ertainties and other factors which may causeaotual result
performance or achievements to be materially difiefrom any future results, performance, or admesnts expressed or implied by <
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking stateteenay include, but are not limited to, our and lmensees ability to successfully laun
and commercialize our products and technologiesiditg Oxecta®Tablets and Nexafed™ Tablets, the price discourttiag may be offere
by Pfizer for Oxecta®, the ability of us or ourditsees to obtain necessary regulatory approvals and @mialize products utilizing o
technologies and the market acceptance of any ptedexpectations regarding potential market sfareur products and the timing of fi
sales, our ability to enter into additional liceragreements for our other product candidates, Hiéyato avoid infringement of paten
trademarks and other proprietary rights of thirdtipa, and the ability of our patents to protect products from generic competition, and
ability to fulfill the U.S. Food and Drug Administion’s, or FDA, requirements for approving our produahdidates for commerc
manufacturing and distribution in the United Statesluding, without limitation, the adequacy ofethesults of the laboratory and clini
studies completed to date, the results of laboyatod clinical studies we may complete in the fattor support FDA approval of our prod
candidates and the sufficiency of our developmemhéet over-theounter, or OTC, Monograph standards as applicéideadequacy of tl
development program for our product candidatesudicg whether additional clinical studies will bequired to support FDA approval of «
product candidates, changes in regulatory requingsnadverse safety findings relating to our prodandidates, whether the FDA will ag
with our analysis of our clinical and laboratorydies and how it may evaluate the results of tiedsdies or whether further studies of
product candidates will be required to support Fapproval, whether or when we are able to obtain FpAroval of labeling for our prodt
candidates for the proposed indications and wilebke to promote the features of our abuse disgingaechnologies, whether our proc
candidates will ultimately deter abuse in commémédtingsand whether our Impede technology will disrupt phhecessing of pseudoephed:
into methamphetamine . In some cases, you canifigeotward-looking statements by terms such as yrhdwill,” “should,” “could,”
“would,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “belieas,” “estimates,” “projects,” “predicts,” “potenfiaand similar expressions intendec
identify forwardiooking statements. These statements reflect ouercuviews with respect to future events and ased on assumptions
subject to risks and uncertainties. Given thesestainties, you should not place undue reliancehase forwardeoking statements. V
discuss many of these risks in greater detailemIfLA of this Report.

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assuomgti the forwardeoking events and circumstances discussed inRbort may nc
occur and actual results could differ materiallyl @uversely from those anticipated or implied ia thrwardiooking statements. According
readers are cautioned not to place undue relianseich forward-looking statements.

PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engag#eiresearch, development and commercializatigraglucts intended
address medication abuse and misuse, utilizingomprietary Aversion®nd Impede™ Technologies. Our products and prochradidates a
based on widely-used commercial products and daltertthe safety and efficacy of the active pharaodical ingredients.

Our lead product, Oxecta®ablets ClIl, or Oxecta (formerly Acurox), was apged for marketing by the United States Food
Drug Administration, or FDA, on June 17, 2011. Ceerepresents the first immediatdease oxycodone product approved by the FDA
applies our Aversion Technology. Aversion is a migtof inactive ingredients incorporated into phacgutical tablets and capsules design
address some common methods of product tampersugiased with abuse. Oxecta will be manufacturetl @mmercialized by Pfizer unc
our October 2007 license agreement with a subgidiaiPfizer and was made commercially availablePiger on January 23, 2012. We
eligible to receive tiered royalties ranging frorfio 30 25% on net sales of Oxecta pursuant to oueemgent with Pfizer. The royalt
commence one year from the first anniversary offitise commercial sale of Oxecta which occurredratruary 2, 2012. On June 30, 2011
received a $20.0 million milestone payment fronz&fias a result of the FDA approval of Oxecta. fademark Oxecta® owned by Pfize
or its affiliate.




In addition to Oxecta, we have licensed to Pfiber tights to develop, manufacture and commercidlizee other immediateeleas
opioid products utilizing our Aversion Technologythe United States, Canada and Mexico, including:

« hydrocodone bitartrate / acetaminophen tablets;
« oxycodone HCI/ acetaminophen tablets; and
« anundisclosed opioid analgesic tablet product.

The development of these additional products mégvica program consistent with that of Oxecta.

We believe our Aversion Technology can also be tgetktvelop and commercialize unique formulatiohsan-opioid pharmaceutic
products associated with abuse and intentional smis@ur initial norepioid product candidate is a stimulant product thee treatment
attention deficit disorder.

We are also developing Nexafed™, an over-the-courde OTC, immediateelease pseudoephedrine HCI tablet, utilizing
proprietary Impede™ Technology. Pseudoephedring HICPSE, is a widely-used nasal decongestantadblaiin many noiprescription an
prescription cold, sinus and allergy products, udatg Johnson & Johnson’s Sudafeg®duct. Our Impede Technology is a proprie
mixture of inactive ingredients designed to imp#ueextraction of pseudoephedrine from tabletpfoducing methamphetamine or disrupt
direct conversion of PSE in tablets into methamgiméte.

Oxecta is a Schedule Il narcotic indicated forttenagement of acute and chronic moderate to speémevhere the use of an opi
analgesic is appropriate. The safety and efficatyOrecta 5mg and 7.5mg tablets was established dmodstrating bioequivalence
commercially available oxycodone immediatdease tablets in the fasted state. Oxecta differs oxycodone tablets when taken with a |
fat meal though these differences are not congideligically relevant, and Oxecta can be taken authregard to food. The FDApprove:
label for Oxecta describes elements unique to ouergion Technology, which differs from current coemgially available oxycodol
immediaterelease tablets. The label for Oxecta includesélselts from a clinical study that evaluated thie@t of nasally snorting crust
Oxecta and commercially available oxycodone tabbatd limitations on exposing Oxecta tablets toewand other solvents and administras
through feeding tubes. The clinical study (Study3Kk220-1002) evaluated 40 non-dependent recreatimpiald users, who seddministere
the equivalent of 15mg of oxycodone. After accaugfior a first sequence effect, the study demotestra

« 30% of subjects exposed to Oxecta responded tlegt would not take the drug again compared to 5%udfjects exposed
immediat-release oxycodoni

» subjects taking Oxecta reported a higher incideot@asopharyngeal and facial adverse events comipmrémmediat-releas
oxycodone

« adecreased ability to completely insufflate twostred Oxecta tablets within a fixed time period 240 subjects), while all subje
were able to completely insufflate the entire doSenmediat-release oxycodone; a

« small n umeric differences in the median and meag &king scores, which were lower in respons®tecta than immediatesleas
oxycodone.

Although we believe these abuse deterrent chaistitsr differentiate Oxecta from immediatgdease oxycodone products currently or
market, consistent with FDA guidance which requigpgemiology studies to support a claim of abuskerdence, the clinical significance
the difference in drug liking and difference inpesse to taking the drug again in this study hadeen established. There is no evidence
Oxecta has a reduced liability compared to immediatease oxycodone. Pfizer has agreed to agpgstval commitment with the FDA
perform an epidemiology study to assess the astyzct on abuse of Oxecta tablets.




Further, the Oxecta product label guides patieatdmcrush and dissolve the tablets or poek, lick or otherwise wet the tablets p
to administration. Similarly, caregivers are aduissot to crush and dissolve the tablets or otherwise Oxecta for administration
nasogastric, gastric or other feeding tubes asay mause an obstruction. Our laboratory studiesodsirated that the Oxecta tal
characteristics may change when Oxecta is expaseertain solvents, including water.

The misuse and abuse of pharmaceutical productemeral, and opioid analgesics in particular, sigmificant societal problel
Opioid analgesics, which are used to treat botheaand chronic pain, are the most widphescribed and most often abused pharmace
products in the United States. It is estimated #amillion people in the United States suffer frgain, and, according to U.S. governn
surveys, 35 million people, or more than 10% oflth8. population, have used prescription opioidgesics for normedical purposes at so
point in their lifetime. We expect our Aversion heology opioid products to compete primarily in timarket for immediateelease opioi
products, or IR Opioid Products. In 2011, IMS Heattported 260 million prescriptions dispenseddjpioid analgesic tablets and capsule
which approximately 244 million were for IR OpioRtoducts and 16 million were for extendediease opioid tablet and capsule product
ER Opioid Products. The IR Opioid market has sigaiit generic competition, which are offered atstabtial discounts to branded products.

In October 2007, we entered into a License, Deveknt and Commercialization Agreement, or the Pfixgreement, with Kin
Pharmaceuticals Research and Development, Inc.,ansumbsidiary of Pfizer, covering the United Sta@snada and Mexico. Under the Pf
Agreement, Pfizer will manufacture and commerce@l@xecta in the United States and develop and cooiatize three additional opic
analgesic products utilizing our proprietary AversiTechnology, including hydrocodone / acetaminoploxycodone / acetaminophen an
undisclosed opioid analgesic tablet product. ABetember 31, 2011, we had received an aggreg&e8db million in payments from Pfizer
the form of a $30.0 million upfront cash paymenilestone payments, option fees and reimbursememeg&earch and development exper
including a $20.0 million milestone fee relatingtbe receipt of FDA approval of the New Drug Applion, or NDA, for Oxecta. In additic
we are eligible to receive milestone payments baseduture regulatory events and product saleseaehnents, reimbursement for cer
research and development expenses and tierediesyaft 5%25% on combined annual net sales of all productsncercialized under tl
Pfizer Agreement. Royalty payments under the P#ggeement commence one year after the first cornialesale of Oxecta.

Our pipeline of IR Opioid Products and nopioid products utilize our Aversion Technology,iethis intended to deliver the kno
effectiveness of an FDApproved active pharmaceutical ingredient and alagirside effect profile while incorporating ingiiedts that ar
designed to discourage some of the common metHaatsuse and intentional misuse, including:

« intravenous injection by forming a viscous gelatisanixture when tablets and capsules are dissdlvesblvents suitable f
injection; anc
« nasal snorting by inducing disliked nasal discoitnfdren tablets and capsules are crushed and snorted

The extent and manner in which these featureseseritbed in the FDA-approved label for these pigefiroducts will be dependent
on the results of and acceptance by the FDA of@uour licensees’, studies for each of these prtsdu

Our Nexafed product is an immediatdease pseudoephedrine HCI tablet which utilia@spatent pending Impede Technology
addition to being a widely-used nasal decongestaaiiable in many noprescription and prescription cold, sinus and gilgsroducts, PSE
also the starting material in the illicit manufaetwf methamphetamine, a highly addictive drug Lzt been used for nanedical purposes |
an estimated 13 million people at some point inrtlifetime. Our Impede Technology, a proprietarixtare of inactive ingredients, is desig!
to impede the extraction of PSE from tablets foodoicing methamphetamine or disrupting the diregtvecsion of PSE in tablets ir
methamphetamine. We are developing Nexafed 30nigtsalind have demonstrated that our product isghigalent to Johnson & Johnsan’
Sudafed®30mg Tablets and a 30mg generic store brand. Ladrgreests, sponsored by us at an independentdtdrgrand confirmed by a l¢
enforcement agency, demonstrated our Impede Teatgwmarevents the extraction of PSE from tabletscfamversion into methamphetam
using what we believe are the two most common etitna methods. A third, newer method of methamphé@éte production, or “one-pot”
method, involves the direct conversion of PSE fraiplets into methamphetamine without first extragtand purifying the PSE. Laborat
tests conducted on our behalf by an independent @@ the “one-potinethod demonstrated that our Impede Technologyuplied the dire:
conversion of PSE from the tablets into methamphite. The study compared the amount of pure methatamine hydrochloride produc
from Nexafed and Sudafed® tablets. Using one huh8emg tablets of both products, multiple qgra-tests and a variety of commonly u
solvents, the study demonstrated an average of @¥te maximum 2.7 grams of pure methamphetamirdgdohloride was recovered fr
Nexafed. Comparatively, approximately twice as mpcine methamphetamine hydrochloride was recovereah fSudafe® tablets. Bot
products yielded a substantial amount of additig@ids such that the purity of the total powdeovided contained approximately 6
methamphetamine hydrochloride. We expect to makeafée available to pharmacies later this year.




We expect our Impede Technology products contaii8g to compete in the highly competitive marketdold, sinus and aller
products generally available to consumers withoprescription. In 2009, AC Nielsen reported appnwatdely $1.0 billion in sales of non-
prescription products containing either PSE or plephrine as a nasal decongestant, of which apmately 47% contained PSE. Produci
this category consist of many different formulatonontaining different active ingredients such aslgesics, cough suppressants
antihistamines and have strong consumer brand nétmyg Commencing in 2006, the Federal Combat lMetbhetamine Epidemic Act,
CMEA, has required all noprescription PSE products to be held securely liettie pharmacy counter, has set monthly consumehpsi
volume limits, and has necessitated consumer ictierawith pharmacy personnel to purchase RS8HEaining products. We intend to capita
on this consumepharmacist interaction at the point of sale bycstitig distribution to pharmacies and educating andouraging pharmaci
to recommend Nexafed to their customers. In ou220irvey of 215 chain and independent pharmadiét,indicated they had influence o
the pharmaciesproduct offerings. Of such pharmacists, 70% indidathey were likely to stock or recommend stockivexafed in the
pharmacies.. The 215 surveyed pharmacists alsoatetl a willingness to recommend Nexafed to ovéb 50 their customers who see
pharmacist advise for a single ingredient nasal decongesWrtalso may create Nexafed product awarenessghrtelevision, radio, ai
print advertising.

All of our Aversion Technology opioid products acevered by two issued U.S. patents, which, in coatiin with our produ
labeling and drug product listing strategies, articgpated to provide our opioid products with lars to market entry for generic competii
through the expiration of our patents in 2025. Uty 2011 we receive a U.S. patent covering our 8ier Technology with certain other non-
opioid abused drugs. In January 2012 we receivedSa patent covering an extended release abuseetdtdosage form of oxycodone ¢
pharmaceutically acceptable salt thereof. We haweanous additional U.S. and international pateptiagtions pending, including applicatic
covering our Impede Technology

We conduct research, development, laboratory, naatwfing, and warehousing activities at our operetifacility in Culver, Indiar
and lease an administrative office in Palatinéndik. In addition to internal capabilities andieities, we engage numerous clinical rese
organizations, or CROs, with expertise in regulataffairs, clinical trial design and monitoringjrétal data management, biostatistics, me
writing, laboratory testing and related service® kéve also contracted with a thpdrty pharmaceutical product manufacturer and pparké
supply our commercial requirements for Nexafed.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to become a leading specialty pharmam@ucompany focused on addressing the growingesac problem c
pharmaceutical drug abuse by developing a broatfiofiorof products with abuse deterrent featured benefits. Specifically, we intend to:

« Capitalize on our Experience and Expertise in thesdarch and Development of Pharmaceutical Produitls Abuse Deterre
Features and Benefi. We intend to facilitate product development anidimize risk by utilizing active pharmaceutical neglient:
with proven safety and efficacy profiles and knguatential for abuse and misu:

o Emerge as a Leader in Developing and Commercigiznoducts with Abuse Deterrent Features and B&n. We believe thi
OxectaTablets and our opioid products in development ldermaonstrated that the Aversion Technology alloweslpcts to provide tt
analgesic benefit they were intended to deliveiijeMimultaneously having features that are intenideaddress tampering associi
with abuse and misus




« License our Product Candidates to Strategically &exl Pharmaceutical Companies in the United States Other Geograph
Territories . We believe opportunities exist to enter into tiseg agreements for our Aversion opioid produattside the Unite
States, Canada and Mexico, which geographies averew by the Pfizer Agreement, and for developimgliteonal Aversiol
Technology and Impede Technology product candidatesther abused drugs. We will continue to legeraur expertise, intellectt
property rights and Aversion and Impede Technokgiéthout the need to invest in and build a copthysicianfocused sales a
manufacturing infrastructur

« Apply our Aversion and Impe(Technologies to Other Pharmaceutical Products Sptifnle to Abuse. We intend to first develop
portfolio of Aversion Technology opioid analgesimgucts, and thereafter we intend to expand ounddo other pharmaceuti
product categories containing potentially abusabtéese ingredients. Further, we intend to develguefolio of cold, allergy and sin
products containing PSE as a nasal decongestanitgisto brand products such as Zy-D®, Allegra-D®, and Claritir-D®).

« Maintain our Efficient Internal Cost Structu. We maintain a streamlined and highly efficienstcstructure focused on: (1) select
formulation development, laboratory evaluation, ofacture, quality assurance, and stability testhgertain finished dosage fo
product candidates; (2) development and prosecubibrour patent applications; (3) negotiation anceation of license ai
development agreements with strategically focuseldarmpaceutical companies and; (4) utilizing thiaity contrac
manufacturers/packagers to supply our specializa@ldpment needs and commercial requirements faafdd. By outsourcing tl
high cost elements of our product development amdneercialization process, we believe that we sulbisity minimize require
fixed overhead and capital investment and theretyee our business risk. We currently do not intenase a physiciafecused sale
force to commercialize products on our own but mdayelop a small national account sales force tbNekafed to regional ai
national retail drug chain

« In-license or Acquire Alternative Technologies anddit Candidates to Expand or Compliment our Podfolf Technologies at
Products. We intend to pursue the lizense or acquisition of product candidates amthrielogies that will allow us to expand
portfolio of products. Such ifieensing or acquisition transactions, if succeldgftompleted, of which no assurance can be givnes
include product candidates or technologies for pelief, addiction, and other drug

Product Portfolio Overview

Oxecta represents the first FDA approval for ouesion Technology opioid products and we beliewieihonstrates the FDA's
willingness to consider label differentiation comgxdito currently marketed immediate-release oppoitiucts when the product features are
supported by scientifically derived and supportediies. Following Oxecta, we have the followinggwot candidates in development:

« three Aversion Technology opioids products in depaient by and licensed to Pfizer;

« one Aversion Technology non-opioid product whollyreed by us;

« Nexafed PSE tablets utilizing our Impede Technolatpplly owned by us; an

« combination cold, allergy and sinus products conitgi PSE utilizing our Impede Technology being aaédd for feasibility.




Opioid Products Utilizing our Aversion Technology

Our Aversion Technology IR Opioid Products beingaleped and commercialized by Pfizer under thedPffgreement include bc
an approved product and products in developmentesdummarized in the table below:

Comparable
Aversion Technology Opioid Product$Brand Name* Status

Roxicodone®|FDA Approved on June 17, 2011
First commercial sale on February 2, 2012

Oxecta (oxycodone HCI) Tablets

(formerly Acurox) Oxy IR®

Percocet® |Under development by Pfizer
Proof of Concepf attained on Acura-developed formulation contaimiagin

Vicodin®, Under development by Pfizer

Oxycodone HCl/acetaminophen Tablet

Hydrocodone bitartrate/acetaminophen

Lortab®, Proof of Concepf attained on Acura-developed formulation contaimiragin
Tablets

Norco®
Undisclosed opioid analgesic tablet = Under development by Pfizer
product Proof of Concepf attained on Acura-developed formulation containiragin

1 Comparable Brand Name refers to currently markptedcription products in the United States contajrihe
same active analgesic ingredient as in the correipg Aversion Technology product.

2 Proof of Concept is attained upon demonstratiocesfain product stability and bioavailability pareters defined in the Pfizer Agreement.
Pfizer has licensed all opioid products listedhie table above and has marketing rights in theddrftates, Canada and Mexico.
U.S. Market Opportunity for Opioid Analgesic Products Utilizing Aversion Technology

The misuse and abuse of prescription drug prodnaeneral, and opioid analgesics in particulag ggnificant societal problem tl
has been described as epidemic in nature by Josefalifano, Jr., Chairman and President, NaticBahter for Addiction and Substal
Abuse at Columbia University, July 2005. Resultexfrthe2009 National Survey on Drug Use and Health ing@igaescription drug abus
have supplanted abusers of all illicit drugs exeeptijuana. The survey estimated that 35 millioogde in the United States, or more than :
of the population, have engaged in the non-medisal of prescription opioid analgesics at some pioiriheir lifetime.IR Opioid Product
comprise the vast majority of this abuse comparigd BR Opioid Productdn addition, it is estimated that more than 75 imillpeople in th
United States suffer from pain, which is more tlh@ number of people with diabetes, heart diseagsecancer combined. For many f
sufferers, opioid analgesics provide their onlynpaglief. As a result, opioid analgesics are amthrgglargest prescription drug classes ir
United States with over 260 million tablet and edpsrescriptions dispensed in 2011 of which apimnaxely 244 million were for IR Opio
Products and 16 million were for ER Opioid Produétswever, physicians and other health care prosidé times are reluctant to presc
opioid analgesics for fear of misuse, abuse, anérsiion of legitimate prescriptions for illicit use

We expect our Aversion Technology opioid product{e)compete primarily in the IR Opioid Product segnt of the United Stat
opioid analgesic market. IR Opioid Product preswips have grown at a 3.8% compounded annual rate the last five years. Because
Opioid Products are used for both acute and chnoaiic, a prescription, on average, contains 62taldr capsules. According to IMS Hee
in 2011, sales in the IR Opioid Product segmenevegaproximately $2.1 billion, of which 97% was attributable to generic products. Dt
fewer identified competitors and the significantéyger market for dispensed prescriptions for IRid@pProducts compared to ER Opi
Products, we have initially focused on developiRgQpioid Products utilizing our Aversion Technologyxecta and our Aversion Technol
products in development include the active opiagtédients representing approximately 78% of tH&. LR Opioid Product segment.




2011 US
Prescription %

IR Opioid Product$? (Millions) @ of Total
Hydrocodone 137 56
Oxycodone 54 22
Tramadol 37 15
Codeine 13 5
3 others 3 2

Total (Average 244 10C

Lncludes all salts and esters of the opioid andidpiin combination with other active ingredienists as acetaminophe
2]MS Health, 2011

Despite considerable publicity regarding the abak€xyContin® extendedelease tablets and other ER Opioid Products,
government statistics suggest that far more pebplee used IR Opioid Products noredically than ER Opioid Products. These stati
estimate that nearly four times as many people haisised the IR Opioid Products Vicodin®, Lortab®dalorcet® fydrocodon
bitartrate/acetaminophen brands and generics) @ayContin®. We estimate 695% of the 35 million lifetime U.S. opioid abusdrave
engaged in the nomedical use of the active ingredients in our IRd@Xpiproduct candidates. As indicated in the follogvichart, the top fi
abused opioid products are available only as |IRdpgProducts.

Lifetime Non-Medical Use of Selected Pain Relieverége 12 or Older: 2009

Vicodin®, Lortab®, & Lorcet®
Darvocet®, Darvon® & Tylenol® w/Codeine

Percocet®, Percodan® & Tylox®

7
e —
—
Hydrocodone _
Codeine —
CxyConlin® -
Morphine [
Demercl® [
methadone [l
Ultram® -
0 o 10 15 20 25
Numbers (in millions)
. Immediate Release Only . Extended & Immediate Release

Source: SAMHSA, Office of Applied Studies, 2009 Magl Survey on Drug Use and Health.




In a 2011 survey of 400 opioid prescribing physisi@onducted for us by an independent research 3@t of physicians indicated
they were highly concerned with the diversion ditlopioid prescriptions for non-medical purposed 42% were highly concerned about
opioid misuse by their patients. However, less th#¥ of these same physicians indicated they wamédent they could adequately identify
patients who are diverting or misusing their opipidscriptions. Further, 77% and 66% of the phgsigiindicated that abuse of their opioid
prescription by injection and snorting, respectiy@tould likely lead to serious adverse health eguences for the abuser as compared to only
38% for abuse by oral administration.

A majority of pharmaceutical products in the Unit8thtes are paid for by thigghrty payers such as insurers, pharmacy b
managers, selfisured companies and the federal and state goesrnsnthrough Medicare, Medicaid and other healtle ggograms. W
believe our product candidates must demonstrali@iaat benefit to the patient and/or an econorneadfit to thirdparty payers and/or a ben
to health care providers to receive favorable reirmement status by the third-party payers, of whizlassurance can be given.

Several independent organizations have estimatgaltential cost impact of prescription opioid abws insurers. An analysis
health and pharmacy insurance claims between 1882@02 for almost two million Americans conductdAnalysis Group, Inc. and oth
indicated that enrollees with a diagnosis of opialilise had average claims of approximately $14p@90year higher than an agende
matched norepioid abuse sample. A 2007 report by the Coalidgainst Insurance Fraud, after adjusting for itifia, estimated this exce
cost per patient at more than $16,000 for 2007a@ylying the U.S. governmeatéstimated 4.4 million annual opioid abusers, ehignizatio
concluded that abuse of IR and ER Opioid Produmtiddccost health insurers up to $72.5 billion aryea

Aversion Technology Overview

Aversion Technology is our proprietary platformhaology intended to address medication abuse asdsaiof orally administer
pharmaceutical drug products containing potentialiysable active ingredients. Our focus has beetiltee our AversionTechnology witl
opioid analgesics administered in tablet form.ddition, we believe Aversion Technology is a vetsaechnology which may be applicable
non-opioid active ingredients susceptible to atarsE misuse and administered in tablet or capsuie.fo

Our Aversion Technology is a unique compositionirafctive pharmaceutical ingredients that when zaédi with an opioid or non-
opioid active pharmaceutical ingredient provide tlograpeutic functionalitytwWhen Aversion Technology is utilized, it is intexdthat th
resulting product provides the same therapeutiefitsnas the nowversion Technology product containing the samévagbharmaceutic
ingredient, while simultaneously discouraging tbenmon methods of pharmaceutical product misuseabode described below.

The extent and manner in which any of the featulescribed below will be described in the FDA appaVabel for our pipelir
products will be dependent on the results of aedattteptance by the FDA of our and our licenseadies for each pipeline product.

Intended to Deter I.V. Injection of Opioids Extraetl from Dissolved Table!

Drug abusers may dissolve currently marketed taldetapsules containing abused drugs in wateshalcor other common solver
filter the dissolved solution, and then inject tieulting fluid intravenously to obtain euphorideets. In product candidates utilizing Avers
Technology extracting the active ingredient using generallgilable solvents, including water or alcohol, ist@olume and form suitable
intravenous injection, converts the tablet intoiscous gel mixture and traps the active ingredierthe gel. Additionally, it is not possib
without difficulty, to draw this viscous gel throlug needle into a syringe for a single 1.V. injentiWe believe that this gel forming feature
limit or impede the ability of 1.V. drug abusersiin extracting and injecting opioid active ingredgefrom product candidates develo
utilizing Aversion Technology. The FDA approved @telabel does not contain a description of thdisgiwe performed to characterize tt
abuse deterrent features and benefits and therbecan assurance that the label for an Aversiomi@ogy product approved by the FDA
any, in the future will contain such a descriptidihe FDA approved Oxecta label contains limitationsexposing Oxecta tablets to water
other solvents and administration through feeditues.




Intended to Deter Nasal Snortin

Drug abusers may crush or grind currently marketiearmaceutical tablets or capsules and snort thatiy powder. The abus
active ingredient in the powder is absorbed throtinghlining of the nasal passages providing thesabwith a rapid onset of euphoric effe
The combination of Aversion Technology inactiveriggjents is intended to induce nasal passage dfscoand disliking effects if the table
are crushed and snortéde believe products which utilize Aversion Techmpylawill discourage prospective nasal drug abusens fsnortin
crushed tablets. The FDA approved Oxecta labelatosithe results of a study evaluating the effettsasally snorting crushed Oxecta tablets.

Development of Aversion Opioid Products

We and/or our partners are required by the FDActentifically support the safety, efficacy and atleharacteristics of our products
support approval for marketing and inclusion obmmhation in our product label. Development of faetétversion Technology opioid produ
may follow a development program consistent with pnogram for Oxecta. The clinical and laboratoeyelopment program for Oxecta tc
approximately 12 months from inception to NDA suksion, although the Oxecta formulation developmemd manufacturing scale
benefited from the earlier development programdor Aversion oxycodone with niacin tablets prodoahdidate. The Oxecta clinical ¢
laboratory program is outlined below:

Studies in the Oxecta Tablets 505(b)(2) NDA Submiss No. of Subjects
NpADIDEIED Bioequivalence ticurrently marketed oxycodone HCI Reference Listedd e
K2341C-1001 | pose Proportionality and the Effects of Food onBi@availability 40
K234-1C-1002 Evaluate effects of nasal snorting in subjects wittistory of snorting and nas 40
drug abust
PR-381 Laboratory test quantifying I.V. abuse detetrproperties (syringe test) _
PR-382 Laboratory tests quantifying 1.V. abuse deterrenpprties (extraction test)

Study K234-10-1002:Study 1002 is entitled “ Randomized, Double-Bliddtive-Controlled Study to Evaluate the Relative At
Potential and Safety of Intranasally Administeredsbed Oxecta Tablets (formerly Acurox) in Non-Daghent Recreational Opioid UsersA.
total of 40 adult subjects with a history of redi@aal drug abuse successfully completed screeringgloxone challenge (demonstrating
addiction to opioids), and a discrimination testr(enstrating the ability to discern drug liking Wween snorting oxycodone HCI 15mg .
placebo) and were randomized into the treatmerag@béthe study.

In the treatment phase, subjects intranasally adtered crushed tablets of: (a) 3 x 5mg Roxicodotat®ets, and (b) 2 x 7.5r
Oxecta tablets. Subjects received all doses imdomized, crossver manner with 48 hours between doses. Subjatgsl rrach dose fol
hours post-administration for drug liking/dislikirgn a 200mm bipolar visual analogue scale (100mpolar VAS where 100 = “like a lot’50
= “neutral”, and 0 = “dislike a lot”) as well asxgpoint measures of several nasal discomfort measitesight hours, subjects rated tt
Overall Drug Liking and Take Drug Again measurestiicl 00mm bipolar VAS).

Study PR-382 — Extraction Test:Study PR-382 is entitledEvaluation of the Potential for Extraction of Oxgome HCI fron
Dissolved Oxecta tablets (formerly Acurox) for tReeparation of an Intravenous Solution Suitablelfigection in Humans”An independet
pharmaceutical laboratory utilizing a professiopathined pharmaceutical chemist attempted to ekttee oxycodone HCI from: (a) 8 x 5i
generic oxycodone HCI tablets and (b) 8 x 5mg Oxdablets. The chemist was allowed to use any psase procedures and equipme!
prepare a solution of 10mL suitable for injectibiatt could be drawn through a hypodermic needle ansyringe. The chemist was limitec
eight hours of laboratory time per drug. Endpointthe study were the percent of oxycodone HClamtad from each drug, a chemist ratin
the ease / difficulty of the extraction procedute=(easy to execute; 10 = complex to execute) haddlative availability of the equipment
materials used (1 = readily available; 10 = diffi¢a obtain).




Study PR-381 — Syringe TestStudy PR-381 is entitledD'emonstration of the Ability of Oxecta (oxycodon€H USP) Tablet
(formerly Acurox) to Resist Direct Conversion irda Injectable Solution”An independent pharmaceutical laboratory attempteprepare
solution suitable for intravenous injection from) @ x 5mg generic oxycodone HCI tablets and (k)Sing Oxecta Tablets. The tablets v
crushed and dissolved in increasing amounts ofrseifeerent common solvents safe for humans tocinjetil at least 3mL of the resulti
mixture could be drawn through a hypodermic neadtea syringe.

Pfizer may choose to change the study designsingbd Oxecta development program or run additishadies to facilitate the FDA’
review of future NDAs, to supplement the label €@xecta, or to provide enhanced information in thigel of future Aversion Technolo
opioid productsThese studies are simulations of drug abuse behawid may not be predictive of actual impact onsaband misuse. T
clinical significance of the difference in drugililg and difference in response to taking the dg@jrareported in these studies has not yet
established. There is no evidence that Oxecta heduzed abuse liability compared to immediateasdeoxycodone.

Product Labeling for Aversion Technology Products

The FDA has indicated abuse deterrence claims beustuipported by either (a) doulldnd controlled clinical studies demonstra
an actual reduction in product abuse by patientdrog abusers or (b) robust, loteym epidemiological data supporting a change weleo
abuse in the community over a reasonably long geobtime. We believe the cost, time and practigatif designing and implementi
controlled clinical studies to support abuse detdrrabeling claims are prohibitive. Pfizer has cuited to the FDA to complete
epidemiology study to address whether Oxecta sl decrease of the consequences of misusebaisé.alrhe timing and results of s
study will be dependent on the level of sales oé€@a and may require Pfizer to track illegal drbgse activity and results specific to Oxe
No assurance can be given that the epidemiologtaaly will be successful or that the results ofhssitdy will support an abuse deterrent |
claim for Oxecta.

The FDA has allowed scientifically derived data amidrmation describing the physical charactersit¢ a product candidate anc
the results of laboratory and clinical studies dating product abuse to be included in the prodatetl. Pfizer may seek similar description
abuse liability studies in the labels of the otAgersion Technology products in development. Pfiraty also undertake additional studie
submit to the FDA seeking inclusion of new dataitiie Oxecta label. Pfizer also has committed ®0RDA to undertake epidemiologi
studies to assess the actual consequences of abuSeecta in the market. The extent to which a dpson of the abuse deterr
characteristics, laboratory or clinical studiesesults of epidemiological studies will be addedtancluded in the FDA approved product I
for our products will be the subject of our diséass with the FDA as part of the NDA review procesgen after having obtained approve
Oxecta. Further, because the FDA closely regulatesiotional materials, even if FDA initially appeslabeling that includes a descriptio
the abuse deterrent characteristics of the product) as in the case of Oxecta Tablets, the BO2ffice of Prescription Drug Promotion,
OPDP, will continue to review the acceptabilityppbmotional labeling claims and product advertistiaghpaigns for our marketed product
any.

Pfizer Agreement

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticalse®&eh and Development, Inc., now a whalyred subsidiary of Pfiz¢
entered into the Pfizer Agreement to develop androercialize in the United States, Canada and Meg@rtain opioid analgesic produ
utilizing our proprietary Aversion Technology. TRdizer Agreement initially provided Pfizer with @xclusive license in the United Sta
Canada and Mexico, or the Pfizer Territory, for €ae(oxycodone HCI) Tablets and oxycodone HCl/anetaphen tablets utilizing Aversi
Technology. In addition, the Pfizer Agreement pda& Pfizer with an option to license in the PfiZerritory certain future opioid analge
products developed utilizing Aversion Technologys &f December 31, 2011, Pfizer exercised its optmficense two additional prodt
candidates including an an undisclosed immedigease opioid analgesic tablet product and hydtoge bitartrate/acetaminophen tab
each of which utilize our Aversion Technology. TRézer Agreement provides that we or Pfizer mayeli@y additional opioid analge:
product candidates utilizing our Aversion Techngl@nd, if Pfizer exercises its option to licensersadditional product candidates, they
be subject to the milestone and royalty paymentisodiner terms of the Pfizer Agreement.
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Pursuant to the Pfizer Agreement, we and Pfizeméat a joint steering committee to oversee developraad commercializatic
strategies for Aversion opioid analgesic produmsrised to Pfizer. For all products licensed byétfiincluding Oxecta, or for which Pfi.
exercises its option to license, Pfizer will bep@ssible, at its own expense, for development, leégry, and commercialization activities in
Pfizer Territories. All products developed pursutanthe Pfizer Agreement will be manufactured bigéfor a third party contract manufactt
under the direction of Pfizer. Subject to the Rfiagreement, Pfizer will have final decision makiagthority with respect to all developm
and commercialization activities for all licensetgucts.

As of December 31, 2011, we had received aggregayenents of $78.5 million from Pfizer, consistinfja $30.0 million non-
refundable upfront cash payment, $17.5 millionémmbursed research and development expenses gelatlitensed products, $6.0 million
fees relating to Pfizer's exercise of its optionlitiense an undisclosed immediatdease opioid analgesic tablet product and hydioie
bitartrate/acetaminophen tablets, a $5.0 milliofestdone fee relating to our successful achieveroéthe primary endpoints for our piva
Phase Il clinical study for Aversion oxycodone H@th niacin tablets and a $20.0 million milestdee relating to the FDA approval of tr
Oxecta Tablets NDA. The Pfizer Agreement also piesifor Pfizer's payment to us of a $3.0 millioe fgon Pfizess exercise of its option f
each future opioid analgesic utilizing Aversion firology. In the event that Pfizer does not exeritsseption for a Future Product, Pfizer r
be required to reimburse us for certain of our esps relating to such Future Product. Further, \ag raceive up to $23 million in additiol
non+efundable milestone payments for each active d@ogalgesic ingredient licensed to Pfizer whichieds certain regulatory milestone
specific countries in the Pfizer Territory. An ojicanalgesic product candidate formulated with aithout niacin is considered a sin
product candidate for purposes of the option feesrailestone payments payable under the Pfizer ékgemt. We can also receive a dimee
$50 million sales milestone payment upon the fatsainment of $750 million in net sales of all afrdicensed products across all Pf
Territories. In addition, for sales occurring orddollowing February 2, 201@8he one year anniversary of the first commercié ®f Oxecta
Pfizerwill pay us a royalty at one of six rates rangingnfi 5% to 25% based on the level of combined anneiasales for all products licen:
by us to Pfizer across all Pfizer Territories, vilte highest applicable royalty rate applied tchscembined annual sales.

Pfizer 's royalty payment obligations expire onraguct-by-product and country-tweuntry basis upon the later of (i) the expiratid
the last valid patent claim covering such prodaciuch country, or (ii) 15 years from the first goprcial sale of such product in such coul
No minimum annual fees are payable by either paniyer thePfizer Agreement. If Pfizer, after consultation with ustess into a licen:
agreement with a third party to avoid or settlehstidrd partys allegations or claims regarding freedom to ogeaafainst a licensed Avers
Technology product, Pfizer may deduct 50% of anyalties or other license payments it pays to shatd fparty under such license, provis
that the royalties payable to us are no less tldén 8f the royalties otherwise due to us under fimePAgreement.

The Pfizer Agreement expires upon the expirationPéifer 's royalty payment and other payment ohiares under thePfizel
Agreement. Pfizer may terminate the Pfi2greement (i) in its entirety at any time by writtaotice to us, and (ii) with respect to any prd
at any time upon the provision of not less thanmighths’ prior written notice We may terminate the Pfizer Agreement with respec
product in the United States in the event such yebds not commercially launched by Pfizer withidOldays after receipt of regulat
approval of such product or in its entirety if Rfizcommences any interference or opposition praogedhallenging the validity
enforceability of any of our patent rights licensedPfizer under the Pfizer Agreement. Either pdrés the right to terminate the Pfi
Agreement on a product by product and countncbyntry basis if the other party is in material dwie of its obligations under the Pfi
Agreement relating to such product and such coumtng to terminate the Agreement in its entiretytha event the other party makes
assignment for the benefit of creditors, files #tjg® in bankruptcy or otherwise seeks relief undpplicable bankruptcy laws, in each ¢
subject to applicable cure periods.

In the event of termination, no payments are duepixthose royalties and milestones that have adgptor to termination under t
Pfizer Agreement and all licenses under the P#ggeement are terminated. For all Acura terminatiand termination by Pfizer where we
not in breach, the Pfizer Agreement provides far ttansition of development and marketing of tleerdsed products from Pfizer to
including the conveyance by Pfizer to us of thelérmaarks and all regulatory filings and approvalelgoused in connection with t
commercialization of such licensed products andgertain cases, for Pfizar'supply of such licensed products for a transitiqreriod &
Pfizer's cost plus a mark-up.
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The foregoing description of the Pfizer Agreemeanttains forwardeoking statements about Oxecta Tablets, and gptheduc
candidates being developed pursuant to the Pfizgedment. As with any pharmaceutical products umdselopment or proposed to
developed, substantial risks and uncertainties @xidevelopment, regulatory review and commerz#ion process. There can be no assu
that the Pfizer Agreement will not be terminateditsyterms prior to receipt of regulatory approfal any product being developed pursual
the Pfizer Agreement. Further, there can be norassa that any product developed pursuant to theePAgreement will prove to |
commercially successful. Accordingly, there is reswaance that the Company will receive the milestpayments or royalty reveni
described in the Pfizer Agreement or even if sudkstones are achieved, that the related produititbevsuccessfully commercialized and -
any royalty revenues payable to us by Pfizer wildtenialize. For further discussion of other risksl auncertainties associated with
Company, see Item 1A in this Report under the meptiRisks Factors”.

Aversion Technology Non-Opioid Products in Developrent
We are developing the following non-opioid Aversibechnology product:
Aversion Technology Non-opioid Products Status

Stimulant immediate-release tablet for treatmergttgntion Formulation development
deficit disordel

Our stimulant product in development utilizes owefsion Technology and is intended for the treatnoémttention deficit disorde
Stimulant products are classified as Schedule ttrolled substances by the DEA. AccordingDougs of Abuse published by the DE,
stimulants are abused in manners similar to opémidigesics. Th2009 National Survey on Drug Use and Hea#timates that 9.1 millic
people have abused prescription stimulants at guoire in their lifetime and 1.9 million have abusadnulants in the past year. In 2008, |
Health reported 21.2 million prescriptions werepeissed for stimulant products.

Our stimulant product is intended to be encompabgeanlir U.S. patent issued in July 2011.
Impede Technology Product Candidates in Development
We are developing the following Impede Technologydoicts:
Impede Technology Product Status
Nexafed (pseudoephedrine HCI) 30mg immerrelease tablets  Bioequivalence to Sudafed demonstrated, Abuse réettetesting
and commercial assessment being final

Immediat-release pseudoephedrine HCI in combination® Feasibility studies initiate
other cold and allergy active ingredie

We are developing Nexafed, a 30mg PSE tablet ptodtitzing our patent pending Impede Technololgypede Technology utiliz:
a proprietary mixture of inactive ingredients irded to impede the extraction of PSE from the tablet producing methamphetamine
disrupting the direct conversion of PSE in tablete methamphetamine. Specifically, the Impede Thetbgy forms a viscous, gelatinc
mixture when our tablets are dissolved in solvéyscally used in the PSE extraction or methamphéta production processes and trap
the PSE or converted methamphetamine to preverisdtation or purification. The unique mixture ofactive ingredients in Nexafed
generally recognized as safe by the FDA.
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We have demonstrated that our Nexafed 30mg talddi®equivalent to Johnson & Johnson’s Sudaf@i&g Tablets and a 301
generic store brand. Laboratory tests, sponsoregstat an independent laboratory and confirmed layaenforcement agency, demonstr.
our Impede Technology prevents the extraction dE R®m tablets for conversion into methamphetamising what we believe are the |
most common extraction methods. A third, newer wethf methamphetamine production, or “one-pogthod, involves the direct convers
of PSE from tablets into methamphetamine withorst fextracting and purifying the PSE. Laboratorgtdeconducted on our behalf by
independent CRO using the “one-patéthod demonstrated that our Impede Technologygtied the direct conversion of PSE from the ta
into methamphetamine. The study compared the amafynire methamphetamine hydrochloride providedhfidexafed and Sudafedt®@blets
Using one hundred 30mg tablets of both productdtipiel onepot tests and a variety of commonly used solvehts,study demonstrated
average of 38% of the maximum 2.7 grams of purehamphetamine hydrochloride was recovered from NmkafComparativel
approximately twice as much pure methamphetamimiedaploride was recovered from Sudafetiblets. Both products yielded a substa
amount of additional solids such that the purityhef total powder provided contained approxima6&y methamphetamine hydrochloride.
expect to make Nexafed available to pharmacies thi® year.

Most PSE-containing products are classified by Bi®A for OTC sale, or without a docter’prescription, and many prod
formulations do not require the approval of an NBAan Abbreviated New Drug Application, or ANDA, like FDA for commercii
distribution and marketing. Tablet products coritain60 mg or less of PSE are considered by the EbBe safe and effective for use by
general public without a prescription. We believ@m® Nexafed developed utilizing Impede Technologgeta or will meet the FDA’
requirements for “Over-the-Counter Human Drugs Whace Generally Recognized as Safe and EffectideNot Misbranded’as set forth i
the FDA'’s regulations applicable to OTC Monograph produstssuch, we intend to commercialize Nexafed withewbmitting a NDA ¢
ANDA to the FDA. We have contracted with a thirdtgamanufacturer for the scale up and commercialufecture of Nexafed.

The chemical structure of PSE is very similar tothmenphetamine, facilitating a straigiorward chemical conversion
methamphetamine. There are multiple known procetssesnvert PSE to methamphetamine, all of whighrat complex and do not reqt
specialized equipment; however, many do requirdikgavailable but uncommon ingredients. Two of theee most popular processes fol
two general processing steps: (1) dissolving thE Bfblets in a solvent to isolate purified PSE éda chemical reduction of the PSE
methamphetamine for drying into crystals. The thirdthod, or the “one-pothethod, involves the direct chemical reduction s PSE t
methamphetamine in the presence of the tablatctive ingredients. All the solvents used dtienately dried off or otherwise removed s
vast range of solvents are amenable to the process.

Methamphetamine is a highly addictive illicit druged normedically by an estimated 13 million people at sqaimt in their lifetime
In 2006 regulations relating to ovdre counter sale of PSE products were amended thih enactment of the Federal Con
Methamphetamine Epidemic Act, or CMEA. The CMEA vearacted in response to an alarming increase imétespread conversion of P
containing products into methamphetamine. Amongirothings, the CMEA requires retail stores to namtheir inventory of PSE containi
products in a secured location and restricts theusnnof PSE products a store can sell to an indalidustomer. Implementation of the CM
initially reduced the number of illegal methampimeitae laboratory seizures reported by the Drug Emforent Administration, or DEA, as -
then most commonly used process for conversiorSéf # methamphetamine required substantial quesititi PSE. However, a newer prot
for converting PSE to methamphetamine requires RSE. Possibly as a result of this new conversiartgss, the DEA reported 2(
clandestine methamphetamine laboratory seizureeased 84% over the low reported in 2007. Impedshii@ogy is designed to deter
conversion of PSE to methamphetamine, includingubg of both the older and newer conversion prosedgseresponse to the ongo
methamphetamine problem, several local jurisdidti(etate, counties and/or local municipalities)ehamacted or propose to enact legislatic
require a physician’s prescription to obtain a R®Rtaining product.

PSE is a widely-used nasal decongestant availabheainy norprescription and prescription cold, sinus and gilleproducts. PSE
sold in products as the only active ingredient @thoimmediate and extendeelease products. In addition, PSE is combined wilter colc
sinus and allergy ingredients such as pain relgveough suppressants and antihistamines. PSEcatapetes against phenylephrine
alternate nasal decongestant available in pr@seription products. Our 2010 market researctlystihowed that 93% of the 204 pharma
surveyed believe that PSE has superior efficacg aasal decongestant compared to phenylephrinet®tiee CMEA, many cold, sinus ¢
allergy products replaced PSE with phenylephrinavoid the security and consumer sales volumeicgstrs imposed by the CMEA on P
products.
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We expect our Impede Technology products contaii8g to compete in the highly competitive marketdold, sinus and aller
products generally available to consumers withoprescription. In 2009, AC Nielsen reported appnwatdely $1.0 billion in sales of non-
prescription products containing either PSE or plephrine as a nasal decongestant, of which apmately 47% contained PSE. Produci
this category (such as Sudafed®, Claritin-D®, aydtet-D®) have strong consumer brand recognition and, in steses, prescription dr
heritage. Category leading brands are often supgdiy national mass marketing and promotional effa@Consumers often have a choic
purchase a less expensive store brand. Store bcanttsin the same active ingredients as the magpelponational brands but are not suppc
by large marketing campaigns and are offered abweerl price. Norprescription products are typically distributedaingh retail outle
including drug store chains, food store chainsepahdent pharmacies and mass merchandisers. THbufisn outlets for PSE products
highly consolidated. According t8hain Drug Review the top 50 drug, food and mass merchandisingnshaperate approximately 40,(
pharmacies in the U.S., of which 58% are operajetthé four largest chains. Our survey of PSE 30ahdet prices at these top four drug ch
indicates that branded PSE products were pricedvenage, to the consumer at approximately $0.25gtdet as compared to approxima
$0.12 per tablet for the corresponding store brand.

In our 2012 survey of 215 chain and independentrpheists, 164 indicated they had influence overmpth@maciesproduct offerings
Of such pharmacists, 70% indicated they were likelystock or recommend stocking Nexafed in theiarptacies.. The 215 surve)
pharmacists also indicated a willingness to recomundexafed to over 50% of their customers who segkarmaciss advise for a sing
ingredient nasal decongestant. A separate markdy stonducted on our behalf showed that approximaieethird of consumers seek
pharmaciss recommendation for their nasal decongestant and, result of the CMEA, are required to do sourcipase PSE containi
products. We intend to capitalize on this consupt@rmacist interaction at the point of sale bycéitig distribution to the pharmacies
engaging pharmacists to recommend Nexafed to thsitomers. We may form a small national accourgsssiaff to sell Nexafed to regio
and national retail drug chains. We are also cemsig creating Nexafed product awareness throughl Itelevision, radio, and pr
advertising. No assurance can be given, howevat,gharmacy chains will stock our Nexafed producthat consumers will purchase
Nexafed product

Product Labeling for Impede Technology Products

We intend to market our Nexafed product pursuartheoFDA's OTC Monograph regulations, which require that roduct hav
labeling as specified in the regulations. We beljehowever, we can advertise the extraction chenatits and benefits of our Nexafed prot
which is supported by our research studies.

We expect that our other Impede Technology produnzteketed pursuant to an NDA or ANDA will be sultjez a label approved
the FDA. We expect that such a label will requinbraission of our scientifically derived abuse llapidata and we intend to seek descript
of our abuse liability studies in the FDA approyedduct label, although there can be no assurdratettis will be the case.

Competition

Our products and technologies will, if marketednpete to varying degrees against both brand andrigeproducts offering simil
therapeutic benefits and being developed and nedkey small and large pharmaceutical (for presiompproducts) and consumer packe
goods (for OTC products) companies. Many of our petitors have substantially greater financial atftepnresources and are able to ex|
more funds and effort than us in research, devedoprand commercialization of their competitive temlogies and products. Prescrip!
generic products and OTC store brand productsofifidir cost savings to third party payers and/orsconers that will create pricing pressurt
our products. Also, these competitors may have lestantial sales volume advantage over our prodwbish may result in our costs
manufacturing being higher than our competitorstso

We believe potential competitors may be developpipid abuse deterrent technologies and produatsh otential competito
include, but may not be limited to, Pain Therapeytin collaboration with Pfizer, Purdue Pharmalaitic Pharmaceuticals, Egalet
KemPharm and Collegium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Tloesepanies appear to be focusing their developmiott® on ER opioid Produc
except for Atlantic Pharmaceuticals, while the migjoof our Aversion Technology opioid analgesioguct candidates under development
IR opioid Products. Pfizer, our partner in devetgpiand commercializing Aversion Technology immesli@iease opioid products, is 8
developing and/or marketing ER opioid Products,epthnalgesic products and nanalgesic products, all of which will compete
development and commercialization resources wittpooducts, which may delay development or advgrisepact the sales of our products.
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Our Impede Technology products containing PSE edlhpete in the highly competitive market for cadthus and allergy produs
generally available to the consumer without a pipion. Some of our competitors will have multiglensumer product offerings both wit
and outside the cold, allergy and sinus categooviging them with substantial leverage in dealinghwa highly consolidated pharme
distribution network. The competing products mayehwell established brand names and may be supgployteational or regional advertisil
Nexafed will compete directly with Johnson & Johm's Sudafed®brand as well as generic formulations manufactimge&errigo Compar
and others.

We are aware that some large pharmaceutical compamithe past have sought to develop PSE techieslay products that res
conversion into methamphetamine, but believe theffmts have been discontinued, although therebmano assurance that this is the ¢
Highland Pharmaceuticals has recently publiciz&5& product that resists PSE extraction in aqusolusions. We may consider licensing
Impede Technology or products utilizing such tedbgy for commercialization.

Patents and Patent Applications

In April 2007, the United States Patent and Trad&n@ffice, or USPTO, issued to us U.S. Patent N20%,920 titled Methods an
Compositions for Deterring Abuse of Opioid ContagnDosage Formsgr the 920 Patent. The 54 allowed claims in the Ra@&nt encompe
certain pharmaceutical compositions intended terdiégte most common methods of prescription opigidigesic product misuse and ab
These patented pharmaceutical compositions incthidemixture of functional inactive ingredients agplecific opioid analgesics such
oxycodone HCI and hydrocodone bitartrate amongrethe

In January 2009, the USPTO issued to us U.S. P&tent7,476,402, or the 402 Patent, with 18 allowtadms. The 402 Pate
encompasses certain combinationkappaand mu opioid receptor agonists and other ingredientsnishtel to deter opioid analgesic proc
misuse and abuse.

In March 2009, the USPTO issued to us U.S. Patent M510,726, or the 726 Patent, with 20 alloweant$. The 726 Pater
encompasses a wider range of abuse deterrent caimpsshan our '920 Patent.

Neither of the '920 Patent, '402 Patent @26 Patent requires niacin to be a constituent mfoduct for the product to be within -
scope of the patent claims.

In July 2011, the USPTO issued to us U.S. Paten7N81,439, or the 439 Patent, with 7 allowednetaiThe 439 Patent encompa:
certain compositions including any water solublagdof abuse intended to deter the most common rdsth6 prescription opioid analge
product misuse and abuse. We believe our stimplamtuct candidate currently in development is engassed by the 439 Patent.

In January 2012, the USPTO issued to us U.S. P&tent3,101,630, or the 630 Patent with a singlénclthat encompasses
extended release abuse deterrent dosage form obdage or a pharmaceutically acceptable salt tfiereo

In addition to our issued U.S. patents, we hawfinultiple U.S. patent applications and intermalgatent applications relating
compositions containing abusable active pharmazautigredients as well as applications covering loypede Technology. Except for thi
rights conferred in the Pfizer Agreement, we haatained all intellectual property rights to our Asien Technology, Impede Technology,
related product candidates.

Reference is made to the Risk Factors containédtin 1A of this Report for a discussion, among othéngs, of patent applicatio
and patents owned by third parties including claiihag may encompass our Aversion Technology anctaxablets.
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Government Regulation

All pharmaceutical firms, including us, are subjerextensive regulation by the federal governmenngcipally by the FDA under tl
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or the FD&Q, Amnd, to a lesser extent, by state and local ovents. Before our prescripti
products, and some OTC products may be marketéoeit).S., they must be approved by the FDA for cemuial distribution. Other OT
products must comply with applicable FDA regulaiipknown as OTC Monographs, in order to be markdiatido not require FDA revie
and approval before marketing. Additionally, we atéject to extensive regulation by the DEA under €Controlled Substances Act,
Combat Methamphetamine Act of 2005, and related lamd regulations for research, development, maturfag, marketing and distributi
of controlled substances and certain other pharot@ed active ingredients that are regulated asedisChemicals. Extensive FDA, DEA, ¢
state regulation of our products and commercialratpens continues after drug product approvals, #nedrequirements for our contint
marketing of our products may change even aftéialrapproval. We are also subject to regulatiodarrfederal, state and local laws, incluc
requirements regarding occupational safety, laboyatractices, environmental protection and hazasdubstance control, and may be su
to other present and future local, state, fedawdlfareign regulations, including possible futuegulations of the pharmaceutical industry.
cannot predict the extent to which we may be affédby legislative and other regulatory developmeatscerning our products and
healthcare industry in general.

The FD&C Act, the Controlled Substances Act andeptfederal statutes and regulations govern théntgsinanufacture, quali
control, export and import, labeling, storage, rdckeeping, approval, pricing, advertising, prorantisale and distribution of pharmaceu
products. Noncompliance with applicable requireradrdth before and after approval, can subject wsthord party manufacturers and ot
collaborative partners to administrative and juglisianctions, such as, among other things, wareitgrs, fines and other monetary payme
recall or seizure of products, criminal proceedjrgysspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvaierruption or cessation of clinical trie
total or partial suspension of production or digition, injunctions, limitations on or the limitati of claims we can make for our products,
refusal of the government to enter into supply @xts for distribution directly by governmental agees, or delay in approving or refusa
approve new drug applications. The FDA also hasthkority to revoke or withhold approvals of nemg applications.

FDA approval is required before any "new drug," banmarketed. A "new drug" is one not generallyogeized, by experts qualifi
by scientific training and experience, as safe efidctive for its intended use. Our products ndiject to and in compliance with an O
Monograph are new drugs and require prior FDA apglrdSuch approval must be based on extensivenr#gtion and data submitted in a NI
including but not limited to adequate and well coléd laboratory and clinical investigations tamnstrate the safety and effectiveness ¢
drug product for its intended use(s). In additionptoviding required safety and effectiveness dataFDA approval, a drug manufactur:
practices and procedures must comply with cGMPs$;wapply to manufacturing, receiving, holding afipping. Accordingly, manufactur
must continue to expend time, money and effortlirapplicable areas relating to quality assuraned eegulatory compliance, includi
production and quality control to comply with cGMH=ailure to so comply risks delays in approvaldofig products and possible FI
enforcement actions, such as an injunction agalipment of products, the seizure of ramplying products, criminal prosecution and/or
of the other possible consequences described alddeare subject to periodic inspection by the FDWl ®BEA, which inspections may or
not be announced in advance.

The FDA Drug Approval Process

The process of drug development is complex andtigngrhe activities undertaken before a new phasutical product may |
marketed in the U.S. generally include, but are lmoited to, preclinical studies; submission to thBA of an Investigational New Dri
application, or IND, which must become active befauman clinical trials may commence; adequatevegiticontrolled human clinical tria
to establish the safety and efficacy of the prodsiebmission to the FDA of an NDA; acceptance fiimng of the NDA by FDA, satisfactol
completion of an FDA prepproval inspection of the clinical trial sites amédnufacturing facility or facilities at which thmth the activ
ingredients and finished drug product are producegissess compliance with, among other thingsemainformed consent requirements,
clinical trial protocols, current Good Clinical Rteces, or GCP, and cGMPs; and FDA review and aggirof the NDA prior to any commerc
sale and distribution of the product in the U.S.
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Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluatidrpmduct chemistry and formulation, and in somsesa animal studies and ot
studies to preliminarily assess the potential yafetd efficacy of the product candidate. The rasolt preclinical studies together w
manufacturing information, analytical data, andadetl information including protocols for propodeaiman clinical trials are then submitte:
the FDA as a part of an IND. An IND must becomesetif’e, and approval must be obtained from antlriiginal Review Board, or IRB, mt
be obtained, prior to the commencement of humaniceli trials. The IND becomes effective 30 daysofeing its receipt by the FDA unless
FDA objects to, or otherwise raises concerns ostjores and imposes a clinical hold. We, the FDAhm IRB may suspend or terminal
clinical trial at any time after it has commencec do safety or efficacy concerns or for commerg@alsons. In the event that FDA object
the IND and imposes a clinical hold, the IND spansmist address any outstanding FDA concerns ortignssto the satisfaction of the FI
before clinical trials can proceed or resume. Tloare be no assurance that submission of an INDreslilt in FDA authorization to commel
clinical trials.

Human clinical trials are typically conducted imet phases that may sometimes overlap or be cothbine

Phase 1:This phase is typically the first involving humaarficipants, and involves the smallest number ah&n participan
(typically, 2050). The investigational drug is initially introdedt into healthy human subjects or patients an@defstr safety, dosa
tolerance, absorption, metabolism, distribution ardretion. In addition, it is sometimes possildegain a preliminary indication
efficacy.

Phase 2:0nce the preliminary safety and tolerability of tireig in humans is confirmed during phase 1, pRaseolves studies in
somewhat larger group of study subjects. Unlikespha studies, which typically involve healthy swige participants in phase
studies may be affected by the disease or conditiowhich the product candidate is being develofptithse 2 studies are intende
identify possible adverse effects and safety riskgvaluate the efficacy of the product for spediérgeted diseases, and to deteri
appropriate dosage and tolerance.

Phase 3:Phase 3 trials typically involve a large numberspafients affected by the disease or conditionvibich the produt
candidate is being developed. Phase 3 clinicdttaee undertaken to evaluate clinical efficacy aafitty under conditions resembl
those for which the product will be used in actlalical practice after FDA approval of the NDA. & 3 trials are typically the m
costly and time-consuming of the clinical phases.

Phase 4:Phase 4 trials may be required by FDA after the@ap of the NDA for the product, as a conditiontieé approval, or mi
be undertaken voluntarily by the sponsor of thal.tiThe purpose of phase 4 trials is to continuevimuate the safety and efficac)
the drug on a longerm basis and in a much larger and more diverSerpgopulation than was included in the prior sgeof clinice
investigation.

After clinical trials have been completed, anchiéy were considered successful, the sponsor mayisaliNDA or ANDA to the FD/
including the results of the preclinical and cladicesting, together with, among other things, itkdainformation on the chemist
manufacturing, quality controls, and proposed pobdebeling. There are two types of NDAs; a 505(p)\DA and a 505(b)(2) NDA. A 505(b)
(1) NDA is also known as a "full NDA" and is dedmd by section 505(b)(1) of the FD&C Act as an mapilon containing full reports
investigations of safety and effectiveness, in toldito other information. The data in a full ND&either owned by the applicant or are dat
which the applicant has obtained a right of refeeerA 505(b)(2) application is one described ursstion 505(b)(2) of the FD&C Act as
application for which information, or one or morktle investigations relied upon by the applicamtdpproval "were not conducted by or
the applicant and for which the applicant has riaimed a right of reference or use from the petspor for whom the investigations wi
conducted". This provision permits the FDA to ridy approval of an NDA on data not developed byapplicant, such as published litera
or the FDA's finding of safety and effectivenessgdreviously approved drug. 505(b)(2) applicatiars submitted under section 505(b)(1
the FD&C Act and are therefore subject to the sataritory provisions that govern 505(b)(1) applaad that require among other things, '
reports" of safety and effectiveness. Pfizer’s siskion for Oxecta Tablets was accepted for filiggFDA as a 505(b)(2) NDA.

505(b)(2) NDAs must include one of several difféargmes of patent certifications to each patent thdisted in the FDA publicatic
known as the Orange Book in connection with anyipresly approved drug, the approval of which ise@lupon for approval of the 505(b)
NDA. Depending on the type of certification made approval of the 505(b)(2) NDA may be delayedl tin¢ relevant patent(s) expire, ol
the case of a Paragraph IV Certification may leagatent litigation against the applicant and a&ptial automatic approval delay of 30 moi
or more.
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Each NDA requires payment of a user fee, pursuarthé requirements of the Prescription Drug Usez Pet, or PDUFA, &
periodically amended. According to FD#Afee schedule, effective on October 1, 2011,Her2012 fiscal year, the user fee for an applia
fee requiring clinical data, such as an NDA is $1,800. The FDA adjusts PDUFA user fees on an drivagis. PDUFA also imposes anr
product and facility fees. The annual product f@egrescription drugs and biologics for the 20kz4di year is $98,970 and the annual fac
fee for facilities used to manufacture prescriptimngs and biologics for the 2012 fiscal year i2Ch800. A written request can be submitter
a waiver of the application fee for the first hunthmg application that is filed by a small busindsasg no waivers for product or establishn
fees are available. Where we are subject to theese they are significant expenditures that mayn@ared in the future and must be paid a
time of submission of each application to FDA. Hfeer Agreement provides that Pfizer will pay tHBA application and user fees for
products licensed by the Company to Pfizer purstmtite Pfizer Agreement.

After an NDA is submitted by an applicant, andtifsiaccepted for filing by the FDA, the FDA wilien review the NDA and, if a
when it determines that the data submitted arewstedo show that the product is safe and effedtivéts intended use, the FDA will appr¢
the product for commercial distribution in the UBere can be no assurance that any of our produaievelopment will receive FC
approval or that even if approved, they will be rmwed with labeling that includes descriptionstefdbuse deterrent features. Moreover, e\
our products in development are approved with iagehat includes descriptions of the abuse detéfsatures of our products, advertising
promotion for the products will be limited to thgesific claims and descriptions in the FDA appropeaduct labeling.

The FDA requires drug manufacturers to establighranintain quality control procedures for manufaaty, processing and holdi
drugs and investigational products, and productstine manufactured in accordance with defined fipations. Before approving an NDA, 1
FDA usually will inspect the facility(ies) at whighe active pharmaceutical ingredients and finistedy product is manufactured, and will
approve the product unless it finds that cGMP caamgk at those facility(ies) are satisfactory. Hé tFDA determines the NDA is t
acceptable, the FDA may outline the deficiencieshim NDA and often will request additional inforneet, thus delaying the approval c
product. Notwithstanding the submission of any esjed additional testing or information, the FDAirnately may decide that the applical
does not satisfy the criteria for approval. Aftepduct is approved, changes to the approved ptpduch as adding new indicatic
manufacturing changes, or changes in or additioribe approved labeling for the product, may regsitbmission of a new NDA or, in sa
instances, an NDA amendment, for further FDA reviBastapproval marketing of products in larger or diffgrpatient populations than the
that were studied during development can lead to fiedings about the safety or efficacy of the prot. This information can lead t
product sponsos requesting approval for and/or the FDA requiithgnges in the labeling of the product or evennttiedrawal of the produ
from the market.

The Best Pharmaceuticals for Children Act, or BP@&came law in 2002 and was subsequently reaudtbdnd amended
FDAAA. The reauthorization of BPCA provides an diufial six months of market exclusivity beyond #aeiration date of existing marl
exclusivities or eligible patents to NDA applicanisit conduct acceptable pediatric studies of net @urrentlymarketed drug products
which pediatric information would be beneficial, igentified by FDA in a Pediatric Written Reque$he FD&C Act, as amended by
Pediatric Research Equity Act, or PREA, required thost applications for drugs and biologics ineladpediatric assessment (unless waiv:
deferred) to ensure the drugs' and biologics' gafatl effectiveness in children. Such pediatriccgssient must contain data, gathered |
appropriate formulations for each age group forchithe assessment is required, that are adequatséss the safety and effectiveness «
drug or the biological product for the claimed igations in all relevant pediatric subpopulations] 0 support dosing and administration
each pediatric subpopulation for which the drugher biological product is safe and effective. Tlegliptric assessments can only be def
provided there is a timeline for the completionsoth studies. FDA may waive (partially or fully)etipediatric assessment requiremen
several reasons, including if the applicant can aiestrate that reasonable attempts to produce atpediormulation necessary for that .
group have failed. The FDA has indicated Pfizesxsmpt from the pediatric studies requirement efRIREA for Oxecta.

The terms of approval of any NDA for our produchdaates, including the indication and product ladge (and, consequen
permissible advertising and promotional claims e make) may be more restrictive than what is sbungtihe NDA or what is desired by
Additionally, the FDA conditioned approval of OxacIablets on Pfizes’commitment to conduct Phase 4 epidemiologicalissuto assess 1
actual abuse levels of Oxecta in the market. Theng and FDA approval process for our product aates requires substantial time, eff
and financial resources, and we cannot be surattyaapproval will be granted on a timely basigtiéll.
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Further,drug products by FDA may be subject to continuibigations intended to assure safe use of the mted&pecifically, und:
the FD&C Act, as amended by the Food and Drug Adstration Amendments Act of 2007, or FDAAA, FDA mesquire Risk Evaluation a
Mitigation Strategies, or REMS, to manage knowrpotential serious risks associated with drugs ofogical products. If FDA finds, at t
time of approval or afterward, that a REMS is neeeg to ensure that the benefits of our productsveigh the risks associated with
products, FDA will require a REMS and, consequeritiat we take additional measures to ensure saeofithe product. Components «
REMS may include, but are not limited to, a MedmatGuide and/or Patient Package Insert, a maretimd sales communication plan
patients or healthcare providers concerning thg,delements To Assure Safe Use, or ETASUs sucbhusiot limited to, patient, prescrib
and pharmacy registries, and restrictions on thenéxor methods of distribution, a REMS implemeintatsystem, and a timetable
assessment of the effectiveness of the REMS. Thie k3 indicated Pfizer is not required to mainiREMS for Oxecta.

In addition, we, our suppliers and our licenseesraquired to comply with extensive FDA requirensdmith before and after appro'
For example, we or our licensees are requiredgortecertain adverse reactions and production prob| if any, to the FDA, and to com
with certain requirements concerning the advegisand promotion of our products, which, as discdssgove, may significantly affect 1
extent to which we can include statements or cla@ferencing our abuse deterrent technology inyebthbeling and advertising. Also, qua
control and manufacturing procedures must conttoumnform to cGMP after approval to avoid the pretcbeing rendered misbranded an
adulterated under the FD&C Act as a result of mactwiring problems. In addition, discovery of anytenial safety issues may result
changes to product labeling or restrictions onapct manufacturer, potentially including removittee product from the market.

Whether or not FDA NDA approval in the U.S. hasrbebtained, approvals from comparable governmestailatory authorities
foreign countries must be obtained prior to the e@wncement of commercialization of our drug productshose countries. The apprc
procedure varies in complexity from country to ctsynand the time required may be longer or shdhen that required for FDA approval.

FDA’s OTC Monograph Process

The FDA regulates certain ngmescription drugs using an OTC Monograph whichemwfinal, is published in the Code of Fed
Regulations at 21 C.F.R. Parts 3388. For example, 21 C.F.R. Part 341 sets forthptbeucts, such as pseudoephedrine hydrochlofic
may be marketed asraOTC cold, cough, allergy, bronchodilator, or asthmatic drug product in a form suitable for onahalant, or topici
administration and is generally recognized as safe effective and is not misbranded. Such prodticds meet each of the conditic
established in the OTC Monograph regulations aedther applicable regulations may be marketedowitprior approval by the FDA.

The general conditions set forth for OTC Monograpbducts include, among other things:

« the product is manufactured at FDA registered distabents and in accordance with cGM

« the product label meets applicable format and ctntequirements including permissible “Indicatioraid all required dosit
instructions and limitations, warnings, precautians contraindications that have been establighad applicable OTC Monograg

« the product contains only permissible active inggets in permissible strengths and dosage forms;

» the product contains only suitable inactive ingeet which are safe in the amounts administered dandiot interfere with tf
effectiveness of the preparation; ¢

« the product container and container components Fi2A’s requirements

The advertising for OTC drug products is regulatsdthe Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, which gahe requires th:
advertising claims be truthful, not misleading, asdbstantiated by adequate and reliable sciendfience. False, misleading,
unsubstantiated OTC drug advertising may be sulbgeEflfC enforcement action and may also be chafléng court by competitors or oth
under the federal Lanham Act or similar state laRsnalties for false or misleading advertising rmgjude monetary fines or judgments
well as injunctions against further disseminatiéswch advertising claims.

19




A product marketed pursuant to an OTC Monographt inesegistered with the FDA and have a Nationalgd€ode listing which
required for all marketed drug products. After neditkg, the FDA may test the product or otherwiseestigate the manufacturing ¢
development of the product to ensure compliancé wie OTC Monograph. Should the FDA determine thairoduct is not marketed
compliance with the OTC Monograph or is advertisediside of its regulations, the FDA may requirerective action up to and includi
market withdrawal and recall.

DEA Regulation

Several of our products, if approved and marketeidl, be regulated as “controlled substances’ defined in the CSA, whi
establishes registration, security, recordkeepiagerting, storage, distribution and other requeata administered by the DEA. The DE/
concerned with the loss and diversion of potentiabused drugs into illicit channels of commercd alvsely monitors and regulates hanc
of controlled substances, and the equipment andatgrials used in their manufacture and packaging.

The DEA designates controlled substances as Sahédl 111, IV or V or as List | Chemicals. Schel& | substances by definiti
have no established medicinal use, and may notarkated or sold in the United States. A pharmacablfiroduct may be listed as Schedul
I, IV or V, with Schedule Il substances consid&te present the highest risk of abuse and Schadslgbstances the lowest relative risl
abuse among such substances. List | Chemicalssarkto regulate potentially abused raw materialsh sis pseudoephedrine HCI. We bel
all of our products will receive DEA Scheduling s@stent with current DEA Scheduling standards. &ample, Oxecta Tablets are listed
Schedule Il controlled substances under the CSA stime as all other oxycodone HCI products. Coresgty) their manufacture, shipme
storage, sale and use will be subject to a highetdegf regulation. For example, generally, all $the Il drug prescriptions must be signed
physician, physically presented to a pharmacistraag not be refilled without a new prescription.

Annual DEA registration is required for any fagilithat manufactures, tests, distributes, disperisgmrts or exports any controll
substance or List | Chemical. Except for certainADdefined coincidental activities, each registration is spectfh a particular location a
activity. For example, separate registrations aeded for import and manufacturing, and each megish must specify which schedules
controlled substances are authorized.

The DEA typically inspects a facility to review igg@curity measures prior to issuing a registraéiod, thereafter, on a periodic be
Security requirements vary by controlled substasciegedule, with the most stringent requirements yapplto Schedule | and Schedul
substances. Required security measures includey@uotber things, background checks on employeephysical control of inventory throu
measures such as vaults, cages, surveillance csuaredanventory reconciliations. Records must bataged for the handling of all controll
substances and List | Chemicals, and periodic tepmiade to the DEA, for example distribution repdidr Schedule | and Il controll
substances, Schedule Il substances that are iecand other designated substances. Reportsatsasbe made for thefts or significant los
of any controlled substance and List | Chemicatg] to obtain authorization to destroy any contwlgibstance and List | Chemicals
addition, special authorization, notification aretmit requirements apply to imports and exports.

In addition, a DEA quota system controls and lintiits availability and production of controlled stayees in Schedule | or Il and L
I Chemicals. Distributions of any Schedule | orcbntrolled substance must also be accomplishedyuspecial order forms, with cop
provided to the DEA. Because Oxecta Tablets aree@dk Il they are subject to the DEAproduction and procurement quota scheme
DEA establishes annually an aggregate quota for inowh oxycodone active ingredient may be produnddtal in the United States basec
the DEA’s estimate of the quantity needed to meet legignsatentific and medicinal needs. This limited aggite amount of oxycodone t
the DEA allows to be produced in the United Statesh year is allocated among individual companit® must submit applications annui
to the DEA for individual production and procurerhguotas. We or our licensees must receive an amuea from the DEA in order
produce or procure any Schedule | or Schedulelistsunce and List | Chemicals. The DEA may adjugireggte production quotas
individual production and procurement quotas frametto time during the year, although the DEA halsstantial discretion in whether or
to make such adjustments. Our or our licensgasta of an active ingredient may not be suffickentneet commercial demand or complete
manufacture or purchase of material required fimiadl trials. Any delay or refusal by the DEA istablishing our or our licenseegiota fo
controlled substances or List | Chemicals couldgelr stop our clinical trials or product launchesinterrupt commercial sales of our prod
which could have a material adverse effect on asiress, financial position and results of operegio
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The DEA also regulates Listed Chemicals, which @remicals that may be susceptible to abuse, domergind use in the illic
manufacture of controlled substances. Some Listedn@cals, including pseudoephedrine, are used fiows prescription and OTC dr
products. DEA and state laws and regulations imgos$ensive recordkeeping, security, distributiamg aeporting requirements for compal
that handle, manufacture, or distribute Listed Cieafs, including lawful drug products containingstead Chemicals. In particular, OTC d
products containing certain Listed Chemicals, idilg pseudoephedrine, are required to be secured b#tergharmacy counter and disper
to customers directly by a pharmacist only in leditquantities. Pharmacists must obtain proof oftitle from customers, and must k«
detailed records and make reports to the DEA regarshles of such products. Individual states naag, in some cases have, imposed st
requirements on the sale of drug products contgihisted Chemicals, including requiring a docsoprescription prior to dispensing s
products to a customer.

The DEA conducts periodic inspections of registezsthblishments that handle controlled substanuéd @sted Chemicals. Failure
maintain compliance with applicable requirementstipularly as manifested in loss or diversion, casult in enforcement action that cc
have a material adverse effect on our businessltsesf operations and financial condition. The DBERy seek civil penalties, refuse to rei
necessary registrations, or initiate proceedinggetmke those registrations. In certain circumstanoiolations could lead to crimii
prosecution.

Individual states also regulate controlled substarend List | Chemicals, and we or our licenseessabject to such regulation
several states with respect to the manufacturdwnce distribution of these products.

Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

In the United States, the commercial success ofpooduct candidates will depend, in part, upon dkeilability of coverage ai
reimbursement from thirgarty payers at the federal, state and privatelde¥@vernment payer programs, including Medicaré Bedicaid
private health care insurance companies and marnzgedplans may deny coverage or reimbursemerd fooduct or therapy in whole or
part if they determine that the product or therappot medically appropriate or necessary. Alsodtparty payers have attempted to cor
costs by limiting coverage and the amount of reirabment for particular procedures or drug treatmerite United States Congress and
legislatures from time to time propose and adofitaiives aimed at cost containment, which coulgatt our ability to sell our produs
profitably.

For example, in March 2010, President Obama signtedlaw the Patient Protection and Affordable CAt, as amended by t
Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, whieh refer to collectively as the Health Care Refdraw, a sweeping law intended
broaden access to health insurance, reduce orraonite growth of healthcare spending, enhancedés against fraud and abuse, add
transparency requirements for healthcare and hemltinance industries, impose new taxes and feéiseohealth industry and impose additic
health policy reforms. Among other cost containnmmastisures, the Healthcare Reform Law establishes:

« An annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that uf@ctures or imports certain branded prescriptiomgsl and biologi
agents

« A new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount progmamwhich pharmaceutical manufacturers who wishdge their drug
covered under Part D must offer discounts to digifeneficiaries during their coverage gap pertbé“donut hol"); and

« A new formula that increases the rebates a manutacmust pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Progra
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We will not know the full effects of the Health @aReform Law until applicable federal and statenages issue regulations
guidance under the new law. Although it is too ya&d determine the effect of the Health Care Refdwaw, the new law appears likely
continue the pressure on pharmaceutical pricinge@ally under government programs, and may alsge@se our or our licenseasgulaton
burdens and operating costs. Moreover, in the comp@ars, additional changes could be made to govemtal healthcare programs that c
significantly impact the success of our products.

The cost of pharmaceuticals continues to generabstantial governmental and thipadty payer interest. We expect that
pharmaceutical industry will experience pricinggmeres due to the trend toward managed healthtb@r&creasing influence of managed !
organizations and additional legislative propos@isr or our licenseesesults of operations could be adversely affecteduyrent and futui
healthcare reforms.

In international markets, reimbursement and heatth@ayment systems vary significantly by counamgd many countries ha
instituted price ceilings on specific products &nerapies. There can be no assurance that our gsodill be considered medically reason:
and necessary for a specific indication, that ourdpcts will be considered cost-effective by thirakty payers, that an adequate leve
coverage or payment will be available so that thied{party payersreimbursement policies will not adversely affect aility to sell ou
products profitably.

Other Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements

Our licensees that commercialize our products abgest to various federal and state laws targefiagd and abuse in the healthc
industry. For example, the federal Atickback Statute prohibits persons from knowinghdawillfully soliciting, receiving, offering or pagg
remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induceheit the referral of an individual, or the furnishimecommending, or arranging for a goo
service, for which payment may be made under ar&dealthcare program, such as the Medicare andiddiel programs. The reach of
Anti-Kickback Statute was broadened by the Health Cafer® Law, which, among other things, amends teninrequirement of the stat
so that a person or entity no longer needs to laatgal knowledge of this statute or specific intentviolate it in order to have committe
violation. The Healthcare Reform Law also providest the government may assert that a claim inotydiems or services resulting fror
violation of the federal Antkickback Statute constitutes a false or frauduldatm for purposes of the civil False Claims Acttbe civil
monetary penalties statute. The civil False Clafrasimposes liability on any person who, among othéngs, knowingly presents, or cause
be presented, a false or fraudulent claim for paytrbg a federal healthcare program. The “qui tamdvisions of the False Claims Act alloy
private individual to bring civil actions on behalf the federal government alleging that the defendhas submitted a false claim to the fec
government, and to share in any monetary recovéofations of these laws or any other federal atesfraud and abuse laws may subjec
licensees to civil and criminal penalties, inclgliines, imprisonment and exclusion from participatin federal healthcare programs, wt
could harm the commercial success of our produasnaaterially affect our business, financial coietitand results of operations.

Facilities for Research, Development, and Manufacting

We conduct research, development, laboratory,cdlrdupplies manufacturing and related activitegpfoduct candidates utilizing ¢
technologies at our Culver, Indiana facility. The,0 square foot facility is registered with thEMdto perform research, development
manufacture of certain DE&eheduled active pharmaceutical ingredients andhiénd dosage form products. We obtain quotas fpplguol
DEA-scheduled active pharmaceutical ingredients froemDIEA and develop finished dosage forms in our €ufacility. We manufactu
clinical trial supplies of drug products in our @et facility in volumes sufficient to meet FDA stiards for NDAs. Pfizer is responsible
commercial manufacture of the product candidateshied under the Pfizer Agreement. We expect titatef product candidates developed
licensed by us will be commercially manufacturedoloy licensees or other qualified third party caotrmanufacturers.

We expect to rely on contract manufacturers to rfearture, package and supply our commercial quastif our Nexafed PSE Tat
product once commercialized. Initially, we will soa our commercial requirements of Nexafed PSE étalffom a single manufacturer i
will not have a second source for this producthditgh we believe that there afternate sources of supply that can satisfy oamrercia
requirements, replacing or adding a contract mantufar will result in additional costs and may geta interrupt the supply of our Nexa
PSE Tablet.
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Segment Reporting

We operate in one business segment; the reseaehlopment and manufacture of innovative abusermete orally administere
pharmaceutical products.

Environmental Compliance

We are subject to regulation under federal, statélacal environmental laws and believe we are atemal compliance with su
laws. We incur the usual waste disposal cost aatativith a pharmaceutical research, developmehtremufacturing operation.

Raw Materials

To purchase certain active ingredients requirecdbtordevelopment and manufacture of product camekdatilizing our Aversion ar
Impede Technologies, we are required to file fat ahtain supply quotas from the DEA. No assurargehle given that we will be succes
in obtaining adequate DEA quotas in a timely manBsen assuming adequate and timely DEA quotase tben be no assurances thal
approved manufacturers of raw materials for oudpod candidates will supply us with our requirensefior the active or inactive ingredie
required for the development and manufacture ofppoduct candidates.

Subsidiaries

Our Culver, Indiana research, development, and faaturing operations are conducted by Acura Phagutézal Technologies, In
an Indiana corporation and our wholly-owned sulasidi

Employees

The Company has 15 fuilme employees, nine of whom are engaged in theareh, development and manufacture of prc
candidates utilizing our proprietary Aversiorg®d Impede™ Technologies. The remaining employeesagaged in administrative, le
accounting, finance, market research, and busithessiopment activities. All of our senior managetrsmd most of our other employees t
had prior experience in pharmaceutical or biotetdgyocompanies. None of our employees is covereddiigctive bargaining agreements.
believe that our relations with our employees aredy
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our future operating results may vary substantifihyn anticipated results due to a number of fagtarany of which are beyond «
control. The following discussion highlights sormfetteese factors and the possible impact of thestifs on future results of operations. If
of the following factors actually occur, our busisefinancial condition or results of operationsildobe materially harmed. In that case,
value of our common stock could decline substdtial

Risks Relating to Our Business and Industry
We are largely dependent on the commercial suca#gdxecta and we have not generated any revenuenfgales of Oxecta.

We anticipate that, for at least the next sevegaly, our ability to generate revenues and becaoaiiggble will depend in large part «
the commercial success of our only FDA approvedpet Oxecta, which in turn, will depend on sevéaators, including:

« the successful launch of Oxecta in the United StayePfizer, to whom we have licensed Oxecta;
- Pfizer's obtaining and increasing market demanddod sales of, Oxecta;
- obtaining acceptance of Oxecta by physicians atidmnis;

- Obtaining and maintaining adequate levels of cayerand reimbursement for Oxecta from commercialltfeplans an
government health programs, which we refer to ctilely as thirdparty payors, particularly in light of the availltyi of othel
branded and generic competitive produ

« maintaining compliance with regulatory requireme
« Pfizers establishing and maintaining agreements with edadérs and distributors on commercially reasonigiies;
« Pfizers manufacture and supply of adequate supplies ettaxo meet commercial demand;

« maintaining intellectual property protection for €xa and obtaining favorable drug listing treatmigyptthe FDA to minimiz
generic competitior

There can be no assurance that Pfizer will devofficeent resources to the marketing and commemzdtibn of Oxecta. Pfizeg’
marketing of Oxecta may result in low market acappé and insufficient demand for, and sales of ptiegluct. If Pfizer fails to successft
commercialize Oxecta and increase sales, we maynakle to generate sufficient revenues to sustagraw our business and we may ne
become profitable, and our business, financial tamdand results of operations will be materiaffected.

If Pfizer is not successful in commercializing Oxiacand other licensed product candidates incorpangt the Aversion Technology ol
revenues and our business will suffer.

Pursuant to our license, development and commeraian agreement with a subsidiary of Pfizer, tog Pfizer Agreement, Pfizer
responsible for manufacturing, marketing, pricilgpmoting, selling, and distributing Oxecta andtaier of our product candidates
development in the United States, Canada and Mggicthe Pfizer Territory. If such agreement isnigrated in accordance with its ter
including due to a partg’failure to perform its obligations or responsilas under the agreement, then we would need tonwercialize th
products ourselves for which we currently have mfvastructure, or alternatively enter into a neweament with another pharmaceut
company, of which no assurance can be given. lameunable to build the necessary infrastructureotnmercialize the products oursel
which would substantially increase our expenses capital requirements that we might not be abléutal, or are unable to find a suita
replacement development and commercialization pgrime would be unable to generate any revenues fhe@se products. Even if we
successful at replacing the commercialization c#itiab of Pfizer, our revenues and/or royalties these products could be adver
impacted.
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Pfizer's manufacturing facility is currently the sole coemgial source of supply for Oxecta and our othedpct candidates licens
to Pfizer. If Pfizer§ manufacturing facility fails to obtain sufficieBXEA quotas for the opioid active ingredients camd in such produ
candidates, fails to source adequate quantitiescttfe and inactive ingredients, fails to compljthmegulatory requirements, or otherv
experiences disruptions in commercial supply ofmmaduct candidates, product revenue and our riegaibuld be adversely impacted.

Pfizer has a diversified product line for which ©te Tablets and our other product candidates lextns Pfizer will vie for Pfizeg
promotional, marketing, and selling resources fifd? fails to commit sufficient promotional, matkey and selling resources to our prodt
product revenue and our royalties could be adveisgbacted. Additionally, in view of Pfizes'recent acquisition of King Pharmaceutica
February 2011, there can be no assurance that Rfiteommit the resources required for the susflscommercialization of OxectBablet:
or the development and commercialization of owriged product candidates.

The market for our opioid product candidates ihhyigompetitive with many marketed nafuse deterrent brand and generic pro:
and other abuse deterrent product candidates ielafmwent. If Pfizer prices our product candidatesppropriately, fails to position ¢
products properly, targets inappropriate physicipecialties, or otherwise does not provide sufficiromotional support, product revenue
our royalties could be adversely impacted.

Pfizer's promotional, marketing and sales activities inraxtion with Oxecta and our other product canéilditensed to Pfizer ¢
subject to various federal and state fraud andeltass, including, without limitation, the federanhti-Kickback Statute and the federal Fi
Claims Act. The federal Antkickback Statute prohibits persons from knowinglydawillfully soliciting, receiving, offering or pagg
remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induce, iarreturn for, the purchase or recommendationroftem or service reimbursable undt
federal healthcare program. The federal False Glaktt imposes liability on any person who, amongeotthings, knowingly presents,
causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent ¢ipayment by a federal healthcare program. ifd?®s activities are found to be in violat
of these laws or any other federal and state fiand abuse laws, Pfizer may be subject to penaltiekjding civil and criminal penaltie
damages, fines and the curtailment or restructusinigs activities with regard to the commerciatiza of our products, which could harm
commercial success of our products and materiffidctour business, financial condition and resaftsperations.

We have a history of operating losses and may raitiave profitability sufficient to generate a poisi¢ return on shareholdersinvestment

We had net income of $10.4 million for the year eshdecember 31, 2011 and a net loss of $12.7 midiod $15.8 million for tt
years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respgctiet future profitability will depend on sevefakttors, including

« our receipt of milestone payments and royaltieatira to our FDA approved Oxecta Tablets, for whighonly receive royaltit
on sales occurring on and following February 2,20he one year anniversary of the first commersadd of Oxecta Tablets, ¢
other products developed and commercialized urdePfizer Agreemen

« the receipt of FDA approval and the successful censialization by Pfizer and other future licenségany) of products utilizin
our Aversion Technology and our ability to commalige our Impede Technology without infringing tpatents and oth
intellectual property rights of third parties; a

« our successful development, launch and marketingyedfafed and other products utilizing our Impedehif®logy, and mark
acceptance, increased demand for and sales of &tk

We cannot assure you that our Oxecta or Nexafedugts will be successfully commercialized or ourefsion Technology produt
in development will be approved for commercialiaatby the FDA.
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We recognized revenues of $20.5 million, $3.3 williand$3.8 million in the years ended December 31, 2@01,0 and 200
respectively, from payments received under theePfigreement. However, we have not yet generatgdeuenues from Aversion Technolc
or Impede Technology product sales. Even if we faelP succeed in commercializing one or more of Auersion Technology products o
we are successful in commercializing our Impedehfetogy products, we expect to continue using cashrves for the foreseeable future.
expenses may increase in the foreseeable futumeesult of continued research and developmendlditianal product candidates, maintair
and expanding the scope of our intellectual prgpedmmercializing our Nexafed product, and hirofgadditional research and developn
staff.

We will need to generate revenues from direct pcodales or indirectly from royalties on sales ¢biave and maintain profitability.
we cannot successfully commercialize Nexafed ocessfully develop, obtain regulatory approval aochmercialize our products licensec
Pfizer under the Pfizer Agreement or other produstder similar license agreements that we may enter with other pharmaceutic
companies in the future, of which no assurancebeagiven, we will not be able to generate suchltgyavenues or achieve future profitabil
Our failure to achieve or maintain profitability wld have a material adverse impact on the marke¢ f our common stock.

We must rely on current cash reserves, technoldggnsing fees and third party financing to fund opions.

Pending the receipt of milestone payments and tiegalf any, under the Pfizer Agreement or undilar license agreements that
may enter into with other pharmaceutical compaimethe future, of which no assurance can be givem,must rely on our current ci
reserves, revenues from sales of Nexafed, if amy,thirdparty financing to fund operations and product dgwment activities. No assurar
can be given that current cash reserves or revefiaes Nexafed product sales will be sufficient tanfl the continued operations
development of our product candidates until suctetas we generate additional revenue from the Pigeeement or any similar future licel
agreements. Moreover, no assurance can be givemwéhaill be successful in raising additional fiémy or, if funding is obtained, that st
funding will be sufficient to fund operations urpitoduct candidates utilizing our Aversion and Ia@d echnologies may be commercialized.

Our and our licenseesability to market and promote Oxecta and other Asiem Technology products by describing the abus¢éedeni
features of such products will be determined by tHBA approved label for such products.

The commercial success of our Aversion Technolaggpcts will depend upon our and our licensedslity to obtain FDA approve
labeling describing such products’ abuse deteffiettires or benefits. Our or our licensdadure to achieve FDA approval of product labe
containing such information will prevent or subsdiality limit our and our licenseesgidvertising and promotion of such abuse detereatufe
in order to differentiate Aversion Technology protiufrom other immediate release opioid productdaaing the same active ingredients,
would have a material adverse impact on our busiaes results of operations. The FDA has publitdyesl that explicit indications or clai
of abuse deterrence will not be permitted unlesshsimdications or claims are supported by doubl@dbicontrolled clinical studit
demonstrating an actual reduction in product abmsepatients or drug abusers. Because the cost, ainte practicality of designing a
implementing clinical studies adequate to supprplieit claims of abuse deterrence are prohibitiwe, and Pfizer are not pursuing and t
not conducted the clinical trials necessary toudelan explicit product label claim of abuse detaze. Instead, we will rely on certain clin
and laboratory studies to support product labatiegcribing the relative difficulty of abusing orsusing our products and such produatsis:
deterrent features. However, the extent to whiathsoformation is included in the FDA approved protlabel is the subject of our and
licenseesdiscussions with, and agreement by, the FDA asqgiate NDA review process for each of our produemdidates. The outcome
those discussions with the FDA will determine wleettve or our licensees will be able to market awdpcts with labeling that sufficien
differentiates them from other products that hawmgarable therapeutic profiles. While the FDA appblabel for Oxecta includes the res
from a clinical study which evaluated the effectsnasally snorting crushed Oxecta and commercialipilable oxycodone tablets ¢
limitations on wetting or dissolving Oxecta, it dorot, however, include the results of our labasagiudies intended to evaluate Oxegta’
potential to limit extraction of oxycodone HCI frodissolved Oxecta Tablets and resist conversiom amt injectable, or IV solution. T
absence of the results of these extraction andggrstudies in the FDA approved label for Oxecty mabstantially limit Pfizes ability tc
differentiate Oxecta from other immediate releasgcodone products, which would have a material esb/@ffect on market acceptanc
Oxecta and on our business and results of opegation
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Notwithstanding the FDA approved labeling for Oxecthere can be no assurance that our Aversionnbémiy products i
development will receive FDA approved labeling thascribes the abuse deterrent features of sudugio If the FDA does not appr¢
labeling containing such information, we or ouehsees will not be able to promote such produdedan their abuse deterrent features,
not be able to differentiate such products fronepimmediate release opioid products containingstree active ingredients, and may nc
able to charge a premium above the price of suwbrgiroducts which could materially adversely dffaar business and results of operations.

Because the FDA closely regulates promotional riedteand other promotional activities, even if #iRA initially approves produ
labeling that includes a description of the abusemlent characteristics of our product, as inddge of Oxecta, the FDA may object to oL
our licensees marketing claims and product advertising campigrhis could lead to the issuance of warning et untitled letter
suspension or withdrawal of Oxecta from the marketalls, fines, disgorgement of money, operati@sfrictions, injunctions or crimir
prosecution, which could harm the commercial sueadsour product and materially affect our busindsgncial condition and results
operations.

Our product candidates are unproven and may notapproved by the FDA.

We are committing a majority of our resources te thevelopment of product candidates utilizing owersion and Impec
Technologies. Notwithstanding the receipt of FDAviagval of Oxecta Tablets, thecan be no assurance that the FDA will approve dhgi
product candidate utilizing Aversion Technology tmmmercial distribution. Further there can be asuaance that other product candid
that may be developed using Aversion Technologympede Technology will achieve the targeted endhtsain the required clinical studies
perform as intended in other peckrical and clinical studies or lead to an NDA subsion or filing acceptance. Our failure to sustelty
develop and achieve final FDA approval of our prtdetandidates in development utilizing Aversion Aiealogy will have a material adve
effect on our financial condition.

If the FDA disagrees with our determination that gain of our products meet the over-thesunter, or OTC, requirements, once the
products are commercialized, they may be removednfthe market; the FDA or the U.S. Federal Trade @mission, or FTC, may obje
to our advertisement and promotion of the extragtioharacteristics and benefits of Nexafed.

Drugs that have been deemed safe and effectivhebifDA for use by the general public without a priggion are classified as O°
drug products. Certain OTC drug products may bengemialized without premarket review by the FDAtlie standards set forth in
applicable regulatory monograph are met. An OTC ogoaph provides the marketing conditions for theliapble OTC drug produ
including active ingredients, labeling, and othenegral requirements such as compliance with cGMP establishment registration. A
product which fails to conform to each of the gaheonditions and a monograph is subject to regnfaaction. Further, although the FI
regulates OTC drug product labeling, the FTC regslahe advertising and marketing of OTC drug potsluWe believe that Nexafed
classified for OTC sale under an FDA OTC monograpich will allow us to commercialize them withouttsnitting an NDA or ANDA to th
FDA. We have also determined that, provided we st the FDAS requirements for OTC monograph products, inclyigiroduct labeling
we can advertise and promote the extraction cheniatits and benefits of Nexafed which are supplobie our research studies. No assur
can be given, however, that the FDA will agree thakxafed may be sold under the FBATC monograph product regulations or that the
or FTC will not object to our advertisement andrpotion of Nexafeds extraction characteristics and benefits. If tilBARdetermines th
Nexafed does not conform to the OTC monograph aveffail to meet the general conditions, once consiabzed, the product may
removed from the market and we may face varioumretincluding, but not limited to, restrictions tiee marketing or distribution of st
products, warning letters, fines, product seizunejnjunctions or the imposition of civil or crimh penalties. Any of these actions r
materially and adversely affect our financial caiwi and operations. If the FDA requires that wbrsit a NDA or ANDA to obtain marketir
approval for Nexafed, this would result in substnadditional costs, delay or suspend the comrakzeition of Nexafed and require Fl
approval prior to sale, of which no assurance @prbvided. In such case, the label for Nexafedldvba subject to FDA review and apprc
and there can be no assurance that we will be tablearket Nexafed with labeling sufficient to diféatiate it from products that he
comparable therapeutic profiles. If we are unablexdvertise and promote the extraction characiesistf Nexafed, we may be unable
compete with national brands and pharmacy chaie $t@ands.
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Our Aversion and Impede Technology products may hetsuccessful in limiting or impeding abuse or mé&& upon commercialization.

We are committing a majority of our resources te ttevelopment of products utilizing our Aversiordampede Technologie
Notwithstanding the receipt of FDA approval of Otee@ablets and the results of our numerous clirdcal laboratory studies for Oxecta
our Aversion and Impede Technology products in tepraent, there can be no assurance that Oxectanyoother product utilizing o
Aversion or Impede Technologies will perform agedsand limit or impede the actual abuse or misdiseich products in commercial settir
Moreover, there can be no assurance that thegppsbval epidemiological study required by the F&a condition of approval of Oxecta
show a reduction in the consequences of abuse @&usenby patients for whom Oxecta is prescribea fHilure of Oxecta or other produ
utilizing our Aversion and Impede Technologiesitoil or impede actual abuse or misuse in practidehave a material adverse impact
market acceptance for such products and on oundiahcondition and results of operations.

Relying on third party CROs may result in delays @ur pre-clinical, clinical or laboratory testinglf pre-clinical, clinical or laboratory
testing for our product candidates are unsuccessfat delayed, we will be unable to meet our antidipd development at
commercialization timelines.

To obtain FDA approval to commercially sell andtdimite in the United States any of our prescripwoduct candidates, we or
licensees must submit to the FDA an NDA demonsigatamong other things, that the product candidasafe and effective for its intenc
use. As we do not possess the resources or emipline gpersonnel necessary to conduct such testiegely on CROs for the majority of t
testing with our product candidates. As a resudt,have less control over our development program thwe performed the testing entirely
our own. Third parties may not perform their resgbitities on our anticipated schedule. Delays ur @evelopment programs co
significantly increase our product development€astd delay product commercialization.

The commencement of clinical trials with our prodcendidates may be delayed for several reasotlsding but not limited to dela
in demonstrating sufficient preinical safety required to obtain regulatory apmioto commence a clinical trial, reaching agreetsieor
acceptable terms with prospective CROs, clinidal sites and licensees, manufacturing and quasgurance release of a sufficient supply
product candidate for use in our clinical trialslém obtaining institutional review board approwalconduct a clinical trial at a prospec
clinical site. Once a clinical trial has begunmay be delayed, suspended or terminated by usgotatery authorities due to several fact
including ongoing discussions with regulatory auities regarding the scope or design of our clihidals, a determination by us or regulat
authorities that continuing a trial presents aneasonable health risk to participants, failure emduct clinical trials in accordance w
regulatory requirements, lower than anticipateduiément or retention rate of patients in clinitdls, inspection of the clinical trial operatic
or trial sites by regulatory authorities, the imitios of a clinical hold by FDA, lack of adequatenfling to continue clinical trials, and
negative or unanticipated results of clinical sial

Clinical trials required by the FDA for commerciegproval may not demonstrate safety or efficacgwfproduct candidates. Succ
in pre<linical testing and early clinical trials does rassure that later clinical trials will be successResults of later clinical trials may 1
replicate the results of prior clinical trials apce-clinical testing. Even if the results of our piviopdnase 11l clinical trials are positive, we ¢
our licensees may have to commit substantial timeaditional resources to conduct further gieical and clinical studies before we or
licensees can submit NDAs or obtain regulatory apairfor our product candidates.

Clinical trials are expensive and at times diffictd design and implement, in part because theysabgect to rigorous regulatc
requirements. Further, if participating subjectpatients in clinical studies suffer druglated adverse reactions during the course of siah
or if we, our licensees or the FDA believes thatipigating patients are being exposed to unactdptaealth risks, we or our licensees |
suspend the clinical trials. Failure can occur ay atage of the trials, and we or our licenseesldc@ncounter problems causing
abandonment of clinical trials or the need to cadualditional clinical studies, relating to a protloandidate.
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Even if our clinical trials and laboratory testinge completed as planned, their results may nqiaa@tgommercially viable prodt
label claims. The clinical trial process may faildemonstrate that our product candidates areassafeeffective for their intended use. S
failure may cause us or our licensees to abangwoduct candidate and may delay the developmeothefr product candidates.

We have no commercial manufacturing capacity andyren third-party contract manufacturers to produce commerc@antities of ou
products.

We do not have the facilities, equipment or persgbitm manufacture commercial quantities of our pisid and therefore must rely
our licensees or other qualified thipdrty contract manufactures with appropriate fiediand equipment to contract manufacture comral
guantities of products utilizing our Aversion amdpede Technologies. These licensees and thady contract manufacturers are also su
to current good manufacturing practice, or cGMPutatipns, which impose extensive procedural andudwmtation requirements. A
performance failure on the part of our licenseesomtract manufacturers could delay commerciatiratif any approved products, depriving
of potential product revenue.

Our drug products, including Nexafed, require pechigh quality manufacturing. Failure by our caot manufacturers to achie
and maintain high manufacturing standards couldlrés patient injury or death, product recallsvathdrawals, delays or failures in testing
delivery, cost overruns, or other problems thatid¢dooaterially adversely affect our business. Caritraanufacturers may encounter difficul
involving production yields, quality control, andality assurance. These manufacturers are subjectgoing periodic unannounced inspec
by the FDA and corresponding state and foreign eigerto ensure strict compliance with cGMP and o#pplicable government regulatio
however, beyond contractual remedies that may biadle to us, we do not have control over thirdypananufacturerstcompliance with the:
regulations and standards.

If for some reason our contract manufacturers capedorm as agreed, we may be required to replaem. Although we belie
there are a number of potential replacements, we imaur added costs and delays in identifying andlifying any such replacements.
addition, a new manufacturer would have to be etdalcia, or develop substantially equivalent proesdsr, production of our drug candidates.

We or our licensees may not obtain required FDA apypal; the FDA approval process is time-consumingdexpensive.

The development, testing, manufacturing, markeging sale of pharmaceutical products are subjexttensive federal, state and Ic
regulation in the United States and other count@adisfaction of all regulatory requirements tyblig takes years, is dependent upon the
complexity and novelty of the product candidated aaquires the expenditure of substantial resouimesesearch, development and tes
Substantially all of our operations are subjeatdampliance with FDA regulations. Failure to adh&repplicable FDA regulations by us or
licensees would have a material adverse effect umoperations and financial condition. In addition, the event we are successfu
developing product candidates for distribution aabk in other countries, we would become subjentgalation in such countries. Such fore
regulations and product approval requirements gpeaed to be time consuming and expensive.

We or our licensees may encounter delays or rejestiluring any stage of the regulatory review gmgt@val process based upon
failure of clinical or laboratory data to demonstra&ompliance with, or upon the failure of the prodcandidates to meet, the FRA’
requirements for safety, efficacy and quality; émose requirements may become more stringent dabaieges in regulatory agency polic
the adoption of new regulations. After submissidram NDA the FDA may refuse to file the applicatiateny approval of the applicatir
require additional testing or data and/or requiostarketing testing and surveillance to monitor théety or efficacy of a product. F
instance, the FDA’s approval of Oxecta is condiidron Pfizer conducting a paspproval epidemiological study to assess the actbhas
levels and consequences of Oxecta in the market.Prascription Drug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, setetstandards for the FD&Yeview o
NDA'’s. The FDA's timelines described in the PDUFA gnaaare flexible and subject to change based ohkleam and other potential revir
issues and may delay the F3*eview of an NDA. Further, the terms of approefibny NDA, including the product labeling, may imere
restrictive than we or our licensees desire anddcaffiect the marketability of our products.
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Even if we comply with all the FDA regulatory regements, we or our licensees may never obtain aggyl approval for any of o
product candidates in development. For examplepmgeiously submitted an NDA to the FDA for an Avers Technology product containi
niacin, intended to provide impediments to owggesting the product. Such niacin containing potduas not approved by the FDA. If we
our licensees fail to obtain regulatory approvalday of our product candidates in developmentwiehave fewer commercialized produ
and correspondingly lower revenues. Even if reguatpproval of our products in developmésatreceived, such approval may invc
limitations on the indicated uses or promotionalirals we or our licensees may make for our produrtsitherwise not permit labeling tl
sufficiently differentiates our product candidafesm competitive products with comparable therajeptofiles but without abuse deterr
features (see risk factor above entitl€@blt and our licensees ability to market and pron@tecta and other Aversion Technology produc
describing the abuse deterrent features of suatupts will be determined by the FDA approved ldbelsuch products”)Such events wou
have a material adverse effect on our operatiodsiaancial condition. We may market certain of guoducts without the prior applicatior
and approval by the FDA. The FDA may subsequerdtyuire us to withdraw such products and submit ND#r approval prior to re-
marketing.

The FDA also has the authority to revoke or suspemglovals of previously approved products for eaus debar companies ¢
individuals from participating in the drugpproval process, to request recalls of allegedjative products, to seize allegedly violal
products, to obtain injunctions to close manufaotuplants allegedly not operating in conformitythwcurrent cGMP and to stop shipment
allegedly violative products. In the event the FEa&kes any such action relating to our productar{if are approved by the FDA), such act
would have a material adverse effect on our opmmatand financial condition.

We must maintain FDA approval to manufacture clirat supplies of our product candidates at our fatjj failure to maintain complianc
with FDA requirements may prevent or delay the mdacture of our product candidates and costs of mdacture may be higher tha
expected.

We have installed the equipment necessary to meturéaclinical trial supplies of our Aversion aneigede Technology prodt
candidates in tablet formulations at our Culvedidna facility. To be used in clinical trials, afl our product candidates must be manufact
in conformity with cGMP regulations. All such prazticandidates must be manufactured, packaged,aéeded and stored in accordance
cGMPs. Modifications, enhancements or changes inufaaturing sites of marketed products are, in meingumstances, subject to F
approval, which may be subject to a lengthy appbicaprocess or which we may be unable to obtaim. Qulver, Indiana facility, and those
any thirdparty manufacturers that we or our licensees may ase periodically subject to inspection by theAF&nd other governmen
agencies, and operations at these facilities coelohterrupted or halted if the FDA deems sucheetipns are unsatisfactory. Failure to con
with FDA or other governmental regulations can lesufines, unanticipated compliance expendituresall or seizure of products, total
partial suspension of production or distributiomsgension of FDA review of our product candidatesmination of ongoing resear
disqualification of data for submission to regutgtauthorities, enforcement actions, injunctiond ariminal prosecution.

We develop our products, and manufacture clinicalpplies, at a single location. Any disruption atighfacility could adversely affect o
business and results of operations.

We rely on our Culver, Indiana facility for develog our product candidates and the manufacturdimital supplies of our produ
candidates. If the Culver, Indiana facility werermdeyed or destroyed, or otherwise subject to digrnpit would require substantial ledidae tc
repair or replace. If our Culver facility were affed by a disaster, we would be forced to relyrelytion CROs and thirgarty contrac
manufacturers for an indefinite period of time.h&lugh we believe we possess adequate insuranadafage to our property and for
disruption of our business from casualties, sushiiance may not be sufficient to cover all of oateptial losses and may not continue t
available to us on acceptable terms, or at all.ddwer, any disruptions or delays at our Culverjdnd facility could impair our ability -
develop our product candidates utilizing the Avemsor Impede Technologies, which could adversefgcafour business and results
operations.
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Our operations are subject to environmental, heallhd safety, and other laws and regulations, withieh compliance is costly and whic
exposes us to penalties for non-compliance.

Our business, properties and product candidatesudnject to federal, state and local laws and egguis relating to the protection
the environment, natural resources and worker iheedtl safety and the use, management, storageigpabdl of hazardous substances, v
and other regulated materials. Because we own padhte real property, various environmental lave® ahay impose liability on us for 1
costs of cleaning up and responding to hazardobstances that may have been released on our propestuding releases unknown to
These environmental laws and regulations also cagdire us to pay for environmental remediatiod eesponse costs at thipdrty location
where we dispose of or recycle hazardous substambescosts of complying with these various envinental requirements, as they now ¢
or may be altered in the future, could adversdigcafour financial condition and results of opeyas.

Our failure to successfully establish new licensgraements with pharmaceutical companies for the elepment and commercialization
our other products in development may adversely anwur ability to develop, market and sell suchqatucts.

The Pfizer Agreement grants Pfizer an exclusivenge to develop and commercialize Oxecta and nedifier opioid analges
products in the Pfizer Territory. We believe thpportunities exist to enter into agreements simiathe Pfizer Agreement with other partr
for the commercialization of these same opioid potsl outside the Pfizer Territory and for the depetent and commercialization
additional Aversion Technology and Impede Technpl@yoduct candidates for other abused and misusedsd such as tranquilize
stimulants, sedatives and nasal decongestants idrhied States and worldwide. However, there aandassurance that we will be succe:
in entering into such license agreements in theréutlf we are unable to enter into such agreemenitsability to develop and commercia
our product candidates, and our financial conditiod results of operations, would be adverselycsdte

If our licensees do not satisfy their obligationse will be unable to develop our licensed produahdidates.

As part of our Pfizer Agreement or other futureitamlicense agreements (if any), we do not andi mat have day-tatay control ove
the activities of our licensees with respect to prgduct candidate. If a licensee fails to fulfif obligations under an agreement with us
may be unable to assume the development of theupra@éndidate covered by that agreement or to énteralternative arrangements v
another third party. In addition, we may encourdtetays in the commercialization of the product ¢datd that is the subject of a lice
agreement. Accordingly, our ability to receive apyenue from the product candidates covered by agocbements will be dependent on
efforts of our licensee. We could be involved ispdites with a licensee, which could lead to delays termination of, our development :
commercialization programs and result in time comisig and expensive litigation or arbitratidn. addition, any such dispute could dimir
our licensees commitment to us and reduce the resources thegteléo developing and commercializing our produdtsany license
terminates or breaches its agreement, or otheffaitseto complete its obligations in a timely manmeur chances of successfully developin
commercializing our product candidates would beemally adversely effected. Additionally, due teethature of the market for our proc
candidates, it may be necessary for us to licethge a significant portion of our product candidatto a single company thereby eliminating
opportunity to commercialize other product candidawith other licensees.

If we fail to maintain our license agreement withfi2er, we may have to reduce or delay our produabhdidate development.

Our plan for developing, manufacturing and comnaizing Oxecta Tablets and certain other opioidlgesic product candidal
utilizing our Aversion Technology currently requsraeis to maintain our license agreement with Pfizeraddition to other custome
termination provisions, the Pfizer Agreement pregidhat Pfizer may terminate the Pfizer Agreeméming time upon written notice to us
Pfizer elects to terminate the Pfizer Agreemenif are are otherwise unable to maintain our exgtialationship with Pfizer, we may have
limit the size or scope of, or delay or abandondbeelopment of, our Aversion Technology opioidlgasic product candidates or under
and fund development of these product candidatesetues. If we were required to fund the commeizagion efforts with respect to Oxe
Tablets and the development and commercializatiforte to our other Aversion Technology opioid agesic product candidates on our @
we may need to obtain additional financing, whiciiymot be available on acceptable terms, or at all.
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The market may not be receptive to products incogimg our Aversion or Impede Technologies

The commercial success of our products will depamdcceptance by health care providers and othatstich products are clinice
useful, coseffective and safe. There can be no assurance ghatnour products utilizing the Aversion or Impetlechnologies would |
accepted by health care providers and others. Fatttat may materially affect market acceptanceusfproduct candidates include but are
limited to:

- the relative advantages and disadvantages of odupts compared to competitive produs

« the relative timing to commercial launch of ourgwots compared to competitive produt

« the relative safety and efficacy of our productspared to competitive produc

- the product labeling approved by the FDA for owdarcts;

« the perception of health care providers of thele rim helping to prevent abuse and their willingnés prescribe abusieterrer
products to do sc

« the willingness of third party payers to reimlaifgr our prescription products;

« the willingness of pharmacy chains to stock eojpéde Technology products; and

« the willingness of consumers to pay for our product

Oxecta and our product candidates, if successtldyeloped and commercially launched, will competih Wwoth currently markett
and new products launched in the future by othergamies. Health care providers may not acceptilizeutiny of our products. Physicians .
other prescribers may not be inclined to prescabe prescription products unless our products destnate commercially viable advanta
over other products currently marketed for the sard&ations. Pharmacy chains may not be willingtimck our Impede Technology prodt
and pharmacists may not recommend such produaterieumers. Further, consumers may not be willingumchase our products. If «
products do not achieve market acceptance, we widyenable to generate significant revenues orrheqgarofitable.

If we are not successful in commercializing Nexafadd other Impede Technology products our revenaesl business will suffer.

We intend to market and sell Nexafed to pharma®esafed will compete in the highly competitive keirfor cold, sinus and aller
products generally available to the consumer withoyprescription. Many of our competitors have samially greater financial and otl
resources and are able to expend more funds aond éffan us in marketing their competing produ@ategory leading brands are o
supported by regional and national advertising prainotional efforts. Nexafed will compete with matal brands as well as pharmacy ¢
brands that are offered at a lower price. Therelmano assurance that we will launch or succeaminmercializing Nexafed, or that eve
commercialized, that the pricing of Nexafed willoa us to generate significant revenues or pré&ggulations have been enacted in se
state or local jurisdictions requiring a doctoprescription to obtain pseudoephedrine produstsexpansion of such restrictions to o
jurisdictions or even nationally will adversely iagi our ability to market Nexafed as an OTC procurad generate revenue from Nex:
product sales.

If we, our licensees or others identify serious a&tse events or deaths relating to any of our prottuonce on the market, we may
required to withdraw our products from the markethich would hinder or preclude our ability to genate revenues.

We or our licensees are required to report to eelevegulatory authorities all serious adverse &ven deaths involving our prodi
candidates or approved products. If we, our licegser others identify such events, regulatory @ities may withdraw their approvals of si
products; we or our licensees may be requiredfymailate our products; we or our licensees mayehavecall the affected products from
market and may not be able to reintroduce them tiv@anarket; our reputation in the marketplace sw#fer; and we may become the targe
lawsuits, including class actions suits. Any ofsievents could harm or prevent sales of the affegtoducts and could materially adver
affect our business and financial condition.
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In the event that we or our licensees are succebsflbringing any products to market, our revenuesay be adversely affected if we fail
obtain insurance coverage or adequate reimbursemfntour products from third-party payers.

The ability of our licensees to successfully comeigdize our products may depend in part on thelaliity of reimbursement for o
prescription products from government health adstiation authorities, private health insurers, atiter thirdparty payers and administratc
including Medicaid and Medicare. We cannot predit availability of reimbursement for newdpproved products utilizing our Avers
Technology. Thirdearty payers and administrators, including statalibBd programs and Medicare, are challenging theeg charged f
pharmaceutical products. Government and other-fhartly payers increasingly are limiting both coveramd the level of reimbursement
new drugs. Thirdparty insurance coverage may not be available teeqta for any of our products candidates. The inoimg efforts o
government and thirgarty payers to contain or reduce the costs ofth&alre may limit our commercial opportunity. Ifvgsnment and oth
third-party payers do not provide adequate coverage aimlbursement for any product utilizing our Aversi@echnology, health ce
providers may not prescribe them or patients mdy their health care providers to prescribe competimoducts with more favorat
reimbursement. In some foreign markets, pricing prafitability of pharmaceutical products are swabj® government control. In the Uni
States, we expect there may be federal and stapogals for similar controls. In addition, we expiaat increasing emphasis on managed
in the United States will continue to put pressamethe pricing of pharmaceutical products. Costrbinitiatives could decrease the price
we or our licensees charge for any of our prodircthe future. Further, cost control initiativesuta impair our ability or the ability of o
licensees to commercialize our products and odityabn earn revenues from commercialization.

In both the United States and certain foreign glicigsons, there have been and we expect there osiltinue to be a number
legislative and regulatory changes to the healte sgstem that could impact our or our licensedslity to sell our products profitably.
particular, in 2010, the Patient Protection AffdstaCare Act, as amended by the Health Care anddfidn Reconciliation Act, collective
the Healthcare Reform Law, was enacted. The Hemkhd&reform Law substantially changes the way heafth is financed by bc
governmental and private insurers and significaatfgcts the pharmaceutical industry. Among thevigions of the Healthcare Reform Law
greatest importance to the pharmaceutical indstthe following:

« An annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that mfactures or imports certain branded prescriptiongsl and biologic agen
beginning in 2011

« Anincrease in the minimum rebates a manufacturestipay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program;
« A new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount prograrder which manufacturers must agree to offep&@ent poir-of-sale
discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brdnahs to eligible beneficiaries during their caage gap period, as a condi

for the manufactur’s outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare®dreginning in 2011

« Extension of manufacturer’Medicaid rebate liability to covered drugs disgehto individuals who are enrolled in Medic
managed care organizations, effective March 23028and

« A new PatientCentered Outcomes Research Institute to oversestifiyl priorities in, and conduct comparative atiai
effectiveness researc

At this time, it remains uncertain what the fullgact of these provisions will be on the pharmacaliindustry generally or our busines:
particular.
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Consolidation in the healthcare industry could lead demands for price concessions or for the exabmsof some suppliers from certain
our markets, which could have an adverse effectanr business, financial condition or results of opions.

Because healthcare costs have risen significamtijnerous initiatives and reforms by legislaturegutators and thirgharty payers 1
curb these cost increases have resulted in a tretice healthcare industry to consolidate produgipsiers and purchasers. As the healtr
industry consolidates, competition among suppliefsrovide products to purchasers has become mtease. This in turn has resulted and
likely continue to result in greater pricing pressiand the exclusion of certain suppliers fromadrtgnt market segments as group purchi
organizations, and large single accounts continuase their market power to influence product pgcand purchasing decisions. We ex
that market demand, government regulation, tpady reimbursement policies and societal presswikgontinue to influence the worldwi
healthcare industry, resulting in further businesasolidations, which may exert further downwardssure on the prices of our anticipi
products. This downward pricing pressure may adglisnpact our business, financial condition omtessof operations. Under our agreen
with Pfizer, Pfizer controls the price of Oxectalanher licensed products and may provide priceadists and price reductions in its discret
Such price discounts and reductions will reduceniitesales of our licensed products and, correspglyd our royalty payments, if any, un
the Pfizer Agreement.

Our success depends on our ability to protect auteilectual property.

Our success depends on our ability to obtain aniditaia patent protection for products developediziig our technologies, in tl
United States and in other countries, and to eefthese patents. The patent positions of pharmiaaétirms, including us, are genere
uncertain and involve complex legal and factualstjoas. Notwithstanding our receipt of U.S. Patiiot 7,201,920 and U.S. Patent
7,510,726 from the USPTO encompassing our opicdysets utilizing our Aversion Technology, and UPatent No. 7,981,439 encompas
certain non-opioid products utilizing our Aversidechnology, there is no assurance that any of atenp claims in our other pending non-
provisional and provisional patent applicationsatialy to our technologies will issue or if issuditiat any of our existing and future pa
claims will be held valid and enforceable agairstdtparty infringement or that our products wilbtninfringe any thirdearty patent c
intellectual property. Moreover, any patent clairkating to our technologies may not be sufficighittoad to protect our products. In addit
issued patent claims may be challenged, potentialtglidated or potentially circumvented. Our patetaims may not afford us protect
against competitors with similar technology or pirthe commercialization of our products withoufringing thirdparty patents or oth
intellectual property rights.

Our success also depends on our not infringingnpaissued to others. We may become aware of gabehdnging to competitors €
others that could require us to obtain licensesutth patents or alter our technologies. Obtainirgl dicenses or altering our technology ct
be time consuming and costly. We may not be ablebtain a license to any technology owned by ariged to a third party that we or
licensees require to manufacture or market onearerof our products. Even if we can obtain a liegrike financial and other terms may
disadvantageous.

Our success also depends on maintaining the comigdiéy of our trade secrets and kndww. We seek to protect such informatior
entering into confidentiality agreements with enygles, potential licensees, raw material suppliesstract research organizations, con
manufacturers, consultants and other parties. Tagssements may be breached by such parties. Wenatdye able to obtain an adequatt
perhaps, any remedy to such a breach. In additan.trade secrets may otherwise become known dndependently developed by
competitors. Our inability to protect our intelleat property or to commercialize our products withmfringing thirdparty patents or oth
intellectual property rights would have a mateaidlerse affect on our operations and financial itemd

We also rely on or intend to rely on our trademattede names and brand names to distinguish @aupts from the products of «
competitors, and have registered or applied tostegimany of these trademarks. However, our tradeaplications may not be approv
Third parties may also oppose our trademark apgicsa or otherwise challenge our use of the tradksidn the event that our trademarks
successfully challenged, we could be forced toaetbrour product, which could result in loss of lorarcognition and could require us
devote resources to advertising and marketing these brands. Further, our competitors may infrioge trademarks, or we may not h
adequate resources to enforce our trademarks.
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We may become involved in patent litigation or othetellectual property proceedings relating to oversion or Impede Technologi
or product candidates which could result in liabi§i for damages or delay or stop our development anchmercialization efforts.

The pharmaceutical industry has been charactebyeignificant litigation and other proceedingsasting patents, patent applicati
and other intellectual property rights. The sitoiasi in which we may become parties to such litayatr proceedings may include:

« litigation or other proceedings we or our licensgefhay initiate against third parties to enforce patent rights or oth
intellectual property rights

- litigation or other proceedings we or our licensg@fay initiate against third parties seeking tealiate the patents held by s
third parties or to obtain a judgment that our jpicid do not infringe such third part’ patents

« litigation or other proceedings third parties mayiate against us or our licensee(s) to seek\alidate our patents or to obtai
judgment that third party products do not infrir@e patents

» if our competitors file patent applications thadint technology also claimed by us, we may be fotogghrticipate in interferen
or opposition proceedings to determine the priaftinvention and whether we are entitled to patagitts on such invention; ar

« if third parties initiate litigation claiming thatur products infringe their patent or other intefiieal property rights, we will need
defend against such proceedin

The costs of resolving any patent litigation orestintellectual property proceeding, even if resdhin our favor, could be substan:
Many of our potential competitors will be able testin the cost of such litigation and proceedimgse effectively than we can becaus
their substantially greater resources. Uncertantisulting from the initiation and continuationpaftent litigation or other intellectual prope
proceedings could have a material adverse effecuprability to compete in the marketplace. Patgigation and other intellectual prope
proceedings may also consume significant managetinegit

In the event that a competitor infringes upon oatept or other intellectual property rights, enfiogcthose rights may be cos
difficult and time consuming. Even if successfitightion to enforce our intellectual property riglor to defend our patents against chall
could be expensive and time-consuming and couldrtiour managemerst’attention. We may not have sufficient resourcesrtforce ot
intellectual property rights or to defend our patenother intellectual property rights againsthaltenge. If we are unsuccessful in enfor
and protecting our intellectual property rights gdtecting our products, it could harm our busénda certain circumstances, our licer
Pfizer has the first right to control the enforcernef certain of our patents against third partyimyers. Pfizer may not put adequate resot
or effort into such enforcement actions or otheewl to restrain infringing products. In additidn an infringement proceeding, a court |
decide that a patent of ours is invalid or is unesgable, or may refuse to stop the other party fusing the technology at issue on the gro
that our patents do not cover the technology irstjoe. An adverse result in any litigation or defermproceedings could put one or more o
patents at risk of being invalidated or interpratedrowly and could put our patent applicationgsi of not issuing.

Our technologies or products may be found to igkirtlaims of patents owned by others. If we deteenthat we are, or if we ¢
found to be infringing a patent held by anothertygawre, our suppliers or our licensees might havedek a license to make, use, and se
patented technologies and products. In that casepwr suppliers or our licensees might not be @iblebtain such license on acceptable te
or at all. The failure to obtain a license to ahyrd party technology that may be required wouldterially harm our business, financ
condition and results of operations. If a legalactis brought against us or our licensee(s), waddccncur substantial defense costs, and
such action might not be resolved in our favosu€h a dispute is resolved against us, we may toapay the other party large sums of mc
and use of our technology and the testing, manurfimgt, marketing or sale of one or more of our meid could be restricted or prohibit
Even prior to resolution of such a dispute, usewftechnology and the testing, manufacturing, rtimk or sale of one or more of our prod
could be restricted or prohibited.
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We are aware of certain United States and inteynakipending patent applications owned by thirdigsrwith claims potential
encompassing Oxecta and our Aversion products ireldement. While we do not expect the claims comdiin such pending pat
applications will issue in their present form, theran be no assurance that such patent applicatidhaot issue as patents with clai
encompassing one or more of our product candidHtesch patent applications result in valid anfoeceable issued patents, containing cls
in their current form or otherwise encompassingmoducts we or our licensees may be required taimka license to such patents, should
be available, or alternatively, alter our produsiisas to avoid infringing such thighrty patents. If we or our licensees are unablebtain i
license on commercially reasonable terms, or atwadl or our licensees could be restricted or priatefrom commercializing our produc
Additionally, any alterations to our products o dechnologies could be time consuming and cosily may not result in technologies
products that are non-infringing or commerciallghlie.

We are aware of an issued United States patentaWbye third party having claims encompassing tbe of one of our Aversic
inactive ingredients in a controlled release phaeuntcal preparation. We are also aware of an is&lited States patent owned by a t
party having claims encompassing a pharmaceutiggdgpation containing viscosity producing ingrediethat can be drawn into a syril
when dissolved in 10mk’or less of aqueous solution. While we believe thet Aversion products do not infringe these pttear that suc
patents are otherwise invalid, there can be norassa that we or Pfizer will not be sued for infimy these patents, and if sued, there c:
no assurance that we or Pfizer will prevail in angh litigation. If we or Pfizer are found to imfge either or both of these patents, we or F
may seek a license to use the patented technadliogye are unable to obtain such a license, of whiohassurance can be given, we or P
may be restricted or prevented from commercializing Aversion products.

We are aware of certain issued United States matembied by a third party having claims encompasaipgocess used to manufac
oxycodone HCI of high purity and pharmaceuticalducts resulting therefrom. As required by the F@Xecta contains a similar high pu
oxycodone HCI manufactured by a supplier that is the owner or licensee of such patents. The owfidhese patents has filed pa
infringement actions relating to these patentsregjaiompanies that have filed abbreviated new dpmications with the FDA for extended-
release versions of oxycodone HCI. To our knowledige patent owner has not initiated any patemtrigément actions against the seller
immediate-release oxycodone HCI products or thgipBers of oxycodone HCI, however, we cannot beage that these immediateleas
products actually utilize a high purity oxycodoNge cannot provide assurance that Pfizer or its odgoe HCI supplier will not be sued
infringing these patents. In the event of an ilfeément action, Pfizer and their oxycodone HCI sigpplould have to either: (a) demonst
that the manufacture of the oxycodone HCI used xedta does not infringe the patent claims, (b) destrate the patents are invalic
unenforceable, or (c) enter into a license withghtent owner. If Pfizer or their oxycodone HCI gligr is unable to demonstrate the foregc
or obtain a license to these patients, Pfizer neaseluired or choose to withdraw Oxecta from theketa

We cannot assure you that our technologies, predamd/or actions in developing our products wilt mdringe thirdparty patent:
Our failure to avoid infringing thirgharty patents and intellectual property rightshie tlevelopment and commercialization of our prog
would have a material adverse affect on our opmratand financial condition.

We may be exposed to product liability claims andynmot be able to obtain or maintain adequate pratiliability insurance.

Our business exposes us to potential product iigbiksks, which are inherent in the testing, mamtdiring, marketing and sale
pharmaceutical products. Product liability claimigint be made by patients, or health care providexgthers that sell or consume our prodi
These claims may be made even with respect to thaskicts that possess regulatory approval for ceroia sale. We are currently cove
by clinical trial product liability insurance oncéaimsimade basis and expect to expand such coveragedo Hexafed, if commercialized. Tl
coverage may not be adequate to cover any prodity claims. Product liability coverage is expgéve. In the future, we may not be abl
obtain coverage for Nexafed or, if obtained, mamtch product liability insurance at a reasonaolst or in sufficient amounts to protec
against losses due to product liability claims. Atgims that are not covered by product liabilitgurance could have a material adverse ¢
on our business, financial condition and resultspdrations. Reference is made to the discussidaruhe captionitem 3, Legal Proceedin
- Reglan® /Metoclopramide Litigation”for a discussion of pending product liability ligon filed against the Company in eact
Pennsylvania, New Jersey, California
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The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgueat litigation. Those companies with significinancial resources will be bet
able to bring and defend any such litigation. Nsuaance can be given that we would not become wedoin future litigation, in addition to t
ongoing Reglan/Metoclopramide mass tort litigati®uch litigation may have material adverse consecge to our financial condition &
results of operations.

We face significant competition which may result athers developing or commercializing products bef@r more successfully than \
do.

Our products and technologies will, if marketednpete to varying degrees against both brand andrigeproducts offering simil
therapeutic benefits and being developed and nedkey small and large pharmaceutical (for presiompproducts) and consumer packe
goods (for OTC products) companies. Many of our gefitors have substantially greater financial atitepresources and are able to ex|
more funds and effort than us in research, devedoprand commercialization of their competitive temlogies and products. Prescrip!
generic products and OTC store brand productsofifidir cost savings to third party payers and/orstoners that will create pricing pressurt
our products. Also, these competitors may have lestantial sales volume advantage over our prodwbish may result in our costs
manufacturing being higher than our competit@mssts. If our products are unable to capture anchtaia market share, we or our licens
may not achieve significant product revenues andinancial condition and results of operations| Wwé materially adversely affected.

We believe potential competitors may be developp@id abuse deterrent technologies and produatsh $otential competitc
include, but may not be limited to, Pain Therapejtin collaboration with Pfizer, Purdue Pharmalaitic Pharmaceuticals, Egalet
KemPharm and Collegium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Tloesepanies appear to be focusing their developmiott® on ER Opioid Produc
except for Atlantic Pharmaceuticals, while the migjoof our Aversion Technology opioid analgesioguct candidates under developmen
IR Opioid Products. Pfizer, our partner in devetgpand commercializing Aversion Technology immesha&iease opioid products, is a
developing and/or marketing ER Opioid Products,epthnalgesic products and nanalgesic products, all of which will compete
development and commercialization resources withpoaducts, which may delay development or advgrisebact the sales of our products.

Our Impede Technology products containing PSE edlhpete in the highly competitive market for cadthus and allergy produs
generally available to the consumer without a pipion. Some of our competitors will have multiglensumer product offerings both wit
and outside the cold, allergy and sinus categooviging them with substantial leverage in dealinghwa highly consolidated pharme
distribution network. The competing products mayehwell established brand names and may be supgpoyteational or regional advertisil
Nexafed will compete directly with Johnson & Johm's Sudafed®brand as well as generic formulations manufactimge&errigo Compar
and others.

We are concentrating a substantial majority of effiorts and resources on developing product camesdatilizing our Aversion ar
Impede Technologies. The commercial success ofusteditilizing such technologies will depend, irgkapart, on the intensity of competiti
FDA approved product labeling for our products canegl to competitive products, and the relativerigrand sequence for commercial lat
of new products by other companies developing, etary, selling and distributing products that cotepwith the products utilizing o
Aversion and Impede Technologies. Alternative tetbgies and nompioid products are being developed to improveeplace the use
opioid analgesics. In the event that such alteraatto opioid analgesics are widely adopted, themtarket for products utilizing our Avers
and Impede Technologies may be substantially dsecethhus reducing our ability to generate futurdifs.
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Key personnel are critical to our business and @uccess depends on our ability to retain them.

We are dependent on our management and sciergdio,tincluding Robert Jones, our President andf@&hecutive Officer, an
Albert W. Brzeczko, Ph.D., our Vice President ofchieical Affairs. We may not be able to attract aathin personnel on acceptable te
given the competition for such personnel amongegioology, pharmaceutical and healthcare companiggersities and noprofit researc
institutions. While we have employment agreemeritl eertain employees, all of our employees ar@iitemployees who may terminate tr
employment at any time. We do not have key perdanearance on any of our officers or employeese Tdss of any of our key personnel
the inability to attract and retain such personmely significantly delay or prevent the achievenwfmur product and technology developn
and business objectives and could materially agWeedfect our business, financial condition ansutes of operations.

Our products are subject in regulation by the U.Brug Enforcement Administration, or DEA, and suchegulation may affect th
development and sale of our products

The DEA regulates certain finished drug products active pharmaceutical ingredients, includingaerbpioid active pharmaceuti
ingredients and pseudoephedrine HCI that are awedain our products. Consequently, their manufacttgsearch, shipment, storage, sale
use are subject to a high degree of regulatiorthEtmore, the amount of active ingredients we daaio for our clinical trials is limited by tl
DEA and our quota may not be sufficient to complgieical trials. There is a risk that DEA regutats may interfere with the supply of
products used in our clinical trials.

In addition, we and our contract manufacturers @argject to ongoing DEA regulatory obligations, udihg, among other thing
annual registration renewal, security, recordkegptheft and loss reporting, periodic inspectiord amnual quota allotments for the |
material for commercial production of our produciibe DEA, and some states, conduct periodic ingpesiof registered establishments
handle controlled substances. Facilities that condesearch, manufacture, store, distribute, imporéxport controlled substances mus
registered to perform these activities and havestwirity, control and inventory mechanisms regllvg the DEA to prevent drug loss
diversion. Failure to maintain compliance, part&ly noncompliance resulting in loss or diversion, can ltesuregulatory action that cot
have a material adverse effect on our businessltsesf operations, financial condition and progpe&he DEA may seek civil penalties, rel
to renew necessary registrations, or initiate pedoegs to revoke those registrations. In certaiouonstances, violations could lead to crim
proceedings.

Individual states also have controlled substanaes.l Though state controlled substances laws ofiieror federal law, because -
states are separate jurisdictions, they may segparsthedule drugs, as well. While some statesnaatioally schedule a drug when the C
does so, in other states there has to be a rulegaki a legislative action. State scheduling makydeommercial sale of any control
substance drug product for which we obtain FDA apak and adverse scheduling could have a matatisrae effect on the attractivenes
such product. We or our licensees must also olsrarate state registrations in order to be abtebtain, handle, and distribute contro
substances for clinical trials or commercial salg] failure to meet applicable regulatory requireteeould lead to enforcement and sanc
from the states in addition to those from the DEAtherwise arising under federal law.

Prior ownership changes limit our ability to use otax net operating loss carryforwards.

Significant equity restructuring often results im Baternal Revenue Section 382 ownership changelithéds the future use of N
Operating Loss, or NOL, carryforwards and otheratixbutes. We have determined that an ownerdigmge (as defined by Section 382 of
Internal Revenue Code) did occur as a result dfuetsiring that occurred in 2004. Neither the antoofnour NOL carryforwards nor tl
amount of limitation of such carryforwards claim@dus have been audited or otherwise validatedhéyrtternal Revenue Service, which cc
challenge the amount we have calculated. The rettog and measurement of our tax benefit includsimates and judgment by
management, which includes subjectivity. Changesstimates may create volatility in our tax ratduture periods based on new informa
about particular tax positions that may cause mamagt to change its estimates.
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Risks Relating to Our Common Stock
Our quarterly results of operations will fluctuategnd these fluctuations could cause our stock prioedecline.

Our quarterly and annual operating results ardylit@fluctuate in the future. These fluctuatiomaild cause our stock price to decl
The nature of our business involves variable factsuch as the timing of launch and market acceptarf our products, including thc
licensed to Pfizer, and the timing of the reseadavelopment and regulatory submissions of our yetadin development that could cause
operating results to fluctuate. The forecastinghef timing and amount of sales of our productsificdit due to market uncertainty and
uncertainty inherent in seeking FDA and other neagsapprovals for our product candidates. As altieie some future quarters or years
clinical, financial or operating results may notehéhe expectations of securities analysts andstove which could result in a decline in
price of our stock.

Volatility in stock prices of other companies magrdribute to volatility in our stock price.

The market price of our common stock, like the meargrice for securities of pharmaceutical and hibt®logy companies,
historically been highly volatile. The stock marketm time to time experiences significant priced arolume fluctuations unrelated to
operating performance of particular companies. dfactsuch as fluctuations in our operating resudligjre sales of our common stc
announcements of the timing and amount of prodaless of our products, announcements of technabgmovations or new therapet
products by us or our competitors, announcemengtrdéng collaborative agreements, laboratory aricdil trial results, government regulati
FDA determinations on the approval of a productdédate NDA submission, developments in patent bewoproprietary rights, public conci
as to the safety of drugs developed by us or otlebemges in reimbursement policies, comments rhgdecurities analysts and general m¢
conditions may have a substantial effect on thekatgsrice of our common stock. In the past, follogvperiods of volatility in the market pr
of a companys securities, securities class action litigatiod ahareholder derivative litigation has often bestituted. A securities class act
suit or shareholder derivative suit against us@oesult in substantial costs, potential liabiitend the diversion of managemsrdttention ar
resources and result in a material adverse affecun financial condition and results of operatioReference is made to the discussion L
“Item 3, Legal Proceedings — Securities Class Actod Derivative Litigationfor a discussion of a pending securities clasoadttigatior
filed against us in the United States District Gdar the Northern District of lllinois, Eastern Wsion, and three shareholder derivative
filed in the Circuit Court of Cook County, lllingi€hancery Division.

Our stock price has been volatile and there may betan active, liquid trading market for our commatock.

Our stock price has experienced significant prind &olume fluctuations and may continue to expegexolatility in the future
Factors that may have a material impact on theefoour common stock, in addition to the otheuéssdescribed herein, include the lat
and commercial success of Oxecta and Nexafed,tsesubr delays in our prelinical and clinical studies, any delays in, oituee to receiv
FDA approval of our product candidates, the sucoéssir license agreement with Pfizer, announcemehtechnological innovations or n
commercial products by us or others, developmentmtents and other proprietary rights by us oemthfuture sales of our common stocl
existing stockholders, regulatory developmentshamges in regulatory guidance, the departure obffigers, directors or key employees,
period-toperiod fluctuations in our financial results. Alsmu may not be able to sell your shares at therhasket price if trading in our sto
is not active or if the volume is low. There is assurance that an active trading market for ournsomstock will be maintained on 1
NASDAQ Capital Market

The National Association of Securities Dealers,,loc NASD, and the Securities and Exchange Coniamis®r SEC, have adopi
rules relating to the listing of publicly tradedsk. If we were unable to continue to comply witltls rules, we could be delisted from trac
on the NASDAQ Capital Market and thereafter tradmgur common stock, if any, would be conductedtigh the Over-th&ounter Bulletil
Board of the NASD. As a consequence of such detjstin investor would likely find it more difficuld dispose of, or to obtain quotations ¢
the price of, our common stock. Delisting of oumeoon stock from the NASDAQ Capital Market couldaatesult in lower prices per share
our common stock than would otherwise prevail.
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We do not have a history of paying dividends on @@mmon stock.

Historically we have not declared and paid any ddisidends on our common stock. We intend to retdirof our earnings for tt
foreseeable future to finance the operation anémesipn of our business. As a result, you may oetgive a return on your investment in
common stock if the market price of our common ksiocreases.

GCE Holdings LLC can control all matters requiringpproval by shareholders.

GCE Holdings LLC beneficially owns approximately.5% of our outstanding common stock as of DeceriheP011 (calculated
accordance with Rule 138promulgated under the Securities Exchange Ad98#, as amended). As a result, GCE Holdings LhGjiew o
its ownership percentage of our common stock, lvéliable to control all matters requiring approwablor shareholders, including the apprt
or rejection of mergers, sales or licenses of mfiubstantially all of our assets, or other busiresmbination transactions. The interests of
Holdings LLC may not always coincide with the irsts of our other shareholders and as such we akayaction in advance of its interest
the detriment of our other shareholders. Accordingbu may not be able to influence any action aketor consider taking, even if it require
shareholder vote.

We are currently a “Controlled Companyivithin the meaning of the NASDAQ Capital Market Lting Requirements and, as a result,
exempt from certain corporate governance requirengn

Because GCE Holdings LLC controls more than 50%hefvoting power of our common stock, we are culyeconsidered to be
“controlled company'for purposes of a NASDAQ Capital Market listing uégments. As such, we are permitted, and haveegleto opt ot
of the NASDAQ Capital Market listing requirementsat would otherwise require our board of directiardhave a majority of independ
directors, our board nominations to be selectedecommended for the boasdselection either by a nominating committee cosgatientirel
of independent directors or by a majority of indegent directors, and our compensation committeleet@aomprised entirely of independ
directors. Accordingly, you may not have the sammqetions afforded to stockholders of companied dre subject to all of the NASD/
Capital Market corporate governance requirements.

Any future sale of a substantial number of sharesciuded in our current registration statement coultepress the trading price of o
stock, lower our value and make it more difficulbif us to raise capital.

In accordance with the terms of the Securities Ifase Agreement dated August 20, 2007 between utharidvestors named ther¢
we filed a registration statement with and declagéfdctive by the SEC, to register the shares otliin our Units issued pursuant to
Securities Purchase Agreement, including sharesriyidg warrants included in the Units. In additigrursuant to the exercise of previol
granted piggyback registration rights, each of G@&ldings, LLC, Galen Partners lll, L.P., Galen Rars International Ill, L.P., Gal
Employee Fund lll, L.P., Care Capital Investmemtd P, Care Capital Offshore Investments II, LP &stex Woodlands Health Ventures
L.P. have exercised their piggyback registratigmts to include an aggregate of 26,584,016 sharsadh registration statement. As a re
34,243,273 shares (representing approximately 65%up shares outstanding on a fully-diluted basigmeluding all derivative securitie
whether or not currently exercisable) are availdbteresale by selling stockholders under the tegfion statement. If some or all of the sh
included in such registration statement are soldunyaffiliates and others it may have the effdai@pressing the trading price of our comi
stock. In addition, such sales could lower our gadud make it more difficult for us to raise capitaeeded in the future.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

The Company has received no written comments reéggapkriodic or current reports from the staff loé ISEC that were issued 180
days or more preceding the end of its 2011 fiseak yhat remain unresolved.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
We lease from an unaffiliated Lessor, approximaieB00 square feet of administrative office spacg@l® N. North Court, Suite 1Z
Palatine, lllinois 60067. The lease agreement hésrra expiring March 31, 2013. The lease agreempentides for rent, property tax

common area maintenance, and janitorial servicesnoannualized basis of approximately $29,060year. We utilize this lease space for
administrative, marketing and business developrierdtions.
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We conduct research, development, laboratory, deweént scale and NDA submission batch scale matwifiag and other activiti¢
relating to developing product candidates usingréiom and Impede Technologies at our facility ledant 16235 State Road 17, Cul
Indiana. At this location, our whollgwned subsidiary Acura Pharmaceutical Technologdies, owns a 25,000 square foot facility with Q
square feet of warehouse, 8,000 square feet of faetowing space, 4,000 square feet of researcldamelopment labs and 6,000 square fe
administrative and storage space. The facilitpéated on 28 acres of land.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Securities Class Action and Derivative Litigation

A lawsuit captionedBang v. Acura Pharmaceuticals, et,akas filed on September 10, 2010 in the UnitedeSt®istrict Court fc
the Northern District of lllinois, Eastern DivisiofCase 1:10-c®5757) against us and certain of our current amthéo officers seekir
unspecified damages on behalf of a putative clapsisons who purchased our common stock (the ‘tAdig Securities”between February 2
2006 and April 22, 2010 (the “Plaintiff Class™he complaint alleged that certain Company officeesle false or misleading statement:
failed to disclose material facts in order to makatements not misleading, relating to our Acufowith Niacin Tablet product candida
resulting in violations of Section 10(b) of the 8eties Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange AcR)le 10b5 under the Exchange Act ¢
Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. The complaimthier alleges that such false or misleading stat¢sner omissions had the effect
artificially inflating the price of our common stacOn March 14, 2011, an amended complaint wagl fite this lawsuit. The amenc
complaint asserts the same claims as the initiaptaint based upon the same alleged false or ndisigastatements, and has added three ¢
current directors as defendants. The Court hasgaththe caption of this caseltore Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Securities Litiga . We
filed a motion to dismiss this case on May 13, 2011

On October 31, 2011, we entered into a Stipulatibsettlement (“Stipulation”providing for the release of all claims against
Company and its named directors and officers (feféndants”)n this case, for a payment of $1.5 million. Then@any and the individu
defendants continue to deny all charges of wronggloir liability against them relating to this actiand the Stipulation does not contail
constitute any admission or finding of wrongful doit, acts or omissions on the part of any Defendan December 16, 2011, our insure
carrier paid the $1.5 million settlement amound iah escrow account to fund the settlement.

In consideration of the payment of the settlemembant, the Plaintiff Class has agreed, upon fipplraval by the court, to dismiss
class action withprejudice and release all known and unknown claamsing out of or relating to, or in connection hvithe purchase
acquisition of the Affected Securities during thass period which have been or could have beemtaddsy the members of the Plaintiff Cl
On February 16, 2012, the court entered final aygdrof the settlement reflected in the Stipulation.

On October 25, 2010, Kiley Hill, a purported stockter of the Company filed a shareholder derivatiegon in the Circuit CoL
of Cook County, lllinois, Chancery Division captexhHill v. Acura Pharmaceuticalset al. (Case No. 2010-C#6380), against our direct
and certain of our executive officers, generalkating to the same events that are the subjedieotlass action litigation described above.
complaint purports to be brought on our behalf aathes us as a nominal defendant. The complaints seespecified damages from
individual defendants for breaches of fiduciary yduabuse of control, gross mismanagement, contobuand indemnification, waste
corporate assets and unjust enrichment for actimesirring from at least February 21, 2006 througirilA22, 2010. Substantively simi
complaints captionetiagan v. Acura Pharmaceuticait al. (Case No. 2010-CH-46621) aNéwell v. Reddiclet al (Case No. 2010-CH-
46873) were filed in the Circuit Court of Cook Cawnllinois, Chancery Division, by other purportetbckholders of the Company on Octc
27, 2010 and October 28, 2010, respectively. Vel fil motion to dismiss these shareholder derivatitiens on November 23, 2011.
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Reglan® /Metoclopramide Litigation

Halsey Drug Company, as predecessor to us, hasrmead along with humerous other companies asendait in cases filed

three separate state coordinated litigations pendim Pennsylvania, New Jersey and California, retpaly captioned In n
Reglan®/Metoclopramide Mass Tort Litigation, Phiédghia County Court of Common Pleas, January T@0h0, No. 01997; In re: Reglan
Litigation, Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Diwis, Atlantic County, Case No. 289, Master Dockeb. NATL-L-3865-10; ant
Reglan®Metoclopramide Cases, Superior Court of Califorr8an Francisco County, Judicial Council Coordimatleroceeding No. 463
Superior Court No.: CJC-1004631. In this product liability litigation againnumerous pharmaceutical product manufacturetsiestributors
including us, plaintiffs claim injuries from theiise of the Reglan brand of metoclopramide and gensgtoclopramide. In the Pennsylve
state court mass tort proceeding, over 200 lawdaie been filed against us and Halsey Drug Compéleging that plaintiffs develop
neurological disorders as a result of their use¢hef Reglan brand and/or generic metoclopramidaintiffs have filed approximately 1
lawsuits against us, but have served less thamdi@idual lawsuits upon us in the New Jersey actlarnthe California action, we were |
served with any complaints until the Spring of 2@iHen a single complaint including over 400 pldfativas served. To date, Acura has
been served with any metoclopramide lawsuits iisglictions other than Philadelphia, New Jersey@alifornia state courts.

In the lawsuits filed to date, plaintiffs have monhfirmed they ingested any of the generic metaelmide manufactured by us. '
discontinued manufacture and distribution of genenietoclopramide more than 15 years ago. In anjitive believe the June 23, 2
decision by the U.S. Supreme CourfhIVA v. Mensing (“Mensinglecision”)holding that state tort law failure to warn claiagainst gener
drug companies are pre-empted by the 1984 Hatakman Act Amendments and federal drug regulatimiisassist us in favorably resolvi
these cases. We have consistently maintained sigguothat these claims are without merit andndt& vigorously defend these actions.

In Philadelphia, New Jersey and California, Gen®&efendants, including Acura, have filed dispositimotions based on 1
Mensingdecision. The New Jersey and California courtsexygected to issue their rulings in the 1st quarfe2012. On November 18, 20
the Philadelphia trial court denied Generic Defertsladispositive motion. In December 2011, the Generddeddants appealed this ruli
which the trial court refused to modify on recorsation. Nonetheless, the trial court has appraegtification of the federal preemption iss
based on th&lensingdecision for immediate appeal to the Pennsylvanipe8or Court. A decision on this appeal shoulddseied later th
year which could result in dismissal of all of tRéiladelphia cases against Generic Defendantugththere can be no assurance in
regard.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISLCOSURE

Not Applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market and Market Prices of Common Stot

Set forth below for the periods indicated are tighland low sales prices for trading in our comnstock on the NASDAQ Capil
Market as reported by the NASDAQ Capital Market.

Period Sale Price:
High Low

2010 Fiscal Yea

First Quartel 6.0¢ 4.3z

Second Quarte 9.13 2.5C

Third Quartel 2.9t 2.2t

Fourth Quarte 3.9¢ 2.2C
2011 Fiscal Yea

First Quartel 3.62 2.91

Second Quarte 6.8( 3.1¢€

Third Quartel 4.1C 2.2¢

Fourth Quarte 5.4¢ 2.97

2012 Fiscal Yea
First Quarter (through January 31, 20 4.2z 3.17

Holders

There were approximately 600 holders of record wf@mmon stock on February 29, 2012. This numharever, does not refle
the ultimate number of beneficial holders of oumoaon stock.

Dividend Policy

The payment of cash dividends is subject to thereimn of our Board of Directors and is dependgydn many factors, including ¢
earnings, our capital needs and our general fishoondition. Historically we have not paid any ltavidends.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Reference is made to the Company’s Proxy Statefoeits 2012 Annual Meeting of Shareholders undier¢aption Compensation
Executive Officers and DirectorsRestricted Stock Unit Award Plan; and Securitieghduzed for Issuance under Equity Compens:i
Plans”.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presebédow for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2RQ09, 2008 and 2007 :
derived from our audited Consolidated Financiatetents. The Consolidated Financial Statement$ Becember 31, 2011 and 2010 anc
each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2011, and the seffmteon, are included elsewhere in this Repbwt. Selecte
financial information presented for our 2008 an@2@perations and for our 2009, 2008 and 2007 belaheets are derived from our auc
Consolidated Financial Statements not presentédsrReport.
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The information set forth below is qualified by esfnce to, and should be read in conjunction wtke, Consolidated Financ
Statements and related notes thereto included kkyewin this Report and "ltem 7. Management's Bisicn and Analysis of Financ
Condition and Results of Operations”. All shareadgives effect to the 1 for 10 reverse stock spiglemented December 5, 2007.

OPERATING DATA (in thousands) except per sh

data 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Revenue! $ 20,46¢ $ 3,311 $ 383 % 44,437 $ 6,40¢
Operating expense

Research and developmd® 4,037 7,177 5,67¢ 14,32: 7,16¢

Marketing, general and administrati(® 5,89t 8,85¢ 11,66: 9,13 4,141
Interest expens — — — — (1,207
Interest incomt 32 42 147 78C 26€
Amortization of debt discount & deferred privatébte

offering costs — — — — (2,700
(Loss) gain on fair value change of conversionuiesg — — — — (3,489
(Loss) gain on fair value change of common stock

warrants — — — — (1,905
Other (expense) incon (34) (14) 3 3 19
(Loss) income before income t 10,53: (12,69¢) (13,35¢) 21,75¢ (13,919
Income tax expense (benel 147 11 2,47¢ 7,28t (9,600
Net (loss) income applicable to common stockhol: $ 10,38 $ (12,707 $ (15,83%) $ 14,47: $ (4,319
(Loss) earnings per share: Ba $ 02z $ 0.27) $ (0.35) ¢ 03z % (0.11)
(Loss) earnings per share: Dilui $ 02z $ 0.29) $ (0.35 $ 0.2¢ $ (0.1))
Weighted average shares used in computing netregs

(loss) per share: Bas 47,49¢ 47,02¢ 45,93: 45,67¢ 39,157
Weighted average shares used in computing netregs

(loss) per share: Dilute 48,00 47,02¢ 45,93: 49,41¢ 39,157

(1) Includes stock-based compensation expensepsbrimately $500, $1,700, $1,900, $600 and $40¢éars 2011, 2010, 2009, 2008 and
2007, respectively.
(2) Includes stockased compensation expense of approximately $1$0)000, $7,300, $3,300 and $500 for years 20110,28009, 2008 ar
2007, respectively.

BALANCE SHEET DATA®)

(in thousands 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Working capital $ 35,59¢ $ 23,28¢ $ 28,75( $ 35,99 $ 22,30¢
Total asset 37,17: 25,49:; 31,917 42,96 45,62¢
Total liabilities 53C 1,157 2,007 5,891 26,90¢
Accumulated defici (325,54)) (335,929 (323,22) (307,38f) (321,86()
Stockholders' equit $ 36,64: $ 24,34, $ 29,91(C $ 37,06¢ $ 18,72(

(3) Reflects $30 million received from Pfizer in &enber, 2007.
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis should be read inucatipn with our financial statements and accompanpotes included elsewhere
this Report. Operating results are not necessardicative of results that may occur in the futperiods. Certain statements in this Re
under this Item 7, Item 1, "Business”, Item 1A, sSRiFactors” and elsewhere in this Report constititevard{ooking statements” within tl
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation RefoAnt of 1995. Such forwartboking statements involve known and unknown r
uncertainties and other factors which may causeactural results, performance or achievements arsing results, to be materially differ
from any future results, performance, or achievemerpressed or implied by such forwdodking statements. See page 1 of this Report
description of the most significant of such factors
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Company Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagetlei research, development and commercializatfopraducts intended
address medication abuse and misuse, utilizingpooprietary Aversion and Impede technologies. Owdpcts and product candidates
based on widely-used commercial products and daltatthe safety and efficacy of the active phareugical ingredients.

Our lead product, Oxecta (oxycodone HCI, USP) Tiah@dl, or Oxecta (formerly Acurox), was approved farketing by the Unite
States Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, oneldi7, 2011. Oxecta is an immediadéease oxycodone hydrochloride, or HCI, te
utilizing our proprietary Aversion Technology. Oxaaepresents the first immediatdease oxycodone product approved by the FDA
applies our Aversion technology. Aversion is a migtof inactive ingredients incorporated into phaceutical tablets and capsules design
address some common methods of product tamperirgct® will be manufactured and commercialized biggPfunder our October 20
license agreement with a subsidiary of Pfizer aiad wwiade commercially available by Pfizer on Jan@&y2012. We are eligible to rece
tiered royalties ranging from 5% to 25% on net salé Oxecta. The royalties commence February 2320k first anniversary of the fii
commercial sale of Oxecta,. The trademark Oxecta@®ined by Pfizer or its affiliate.

In addition to Oxecta, we have licensed to Pfiber tights to develop, manufacture and commercidlizee other immediateeleas
opioid products utilizing our Aversion Technologythe United States, Canada and Mexico, including:

. hydrocodone bitartrate / acetaminophen tab
. oxycodone HCI / acetaminophen tablets;
. an undisclosed opioid analgesic tablet prod

We believe our Aversion Technology can also be tgettvelop and commercialize unique formulatiohsam-opioid pharmaceutic
products associated with abuse and intentional seisQur initial nompioid product candidate is a stimulant product tfee treatment «
attention deficit disorder.

We are also developing Nexafed, an over-the-couatedd TC, immediateelease pseudoephedrine HCI tablet, utilizing coppetan
Impede Technology. Pseudoephedrine HCI, or PSB,visdely-used nasal decongestant available in nmmyprescription and prescripti
cold, sinus and allergy products, including Johng€odohnson’s Sudafed®ur Impede Technology is a proprietary mixture iddtive
ingredients designed to impede the extraction && R8m tablets for producing methamphetamine orugisng the direct conversion of PSE
tablets into methamphetamine.

Company’s Present Financial Condition

At December 31, 2011, we had cash and cash eqnotgadé $35.7 million compared to $24.0 million afsh and cash equivalent:
December 31, 2010. We had working capital of $3Bilon at December 31, 2011 compared to workinpitzd of $23.3 million at Decemh
31, 2010. We had an accumulated deficit of appreséfy $325.5 million and $335.9 million at DecemiBdr, 2011 and December 31, 2(
respectively. We had income from operations of apjpmately $10.5 million and net income of $10.4lmil for the year ended December
2011, compared to a loss from operations of $12lllbmand a net loss of $12.7 million for the yearded December 21, 2010. As of Febr
15, 2012 we had cash and cash equivalents of ajppaitedy $34.2 million.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we rezednievenues of $0.5 million derived from the ammed portion of the $30
million upfront cash payment received from PfizeKing Pharmaceuticals subsidiary in December 280d@,a $20.0 million milestone fee p
by Pfizer under the Pfizer Agreement relating toAFBpproval of the NDA for Oxecta. During the yearded December 31, 2010,
recognized revenues of $3.3 million derived frora #1.1 million amortized portion of the $30.0 nailli upfront cash payment received fi
King in December 2007 and $2.2 million for reimtemeent of research and development expenses fort®©Xablets. We have yet to gene
any product sales or royalty revenues from prodatts. To fund our continued operations, we exfmcely on our current cash resour
additional payments that may be made under Pfizgredment and under future license agreements witar ggharmaceutical compe
partners, of which there can be no assurance airobg, and revenues, if any, from our commercaian of our Nexafed Tablets. Our ¢
requirements for operating activities may increiaisthe future as we continue to conduct plieical studies and clinical trials for our prod
candidates, maintain, defend, if necessary andrekfize scope of our intellectual property, hireiididal personnel, contract with third pe
contract manufacturers for the commercial supplgwfNexafed Tablets, commercialize our Nexafed&tabor invest in other areas.
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Our losses have resulted principally from costauired in connection with research and developmetiviies, salaries and ott
personnel-related costs and general corporate sgpeResearch and development activities includes ajd preelinical studies, clinical trial
and clinical trial product supplies associated vatir product candidates. Salaries and other peetgoatated costs include non-cash, stock-
based compensation associated with stock opticthsesstricted stock units granted to employees amdemployee directors.

Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decembgr2011 and 201

December 3:
2011 2010 Change
$00C's $00C's Percen
Revenues
Program fee revent 46€ 1,08¢ (622 (57)
Collaboration fee revent — 2,23: (2,237%) (100)
Milestone revenu 20,00( — 20,00( —
Total revenue 20,46¢ 3,311 17,15¢ 51¢
Operating expenst
Research and developmt 4,03 7,17 (3,140 (44)
Marketing, general and administrati 5,89t 8,85¢ (2,969 33
Total operating expens: 9,93 16,03t (6,107%) (38)
Income (loss) from operatiol 10,53« (12,724  23,25¢ 182
Other income (expens
Interest incom: 32 12 20 167
Other expens (39 19 (20 (142
Total other income (expens 2 28 (30 (207)
Income (loss) before income t 10,53:  (12,69¢) 23,22¢ 182
Income tax expens 147 11 13€ 1,23¢
Net income (loss 10,38t (12,707 23,09: 182

Revenue

In December 2007, Pfizer paid us a $30.0 milliofraqt fee in connection with the closing of theZefi Agreement. Program i
revenue recognized during 2011 from amortizing tpsont fee was $0.5 million compared to $1.1 imillin 2010. We have assigned an e
portion of the program fee revenue to each of thpemduct candidates identified under the Pfizer eégnent. We have completed
development activities on all 3 product candidately amortized the portion of the upfront fee fiavo product candidates in 2008, and f
amortized the portion of the upfront fee for thedtproduct candidate in 2011. We had milestonemere of $20.0 million and $0 in 2011 i
2010, respectively.

In 2011 we incurred no development or regulatorgesses relating to the licensed products pursuattie Pfizer Agreement, a

therefore recognized no collaboration revenue €mhsyear. We do not expect collaboration revenamfPfizer in 2012. The Company |
collaboration revenue of $2.2 million for 2010.
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Operating Expenses

Research and development expense during 2011 ak@2€re primarily for product candidates utiliziogr Aversion and Impe:
Technologies, including costs of preclinical stgdielinical trials, clinical supplies and relatemrfiulation and design costs, salaries and
personnel related expenses, and facility costdudied in the 2011 and 2010 results are non-castk-d@sed compensation charges of
million and $1.7 million, respectively, associatadith the grant of stock options and restricted ktomits. Excluding the stochkase:
compensation expense, in 2011 there was a $2.@omillecrease in development expenses compared1® @Omarily attributable to
reduction in development activities for our Aversibechnology product candidates.

Marketing expenses during 2011 and 2010 considtethdket research studies on our Aversion and Irepesthnologies. Our gene
and administrative expenses primarily consistel@é@dl, audit and other professional fees, corpdreerance, and payroll. Included in the 2
and 2010 results are non-cash stbeked compensation charges of $1.9 million and &dllion, respectively, associated with the graf
stock options and restricted stock units. Excluding stockbased compensation expense, in 2011 there wascegage of $0.2 million
marketing, general and administrative expenses aoaapto 2010.

Other Income (Expense)

During 2011 and 2010, we had no debt and cash edsceeceived pursuant to the Pfizer Agreement weested in U.S. Treast
Bills and money market funds in accordance with itheestment policy approved by our Board of Direstaesulting in minimal intere
income in 2011 and 2010 due to the prevailing laniable, market rates of interest.

Net Income (Loss)

In 2011, the Company was able to utilize existieg operating loss carryforwards to offset the nigjaf its 2011 federal and sti
income taxes. The income tax expense is comprisatieral alternative minimum taxes as well asestatome taxes totaling $0.1 million. 1
Company has maintained a full valuation allowannéts deferred tax asset due to the uncertaintiutofre utilization of the Compang’ne
operating losses. The net loss of $12.7 milliond040 includes no federal or state income tax bepsfvisions due to uncertainty of th
future utilization. A state tax expense was recdre the Company’s subsidiary operations appoeibto one state jurisdiction.
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Results of Operations for the Years Ended Decem®®r2010 and 200

December 3:
2010 2009 Change
$00C's $00C's Percen
Revenue:
Program fee revent 1,08¢ 3,071 (1,989 (65)
Collaboration fee revent 2,22: 75¢ 1,46¢ 19z
Total revenue 3,311 3,83t (5249) (14)
Operating expenst
Research and developmt 7,171 5,67: 1,504 27
Marketing, general and administrati 8,85¢ 11,66: (2,809 (24)
Total operating expens: 16,03t 17,33t (2,300 (8
Loss from operation (12,724 (13,500 (77€) (6)
Other income (expens
Interest incomi 42 147 (105) (72)
Other expens (14) 3 11 367
Total other incomi 28 144 (11€¢) (82)
Loss before income te (12,696  (13,35¢) (660C) (5)
Income tax expens 11 2,47¢ (2,46%) (200)
Net loss (12,707 (15,839 (3,12¢) (20

Revenue

In December 2007, Pfizer paid us a $30.0 milliofraqt fee in connection with the closing of theZefi Agreement. Program i
revenue recognized during 2010 from amortizing tpfont fee was $1.1 million compared to $3.0 imillin 2009. We have assigned an e
portion of the program fee revenue to each of thpemuct candidates identified under the Pfizer eégnent. We have completed
development activities on 2 of the 3 product caattid, fully amortized the portion of the upfront filer two product candidates in 2008.
had no milestone revenue in 2010 or 2009.

Collaboration revenue recognized in 2010 was $4lom for reimbursement, pursuant to the Pfizerrdgment, of our developmi
and regulatory expenses incurred during 2010 rgjat the licensed products. We invoice Pfizerriears on a calendar quarter basis fol
reimbursable development and regulatory expensderuthe Pfizer Agreement. We expect the amounttiamidg of collaboration revenue
fluctuate in relation to the amount and timing loé inderlying research and development expensesCdmpany had collaboration revenu
$0.8 million for 2009.

Operating Expenses

Research and development expense during 2010 &t #€re primarily for product candidates utiliziogr Aversion and Impe:
Technologies, including costs of preclinical stgdielinical trials, clinical supplies and relatarhulation and design costs, salaries and
personnel related expenses, and facility costdudied in the 2010 and 2009 results are non-castk-d@sed compensation charges of
million and $1.9 million, respectively, associatedith the grant of stock options and restricted ktomits. Excluding the stochase:
compensation expense, in 2010 there was a $1.7omilhcrease in development expenses compared @ P@imarily attributable
development activities for our Aversion Technolggyduct candidate, an extended release opioid ptathAndidate, and our Nexafed ta
product.
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Marketing expenses during 2010 and 2009 considtethdket research studies on our Aversion and Irepesthnologies. Our gene
and administrative expenses primarily consistel@@dl, audit and other professional fees, corpdreerance, and payroll. Included in the 2
and 2009 results are non-cash stbeked compensation charges of $5.1 million and &Wli&n, respectively, associated with the graf
stock options and restricted stock units. Excluding stockbased compensation expense, in 2010 there wasraadecof $0.6 million |
marketing, general and administrative expenses aoaapto 2009.

Other Income (Expense)

During 2010 and 2009, we had no debt and cash edsceeceived pursuant to the Pfizer Agreement weested in U.S. Treast
Bills and money market funds in accordance with itheestment policy approved by our Board of Direstaesulting in minimal intere
income in 2010 and $0.1 million in 2009 due to pinevailing low variable, market rates of interest.

Net Loss

The net loss of $12.7 million for 2010 includes federal or state income tax benefit provisions tu@incertainty of their futu
utilization. A state tax provision was recorded tiee Company’s subsidiary operations apportioneshi state jurisdiction. The Compasyie
loss of $15.8 million for 2009 included income &xpense of $2.5 million recorded when we adjusteddeferred income tax asset valuz
reserve. We determined it was more likely thanthat the Company’s net operating loss carryforwandg not be utilized.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2011, we had cash and cash eqofgsabé $35.7 million compared to $24.0 million iash and cash equivalent:
December 31, 2010. We had working capital of $36ilion at December 31, 2011 compared to $23.3iomllat December 31, 2010. 1
increases in our 2011 cash position and workingtalapf $11.6 million and $12.3 million, respectiyeand the cash flows provided
operating activities of $12.3 million for the yeamded December 31, 2011, are primarily due to a0$2lion milestone fee paid by Pfizer
us pursuant to the Pfizer Agreement relating toréueipt of FDA approval of the NDA for Oxecta. Qovesting activities in 2011 were I
than $0.2 million in capital expenditures, and @1@ our investing activities were less than $0.lioni in capital expenditures.

At February 15, 2012, we had cash and cash equigaté approximately $34.2 million. We estimatettiach cash reserves will
sufficient to fund the development of Aversion Teclogy and Impede Technology product candidated,ralated operating expenses at |
through the next 12 months.

Pending our receipt of milestone payments and tiegalfrom Pfizer related to product candidates tperl under the Pfiz
Agreement, other milestone and royalty paymentseursimilar license agreements anticipated to beotie#tgd and executed with otl
pharmaceutical company partners, and revenues thentcommercialization of our Nexafed tablets, ofichhno assurance can be given,
must rely on our current cash reserves, includimigrést income from the investment of our cashrvese to fund the development of
Aversion Technology, Impede Technology and relatdthinistrative and operating expenses. Our futoreces of revenue, if any, will
derived from milestone payments and royalties unberPfizer Agreement and under similar licenseagrents with other pharmaceut
company partners, and from the commercializatioourfNexafed tablets, for which there can be norasge.

The amount and timing of our future cash requireserill depend on regulatory and market acceptarficair product candidates ¢
the resources we devote to the development and eocmatization of our product candidates.
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The following table presents our expected cash paysnon contractual obligations outstanding asexfdnber 31, 2011:

Payments due by period (in thousar

More thar
Less thai 1-3 3-5
Total 1 year years years 5 years

Operating lease $ 31 % 25 % 6 $ — 3 —
Marketing studie: 41 41 — — —
Clinical studies 13z 13z — — —
Employment agreemen 60z 60z — — —
Total $ 807 $ 801 $ 6 $ — $ —

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not engage in transactions or arrangemetitsunconsolidated or other special purpose entities
Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our financial statements in edaoce with United States generally accepted adoauprinciples requires us
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegbamounts of assets, liabilities, revenues aqereses in our financial statements
accompanying notes. We evaluate our estimates oongoing basis, including those estimates relate¢dntract agreements, rese:
collaborations and investments. We base our estBnat historical experience and various other agans that we believe to be reason
under the circumstances, the results of which ftrenbasis for making judgments about the carryi@iges of assets and liabilities that are
readily apparent from other sources. Actual resuiéy differ from these estimates under differerstuagptions or conditions. The followi
items in our financial statements require signiftcastimates and judgments:

Revenue Recognition, Deferred Program Fee Revemdi€allaboration Revent

We recognize revenue when there is persuasive megdehat an arrangement exists, delivery has oceduthe price is fixed al
determinable, and collection is reasonably assuredonnection with Pfizer Agreement, we recognmegram fee revenue, collaborat
revenue and milestone revenue.

Program fee revenue is derived from amortized ugpfpmyments, such as the $30.0 million upfront payirirom Pfizer received
December 2007, and license fees, such as the $Bidnrnoption exercise fee paid by King to us irckaf May 2008 and December 2008 u
the exercise of its option to license a third amarth opioid analgesic product candidate undePtimer Agreement. We have assigned an ¢
portion of Pfizers $30.0 million upfront payment to each of threedwuct candidates identified in the Pfizer Agreemamd recognize tl
upfront payment as program fee revenue ratably owerestimate of the development period for eadntified product candidate. \
recognized $0.5, $1.1 million, $3.1 million and $2illion of this program fee revenue in 2011, @02009 and 2008, respectively.

Collaboration revenue is derived from reimbursemeintlevelopment expenses, which are invoiced qugrie arrears, and a
recognized when costs are incurred pursuant t&tizer Agreement. The ongoing research and dewaop services being provided to Pf
under the collaboration are priced at fair valusdaupon the reimbursement of expenses incurresti@nt to the collaboration with Pfizer. '
recognized $0, $2.2 million, $0.8 million and $1i8lion of collaboration revenue in 2011, 2010020and 2008, respectively.

Milestone revenue is contingent upon the achieveérokgertain predefined events in the development of Oxecta Taldats othe
product candidates licensed to Pfizer under theePf\greement. Milestone payments from Pfizer aomognized as revenue upon achievel
of the “at risk” milestone events, which represent the culminatibthe earnings process related to that milestonéesibne payments &
triggered either by the results of our research dexklopment efforts or by events external to ushsas regulatory approval to mark
product. As such, the milestones are substantlifsk at the inception of the Pfizer Agreemenmigl dhe amounts of the payments assi
thereto are commensurate with the milestone actiidweaddition, upon the achievement of a milestement, we have no future performa
obligations related to that milestone payment. Badkestone payment is non-refundable and omditable when made. In June 2008, P
paid us a $5.0 million milestone payment for susfidly achieving the primary endpoints in our paoPhase Il study, AP-ADEO5 fol
Aversion oxycodone HCI with Niacin Tablets. In J@@11, Pfizer paid us a $20.0 million milestone rfielating to the receipt of FDA appro
of the NDA for Oxecta.
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Research and Developme

Research and Development, or R&D, expenses inghidenal R&D activities, external CRO services dhélir clinical research site
and other activities. Internal R&D activity expessinclude facility overhead, equipment and facitibaintenance and repairs, labora
supplies, pre-clinical laboratory experiments, @efation, salaries, benefits, and shbased compensation expenses. CRO activity exf.
include preclinical laboratory experiments and ich trial studies. Other activity expenses includgulatory consulting, and regulatory le
counsel. Internal R&D activities and other activitypenses are charged to operations as incurrednée payments to the CRO's base
agreed upon terms and may include payments in adwainthe study starting date. We review and ac&i® expenses and clinical trial st
expenses based on services performed and relyagionates of those costs applicable to the stagerapletion of a study as provided by
CRO. Accrued CRO costs are subject to revisionsuaf studies progress to completion. Revisionschagged to expense in the perio
which the facts that give rise to the revision medknown. We have entered into several cancelaBl® @rrangements and our obligati
under these arrangements were approximately $13200 $68,000 at December 31, 2011 and 2010, ridsplgcfor services to be incurred
subjects are enrolled and progress through theéestud

Income Taxe

We account for income taxes under the liability moelt Under this method, deferred income tax assadsliabilities are determin
based on differences between financial reportindjianome tax basis of assets and liabilities amdnaeasured using the enacted incom:
rates and laws that will be in effect when theatighces are expected to reverse. Additionallyppetating loss and tax credit carryforwards
reported as deferred income tax assets. The r8atizaf deferred income tax assets is dependent figioire earnings. A valuation allowal
against deferred income tax assets is requirdobged on the weight of available evidence, it igenlikely than not that some or all of
deferred income tax assets may not be realizedalBecwe realized taxable income in 2011 we were &blutilize a portion of our n
operating loss carryforwards. At December 31, 200D% of the remaining deferred income tax asseteffiset by a valuation allowance ¢
to uncertainties with respect to future utilizatimimet operating loss carryforwards. We record#jdsiments by way of increase of $2.5 mil
to the deferred income tax asset valuation allowahaing 2009. This adjustment recognized a $2Ibomitax expense from income taxe:
our income for 2009. If in the future it is detemad that amounts of our deferred income tax asgetsdd likely be realized, the valuati
allowance would be reduced in the period in whiobhsdetermination is made and a benefit from incdaxes in such period would
recognized.

Stock Compensation

Compensation cost related to stdzsed payment transactions is measured basedrosaliaé of the equity or liability instrument issl
For purposes of estimating the fair value of edokksoption unit on the date of grant, we utilizée Black-Scholes optiopricing model. Th
Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed ferinsestimating the fair value of traded optionsjali have no vesting restrictic
and are fully transferable. In addition, option uatlon models require the input of highly subjeeti@ssumptions including the expet
volatility factor of the market price of our commatock (as determined by reviewing its historicablic market closing prices). C
accounting for stock-based compensation for résttistock units, or RSUs, is based on thevalue method. The fair value of the RSUs is
market price of our common stock on the date ofigiass its exercise cost.
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Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures during 2011, 2010 and 206& $132,000, $41,000 and $220,000, respectiCapital expenditures in ez
such year were primarily attributable to the pusghaf scientific equipment and improvements toGhéver, Indiana facility.

Impact of Inflation

We believe that inflation did not have a matenmapact on our operations for the periods reported.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Some of the securities that we invest in may béestitto market risk. Our primary objective in owsb management activities it
preserve principal while at the same time maxingzimcome we receive from our investments. A chaingthe prevailing interest rates n
cause the principal amount of our investments teotfiate. We have no holdings of derivative finahaiad commodity instruments. As
December 31, 2011, our investments consisted pitimarinvestments in U.S. Treasury Bills and momegrket accountwith variable, marke
rates of interest.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements of Acura Plaaeuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary and the Repati@independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm thereon, to be filed pursutanitem 8 are included in Item 15.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Proceduréd&e have conducted an evaluation, under the supanvisad with the participatic
of our management, including our Chief Executivdic@f and Chief Financial Officer of the effectivass of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &g Act Rule 1345(e). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Exeeufficer and Chie
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosuretoois and procedures are effective in timely atgrtihem to material information relating
the Company (including our subsidiary) requirecbincluded in our periodic Securities and Excha@genmission filings. No significa
changes were made in our internal controls or heofactors that could significantly affect thesntrols subsequent to the date of t
evaluation. The Comparg’independent registered public accounting firm wa$ required to and did not express an opiniontto
effectiveness of the Company’s internal controlrdireancial reporting.

Management’'s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting. Our management is responsible for establishimraaintainini
adequate internal control over financial reportimgternal control over financial reporting is defth in Rule 13a-15(f) and 151b(f)
promulgated under the Exchange Act as a procesgndésd by, or under the supervision of, our ppatiexecutive and principal financ
officers and effected by our board of directorsnagement and other personnel, to provide reasorsgigrance regarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordante generally accepted accounting princi
and includes those policies and procedures that:

« Pertain to the maintenance of records that in retdle detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and disposition
our assets

« Provide reasonable assurance that transactionseaoeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiah statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies; and that our receipts and expenditures amegbmade only i
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshtdéectors; ant

« Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of ot
assets that could have a material effect on tlantial statement

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détmisstatements. Therefore, e
those systems determined to be effective can peomidy reasonable assurance with respect to finhstatement preparation and presente
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivemde future periods are subject to the risk thattmds may become inadequate becau:
changes in conditions, or that the degree of caanpé with the policies or procedures may detegorat

Our management assessed the effectiveness of teunah control over financial reporting as of De@@mn31, 2011. In making tt
assessment, management used the criteria setbprthe Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of Theadway Commission (COSO)
Internal Control ntegrated Framework. Based on our assessment,gaamaat believes that, as of December 31, 2011jnt@imal contrc
over financial reporting is effective based on thosteria.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial RepogdinThere was no change in our internal control ovearftial reporting th
occurred during the Fourth Quarter 2011 that maltgraffected, or is reasonably likely to matenadiffect, our internal control over financ
reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not Applicable.
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PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

Reference is made to 2012 Proxy Statement to e filith the SEC on or about March 9, 2012 with eespo Directors, Executi
Officers and Corporate Governance, which is incaafea herein by reference and made a part hergekponse to the information requirec
Item 10.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Reference is made to our 2012 Proxy Statement tfildg with the SEC on or about March 9, 2012 wi#hspect to Executi
Compensation, which is incorporated herein by sxfee and made a part hereof in response to theriafmn required by Item 11.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

Reference is made to our 2012 Proxy Statement fddaewith the SEC on or about March 9, 2012 witispect to the to the secu
ownership of certain beneficial owners and manageraed related stockholder matters, which is inotafed herein by reference and ma
part hereof in response to the information requingdtem 12.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Reference is made to our 2012 Proxy Statement fideloewith the SEC on or about March 9, 2012 witBpect to certain relationsh
and related transactions and direct independenb&hwis incorporated herein by reference and madeara hereof in response to
information required by Item 13.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Referencas made to our 2012 Proxy Statement to be fileth Wit SEC on or about March 9, 2012 with respeetiitor fees, whic
is incorporated herein by reference and made ampagsponse to the information required by Item 14

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as partho$ report:
1. All Financial Statements: See Index to Financiat&nent:

2. Financial Statement Schedules: N«
3. Exhibits: See Index to Exhibi
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 od)16{ the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the segiht has duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredalp authorized.

Date: March 1, 201 ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By : /sl ROBERT B. JONE!
Robert B. Jone
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
registrant and in the capacities and on the dathsdted.

Signature Title(s) Date
/s/Robert B. Jone President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc March 1, 201z
Robert B. Jone (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/Peter A. Clemer Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer March 1, 2012
Peter A. Clemen (Principal Financial and Accounting Office
/s/William G. Skelly Director March 1, 2012
William G. Skelly
/s/Bruce F. Wessa Director March 1, 201z
Bruce F. Wesso
/s/David F. Azac Director March 1, 201z
David F. Azac
/s/Richard J. Markhar Director March 1, 2012

Richard J. Markhar

/slimmanuel Thangar: Director March 1, 201
Immanuel Thangar:

/s/George K. Ros Director March 1, 201
George K. Ros
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, Illinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Sabgids of December 31, 2011
2010 and the related consolidated statements ahtipes, stockholdergquity, and cash flows for each of the three y@athe period ende
December 31, 2011. These financial statementshareesponsibility of the Comparsymanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspémian
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlaUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obta@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to hamewere we engaged to perform an audit of itsivatecontrol over financial reporting. C
audits included consideration of internal contreéofinancial reporting as a basis for designatingit procedures that are appropriate ir
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsaimopinion on the effectiveness of the Compaimyternal control over financial reporti
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autfibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and disclosure
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and the significant estimates madmanagement, as well as evaluating
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaarferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of Ac
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary at DecembgP@11 and 2010, and the results of their operateomd their cash flows for each of
three years in the period ended December 31, 20tbnformity with accounting principles generafigcepted in the United States of Amer

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Chicago, lllinois
March 1, 2012




ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2011 and 2010
(in thousands except par values)

Assets
Current assel
Cash and cash equivalel
Collaboration revenue receivatl
Income taxes refundab
Prepaid insuranc
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current asse
Property, plant and equipment, net
Total asset
Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred program fee reven
Total current liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholder’ equity
Common stocl- $.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized; 45,320181894 shares issued &
outstanding in 2011 and 2010, respecti
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaitements.
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2011 2010
35,68 $ 24,04
0 12€
152 12
21¢ 217
73 45
36,12¢ 24,44
1,04¢ 1,05¢
37,17 $ 25,49:
53 $ 0
477 68€
0 46€
53C 1,15.
452 43¢
361,73 359,83
(325,54) (335,929
36,64: 24,34’
37,17: $ 25,49:




Revenue!
Program fee revent
Collaboration revenu
Milestone revenu
Total revenue
Operating expenst
Research and developmt

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

(in thousands except per share data)

Marketing, general and administrati

Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operatiol
Other income (expens
Interest incomt
Other expens
Total other income (expens
Income (loss) before income t
Income tax expense

Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders

Earnings (loss) per sha
Basic
Diluted

Weighted average shar
Basic
Diluted

2011 2010 2009
$ 46€ 1,08¢ $ 3,077
0 2,227 75¢

20,00( 0 0

20,46¢ 3,311 3,83t

4,03 7,171 5,67+

5,89t 8,85¢ 11,66:

9,93 16,03 17,33t

10,53« (12,729) (13,500)

32 42 147

(39 (€) ©)

) 28 144

10,53: (12,69¢) (13,35()

147 11 2,47¢

$ 10,38¢ (12,70) $ (15,83}
$ 0.2 0.27) $ (0.35)
$ 0.2: 0.27) $ (0.35)
47,49¢ 47,02 45,93;

48,00 47,02 45,93;

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
(in thousands except par values)

Balance at Dec. 31, 2008

Net loss for the year ended Dec. 31, 2
Shar-based compensatic

Issuance of common stock for cashless exerci
warrants

Issuance of common stock for exercise of war
Issuance of common stock for cashless exerci
options and payroll taxes

Balance at Dec. 31, 20(

Net loss for the year ended Dec. 31, 2
Shar-based compensatic

Issuance of common stock for cashless exerci
warrants

Issuance of common stock for exercise of war
Balance at Dec. 31, 2010

Net income for the year ended Dec. 31, 2
Shar-based compensatic

Net distribution of common stock pursuant to restd
stock unit award pla

Common shares withheld for withholding taxes on
distribution of restricted stock uni

Net issuance of common stock pursuant to cas
exercise of stock optior

Common shares withheld for withholding taxes
cashless exercise of stock optic

Issuance of common stock for exercise of stockoog
Issuance of common stock for exercise of warr
Balance at Dec. 31, 2011

Common Stock Additional
$0.01 Par Valu Paic-in Accumulatec
Shares $ Amount Capital Deficit Total
42,72 $ 427 $ 344,02 $ (307,380 $ 37,06
0 0 0 (15,83% (15,83%
0 0 9,20/ 0 9,20¢
73C 7 ) 0 0
50 1 15¢ 0 16C
22F 2 (685) 0 (683%)
43,72¢ $ 437 $ 352,69: $ (323,22) $ 29,91(
0 0 0 (12,707 (12,707
0 0 6,74¢ 0 6,74¢
43 1 (@) 0 0
125 1 391 0 392
4389 $ 43¢ $ 359,83( $ (335,92) $ 24,34
0 0 0 10,38¢ 10,38¢
0 0 2,45¢ 0 2,45¢
82¢ 8 8 0 0
(28¢) (3) (945) 0 (94¢€)
611 6 (6) 0 0
(228) 2 (884) 0 (88€)
167 2 21E 0 217
33¢€ 3 1,07z 0 1,07¢
4532( $ 455 $ 361,73 $ (325,54) $ 36,64:

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements .
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Cash flows from operating activitie
Net income (loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rehcprovided by (used in) operating

activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009

(in thousands, except supplemental data)

Non-cash sharbased compensation expel

Loss (gain) on asset dispos
Deferred income taxe
Changes in assets and liabilit

Collaboration revenue receivat

Income taxes refundab

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Accounts payabl
Accrued expense
Deferred program fee reven

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activitie

Maturities of sho-term investment

Capital expenditure

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activitie
Exercise of stock optior

Distribution of restricted stock uni
Net proceeds from warrant exerc

Statutory minimum withholding taxes paid on therdsition of common stock

pursuant to restricted stock unit plan and exerafstock options
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Cash paid during the perio
Interest
Income taxe:

2011 2010 2009

$ 10,38 $ (12,70) $ (15,83Y)
131 13t 13C

2,45¢ 6,74¢ 9,20«

8 14 ©)

0 0 2,47¢

12€ 231 3,17:

(141) 0 0

(33) (37) 227

53 0 (382)

(209) 22¢ (1,119

(46€) (1,08¢) (3,077)

12,31 (6,48() (5,207

0 0 5,03¢

(131) (41) (220)

(131 (41) 4,81¢

217 0 0

5 0 0

1,07¢ 392 16C

(1,83¢) 0 0

(541) 392 16C

11,64( (6,129 (224)

24,04¢ 30,17¢ 30,39¢

$ 35,68 $ 24,04 $ 30,17¢
$ 26 $ 0$ 0
$ 284 $ 20 $ 10¢

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing exah€ing activities presented on a reverse stoliklssis (amounts presented are roundt
the nearest thousand):

Year ended December 31, 2011

1. 829 shares of common stock were distributed putsieanur RSU Plan utilizing various cashless exsardieatures of the plan and a
withholding shares for $3 in exercise costs andhlwgtding 288 shares for $948 in statutory minimuegrpll taxes, 540 shares of comn
stock were issuel

2. Options to purchase 935 shares of common stock wreecised utilizing various cashless exerciseufeat of our plan and af
withholding 324 shares for $1,252 in exercise cast$ withholding 230 shares for $886 in statutoigimum payroll taxes, 383 shares
common stock were issue

Year ended December 31, 2010

1. Warrants to purchase 65 shares of common stock evxeneised in cashless exercise transactions irggutt the net issuance of 43 shi
of common stock

Year ended December 31, 2009

1. Warrants to purchase 1,479 shares of common stec& exercised in cashless exercise transactionkingsin the issuance of 730 she
of common stock

2. Options to purchase 525 shares of common stock @eareeised in cashless exercise transactions aadvathholding shares for statutt
minimum payroll taxes calculated at $685, resuitetthe net issuance of 225 shares of common s

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

NOTE A - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New York corporatiand its subsidiary (the “Company”, “We”, or “Olrls a specialty pharmaceuti
company engaged in research, development and cariatiation of products intended to address metinaabuse and misuse, utilizing
proprietary Aversion® and Impede™ Technologies.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
A summary of the significant accounting policiesisistently applied in the preparation of the accanying consolidated financial statem
follows.

1. Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its whotlyned subsidiary, Acura Pharmaceu
Technologies, Inc. All significant intercompany aoats and transactions are eliminated in consatidat

2. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers cash and cash equivalentgltale cash in banks, U.S. Treasury Bills, anditutsonal money market mutt
funds. The Company considers all highly liquid istveents with an original maturity of three monthmdess to be cash equivalen@ur
cash and cash equivalents are governed by ourtinees policy as approved by our Board of Directdiise carrying amount of cash ¢
cash equivalents approximates its fair value dutstshort-term nature.

3. Concentration of Credit Risk

We invest our excess cash in accordance with testment policy approved by our Board of Directihiat seeks both liquidity and saf
of principal. The policy provides for investmentsinstruments issued by the United States goverharehby commercial institutions w
strong investment grade credit ratings and plaessictions on maturity terms and concentrationsypg and issuer.

4. Use of Estimates in Consolidated Financial Stateents

The preparation of consolidated financial statemémtconformity with accounting principles geneyadiccepted in the United States
America requires management to make estimates smdssumptions that affect the reported amourdsasts and liabilities and disclos
of contingent liabilities at the date of the comdaled financial statements, as well as the redataounts of revenues and expenses d
the reporting period. Actual results could diffesrh those estimates. Management periodically eveguastimates used in the preparatic
the consolidated financial statements for continueasonableness. Appropriate adjustments, if amythé estimates used are m
prospectively based on such periodic evaluations.

5. Inventories

We had no inventories at each of December 31, 20t112010. Purchases of active pharmaceutical irgresdand raw materials requi
for our development and clinical trial manufactofgroduct candidates utilizing our Aversio@® Impede™ Technologies are expense
incurred.

6. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at &mpreciation is recorded on a straigjhe basis over the estimated useful lives o
related assets. Leasehold improvements are ambrtigea straightine basis over the shorter of their useful livestlee terms of the
respective leases. Betterments are capitalizedraidtenance and repairs are charged to operat®imcarred. The estimated lives of
major classification of depreciable assets are:

Building and improvement 10- 40 years
Land improvement 20- 40 year:
Machinery and equipmel 7 - 10 years
Scientific equipmen 5-10 years
Computer hardware and softw: 3-10 years
Office equipmen 5-10 years
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7. Revenue Recognition, Deferred Program Fee RevenuadCollaboration Revenue

We recognize revenue when there is persuasive maédéhat an arrangement exists, delivery has oedurhe price is fixed al
determinable, and collection is reasonably assuredonnection with our License, Development, armm@ercialization Agreement da
October 30, 2007 with King Pharmaceuticals ReseancthDevelopment, Inc., now a subsidiary of Pfirer. (the “Pfizer Agreement”\we
recognize program fee revenue, collaboration resemad milestone revenue.

Program fee revenue is derived from amortized upfrmayments, such as the $30.0 million upfront paryirfrom Pfizer received
December 2007, and license fees, such as the $idhnoption exercise fee paid by Pfizer to useinch of May 2008 and December 2
upon the exercise of its option to license a thind fourth opioid analgesic product candidate uniderPfizer Agreement. We assigne(
equal portion of Pfizes $30.0 million upfront payment to each of threedurct candidates identified in the Pfizer Agreensemd recogniz
the upfront payment as program fee revenue ratay our estimate of the development period fohddentified product candidate.
recognized $0.5 million, $1.1 million, and $3.1 lioih of this program fee revenue in 2011, 2010, 2009, respectively.

Collaboration revenue is derived from reimbursenmedrdevelopment expenses, which are invoiced qrgrire arrears, and are recogni:
when costs are incurred pursuant to the Pfizer égent. The ongoing research and development ssriieing provided to Pfizer uni
the collaboration are priced at fair value basednuihe reimbursement of expenses incurred purdoathie collaboration with Pfizer. V
recognized $2.2 million and $0.8 million of collahtion revenue in 2010 and 2009, respectively. ko collaboration revenue in 2011.

Milestone revenue is contingent upon the achievemfoertain predefined events in the development of Oxecta Talaletsother produ
candidates licensed to Pfizer under the Pfizer &guent.Milestone payments from Pfizer are recognized &smee upon achievement
the “at risk” milestone events, which represent the culminatibthe earnings process related to that milestoniéesibne payments ¢
triggered either by the results of our research @gextlopment efforts or by events external to ushsas regulatory approval to mark
product. As such, the milestones are substantilhsk at the inception of the Pfizer Agreement ¢he amounts of the payments assi
thereto are commensurate with the milestone actielre addition, upon the achievement of a milestevent, we have no futt
performance obligations related to that milestoagnpent. Each milestone payment is non-refundabde reimereditable when made.
June 2011, Pfizer paid us a $20 million milestaglatng to the receipt of FDA approval of the NDéx Oxecta.

8. Research and Development

Research and Development (“R&D”) expenses includerinal R&D activities, external Contract ReseaBiganization (“CRO”)service
and their clinical research sites, and other a@wi Internal R&D activity expenses include fagiloverhead, equipment and faci
maintenance and repairs, laboratory supplies, lm&al laboratory experiments, depreciation, sakr benefits, and shabase:
compensation expenses. CRO activity expenses iaguekclinical laboratory experiments and clinic&ltstudies. Other activity expen:
include regulatory consulting, and regulatory legalinsel. Internal R&D activities and other activitxpenses are charged to operatiol
incurred. We make payments to the CRO's basedjeed upon terms and may include payments in aévaha study starting date.
review and accrue CRO expenses and clinical ttiadlys expenses based on services performed andorelgstimates of those cc
applicable to the stage of completion of a studypawided by the CRO. Accrued CRO costs are stiltecevisions as such stuc
progress to completion. Revisions are charged pemse in the period in which the facts that gige ttio the revision become known.
December 31, 2011 and 2010 we had accrued $28ahdwsnd $0.3 million, respectively of CRO and datitrial study expenses.
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9. Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability moelt Under this method, deferred income tax ass®isliabilities are determined ba
on differences between the financial reporting Hralincome tax basis of assets and liabilities amedmeasured using the enacted inc
tax rates and laws that will be in effect when thfferences are expected to reverse. Additionallgt operating loss and tax crt
carryforwards are reported as deferred income ¢agta. The realization of deferred income tax assetependent upon future earning
valuation allowance is required against deferretne tax assets if, based on the weight of availabidence, it is more likely than not 1
some or all of the deferred income tax assets noap@ realized. During 2009 we determined it wasatiely than not that we would r
be able to realize our recorded deferred incomeatmets and we recorded an adjustment of $2.5milt the deferred income tax a:
valuation allowance and recognized an expense frmome taxes in such period. At both December 31,12and 2010, 100% of
remaining net deferred income tax assets weretdffg@ valuation allowance due to uncertaintiehweéspect to future utilization of 1
operating loss carryforwards. If in the future stdetermined that additional amounts of our defeineome tax assets would likely
realized, the valuation allowance would be reduoetie period in which such determination is madd an additional benefit from inco
taxes in such period would be recognized.

10. Earnings (Loss) Per Share
The computation of basic earnings (loss) per slsireommon stock is based upon the weighted averageber of common shal
outstanding during the period, including sharegyivieid related to vested RSUs (See Note G). The etatipn of diluted earnings (loss)
share is based on the same number of shares utiesl iasic share calculation adjusted for the efieéother potentially dilutive securiti¢
No such adjustments were made for 2010 or 200Beasdffects would have been antidilutive.
Year ended December &
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands except per share data)

Basic earnings per she

Numerator:
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockhal $ 10,38 $ (12,700 $ (15,835
Denominator
Common share 45,01¢ 43,84: 42,91
Vested RSU: 2,48( 3,187 3,02(
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 47,49¢ 47,02¢ 45,93:
Basic earnings (loss) per common st $ 0.2z $ (0.27$ (0.3%)

Diluted earnings (loss) per she
Denominator

Common share 45,01¢ 43,84 42,912
Vested RSU: 2,48¢ 3,18 3,02(
Stock options 36€ 0 0
Common stock warrants 13€ 0 0
Weighted average number of shares outstar 48,001 47,02¢ 45,93:
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share $ 0.2z $ (0.27$ (0.3%)

Excluded potentially dilutive securitie
Common stock issuable (1

Stock options 2,80¢ 4,24 3,671
Common stock warran 0 2,19: 2,38(
RSUs 0 49 204
Total excluded dilutive shares 2,80 6,48¢ 6,25¢

(1) The number of shares is based on maximum nuofigrares issuable on exercise or conversioneofdtated securities as
our year end. Such amounts have not been adjustede treasury stock method or weighted averaggtanding calculations
required if the securities were dilutiv

11. Share-Based Compensation

We have four sharbased compensation plans covering stock optiondR8idis for our employees and directors, which aserileed mor
fully in Note G.
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We measure our compensation cost related to dfamed payment transactions based on fair valubeokgjuity or liability instrume
issued. For purposes of estimating the fair valueach stock option unit on the date of grant, wkza the Black-Scholes optiopricing
model. The Blackscholes option valuation model was developed feringstimating the fair value of traded optionkjcl have no vestir
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additioption valuation models require the input ofttygsubjective assumptions including

expected volatility factor of the market price efr@ommon stock (as determined by reviewing outohisal public market closing prices).

Our accounting for share-based compensation fordRSWased on the faialue method. The fair value of the RSUs is theketaprice o
our common stock on the date of grant, less itsoése cost.

Our non-cash share-based compensation expensesisede following:

Year Ended December 3

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands

Research and developmt

Stock options $ 457 $ 1,41¢ $ 1,702
RSUs 75 27¢ 203
532 1,697 1,90¢

General and administrati\
Stock options 1,69¢ 4,36t 6,53¢
RSUs 22€ 684 76C
1,92¢ 5,04¢ 7,29¢
Total $ 2,45¢ $ 6,74¢ $ 9,20¢
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NOTE B — LICENSE, DEVELOPMENT, AND COMMERCIALIZATIO N AGREEMENT

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticate&eh and Development, Inc., now a whalyred subsidiary of Pfizer, entered into
Pfizer Agreement to develop and commercialize & tnited States, Canada and Mexico certain opio@gesic products utilizing o
proprietary Aversion Technology. The Pfizer Agreammitially provided Pfizer with an exclusive liege in the United States, Canada
Mexico, or the Pfizer Territory, for Oxecta (oxyane HCI) Tablets and oxycodone HCl/acetaminophblets utilizing Aversion Technoloc
In addition, the Pfizer Agreement provides Pfizathwan option to license in the Pfizer Territoryrteén future opioid analgesic produ
developed utilizing Aversion Technology. As of Dedeger 31, 2011, Pfizer exercised its option to lgmitwo additional product candide
including an undisclosed immediatelease opioid analgesic tablet product and hydtoe bitartrate/acetaminophen tablets, each ofh
utilize our Aversion Technology. The Pfizer Agrearnprovides that we or Pfizer may develop additiamoid analgesic product candide
utilizing our Aversion Technology and, if Pfizereskises its option to license such additional povdiandidates, they will be subject to
milestone and royalty payments and other termbheffizer Agreement.

As of December 31, 2011, we had received aggregayenents of $78.5 million from Pfizer, consistinfa$30.0 million norrefundabl
upfront cash payment, $17.5 million in reimbursesearch and development expenses relating to édgmeducts, $6.0 million in fees relat
to Pfizer's exercise of its option to license andisolosed immediateslease opioid analgesic tablet product and hydiome
bitartrate/acetaminophen tablets, a $5.0 milliofestone fee relating to our successful achievernétie primary endpoints for our piva
Phase Il clinical study for Aversion oxycodone H@th niacin tablets and a $20.0 million milestdee relating to the FDA approval of tr
Oxecta Tablets NDA. The Pfizer Agreement also piesifor Pfizer's payment to us of a $3.0 millioe fgon Pfizess exercise of its option f
each future opioid analgesic utilizing Aversion fieclogy. In the event that Pfizer does not exeritgseption for a Future Product, Pfizer r
be required to reimburse us for certain of our esps relating to such Future Product. Further, \ag raceive up to $23 million in additiol
non+efundable milestone payments for each active d@ogalgesic ingredient licensed to Pfizer whichieds certain regulatory milestone
specific countries in the Pfizer Territory. An ojpicanalgesic product candidate formulated with aithout niacin is considered a sin
product candidate for purposes of the option feesrailestone payments payable under the Pfizer ékgemt. We can also receive a dimee
$50 million sales milestone payment upon the fatsainment of $750 million in net sales of all afrdicensed products across all Pf
Territories. In addition, for sales occurring orddollowing February 2, 2018he one year anniversary of the first commercié ®f Oxecta
Pfizerwill pay us a royalty at one of six rates rangingnfi 5% to 25% based on the level of combined anneiasales for all products licen:
by us to Pfizer across all Pfizer Territories, viltle highest applicable royalty rate applied tohseembined annual sales.
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Pfizer 's royalty payment obligations expire onraduct-by-product and country-tmeuntry basis upon the later of (i) the expiratidrihe las
valid patent claim covering such product in suchntoy, or (ii) 15 years from the first commercialles of such product in such country.
minimum annual fees are payable by either partyeutite PfizeAgreement. If Pfizer, after consultation with ustegs into a license agreem
with a third party to avoid or settle such thirdtgss allegations or claims regarding freedom to opeagiinst a licensed Aversion Techno
product, Pfizer may deduct 50% of any royaltiesotiter license payments it pays to such third pargler such license, provided that
royalties payable to us are no less than 80% ofdjalties otherwise due to us under the Pfizereggrent.

The Pfizer Agreement expires upon the expiratioRfifer 's royalty payment and other payment olilages under the Pfizer AgreemeRfizel
may terminate the Pfizéxgreement (i) in its entirety at any time by writtaotice to us, and (ii) with respect to any prddatany time upon tl
provision of not less than 12 months’ prior writtestice. We may terminate the Pfizer Agreement with respea product in the United Sta

in the event such product is not commercially ldattby Pfizer within 120 days after receipt of datpry approval of such product or in
entirety if Pfizer commences any interference opagition proceeding challenging the validity or @ckability of any of our patent rigl
licensed to Pfizer under the Pfizer Agreement. fittarty has the right to terminate the Pfizer &gnent on a product by product and country-
by-country basis if the other party is in materialdmte of its obligations under the Pfizer Agreemetating to such product and such coul
and to terminate the Agreement in its entiretyhie event the other party makes an assignment éobémefit of creditors, files a petition
bankruptcy or otherwise seeks relief under appleabnkruptcy laws, in each case subject to appkceure periods.

NOTE C — PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are summarized &safs]
December 31
2011 2010
(in thousands

Building and improvement $ 125:$% 1,24%
Land and improvemen 162 161
Machinery and equipme! 117 43
Scientific equipmen 583 58:¢
Computer hardware and softwé 27C 251
Office equipmen 27 27
Other personal proper 70 68

2,481 2,37t
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (1,437 (1,329
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 104¢$ 1,052

Depreciation and amortization expense was apprdeimn&0.1 million for each of the years ended Deben8B1, 2011, 2010, and 2009.
lease administrative offer space in Palatine llBnander a lease expiring March 31, 2013 for apipnetely $29 annually.

NOTE D — ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses are summarized as follows:
December 31

2011 2010

(in thousands
Payroll, payroll taxes and benef $ 104 % 95
Professional service 191 19:
Franchise taxe 6C 12
Property taxe 21 19
Clinical and regulatory servict 59 307
Other fees and services 42 6C

$ 477 % 68¢€
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NOTE E — COMMON STOCK WARRANTS

The Company has outstanding common stock purchasamis at December 31, 2011 exercisable for 1l@mshares of common stock,
of which contain a cashless exercise feature. Theseants have an exercise price of $3.40 per sirateexpiration date of August 2014.

NOTE F — INCOME TAXES
Provision for Income Taxes
The reconciliation between our provision for incotages and the amounts computed by multiplyingiocome (loss) before taxes by the |
statutory tax rate is as follows :
December 31

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands
Tax (benefit) at U.S. statutory 34% taxr $ 3,51( $ (4,3200% (4,547
State taxes (benefit), net of federal eff 6 (56) (41€)
Research and development tax cre (77) (45) (200
Wage reported she-based compensatic (307) 0 (587)
Stock compensatic 62€ - -
Other (362) (315) (330
Change in valuation allowance (3,869) 4,74¢ 8,45:
Provision for income taxe $ 147 $ 11 $ 2,47¢

Tax expense for 2011 is federal alternative minintares (“AMT") and current state taxes. The tax expense for 20tQrrent sta
taxes and for 2009 it is deferred taxes.

Deferred Tax Assets and Valuation Allowance

Deferred tax assets reflect the tax effects ofaperating losses (“NOLs"}ax credit carryovers, and temporary differencetsvben th
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for fficial reporting purposes and the amounts usedémmie tax purposes. The most signifi
item of our deferred tax assets is derived from Bederal NOLs. We have approximately $23.0 millfederal income tax benefits
December 31, 2011 derived from $67.6 million FedMi@Ls at the U.S. statutory tax rate of 34%, ealali to offset future taxable incor
some of which have limitations for use as prescribeder IRC Section 382. Our NOLs will expire irryiag amounts between 2012 :
2030 if not used, and those expirations will calisetuations in our valuation allowances. The comgrts of our deferred tax assets a
follows:

December 31
2011 2010

(in thousands

Deferred tax asset
Estimated future value of NOI

- Federa $ 2296:$ 25,10

- State 4,17¢ 3,26(
Research and development tax cre 887 234
Deferred program fee reven 0 18z
Shar-based compensatic 4,62¢ 7,702
Other, net (8 30
Total deferred taxe 32,64¢ 36,51:
Valuation allowanct (32,649 (36,517
Net deferred tax assets $ 0% 0

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent fiytore earnings, if any, and the timing and antafrwhich may be uncertain. Valuat
allowances are placed on deferred tax assets whegrtainty exists on their near term utilizatione \Wiake periodic reviews of our valual
allowances and fluctuations can occur. Those fatadns may be reflected as income tax expensesr@fits in the period they occur. In 2C
we increased the valuation allowance by $2.5 nmilfior the then available deferred tax assets aswlf@hced a valuation allowance agains
2009 and 2010 operating results. In 2011 we deeckasr valuation allowance to utilize the NOLs ftset our taxable income from our 2(
operating results; however we still incurred an ANEDility. We continue to maintain full valuaticalowance against all of our deferred
assets at December 31, 2011 due to uncertaintidsrespect to future utilization of net operatirgd carryforwards. If in the future it
determined that amounts of our deferred tax asgetdd likely be realized, the valuation allowanceuld be reduced in the period in wk
such determination is made and a benefit from iretawes in such period would be recognized.
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Uncertainty in Income Taxes
We adopted FASE' statement regarding accounting for uncertainiméome taxes which defined the threshold for reigg the benefits
tax-return positions in the financial statementSraere-likely-thannot” to be sustained by the taxing authorities. @dwmption of the stande
did not result in establishing a contingent tadility reserve or a corresponding charge to rethiearnings. At each of December 31, 2
2010 and 2009, we had no liability for income tasaciated with uncertain tax positions. If in théufe we establish a contingent tax liab
reserve related to uncertain tax positions, ouctpra will be to recognize the interest in interespense and the penalties in other nperating
expense.

NOTE G — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan
We have a 401(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan (the “Bldor our employees. Employees may elect to makesé lmntribution of up to 15%
their annual earnings. The Plan provides that tbenfiany can make discretionary matching contribstiequal to 25% of the first 6%
employee contributions for an aggregate employegribution of 1.5%, along with a discretionary ptefharing contribution. We did r
contribute matching or profit sharing contributidos the Plan in years 2011, 2010, and 2009.

Stock Option Plans
We maintain various stock option pladssummary of our stock option plans as of Decen®ier2011, 2010, and 2009, and for the years
ended consisted of the following:

Years Ended December &
2011 2010 2009
(in thousands except per share d
Number  Weighted @ Number  Weighted  Number  Weighted

of Average of Average of Average
Options Exercise Options Exercise Options Exercise
(00C's) Price (00C's) Price (00C's) Price

Outstanding, beginning 4,24: $ 5.4C 3,671 % 5.9C 2,96¢ $ 4.9¢
Granted 491 3.65 64¢ 3.3¢ 1,312 6.3¢
Exercisec (1,102 1.3¢ 0 0 (525) 1.3C
Forfeited or expirel (76) 3.1¢ (77) 10.1(¢ (84) 7.9¢
Outstanding, ending 3,55¢ $ 6.41 4,24: $ 5.4C 3,671 % 5.9C
Options exercisabl 2,962 $ 7.01 3,52¢ $ 5.71 2,712 $ 5.4¢

The following table summarizes information abouhwested stock options outstanding at December(Rll1:2

Number of
Options  Weightec
Not
Exercisabl Average
Fair
(000" s Value
(in thousands exce
per share dat:

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 71E$  3.64
Grantec 491 3.3¢
Vested (54¢€) 4.1¢
Forfeited (66) 3.0z

Outstanding at December 31, 2( 594¢ 3.2z
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We estimate the option’s fair value on the dateynt using the Black-Scholes option-pricing modihack-Scholes utilizes assumptic
related to volatility, the riskree interest rate, the dividend yield (which iswamed to be zero, as we have not paid any castiedids) an
price. The riskfree interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasueld curve in effect at the time of grant. Thepected life of the grants
derived from historical exercise activity. Histally, our stock options have been held until theipiration date. The assumptions used it
Black-Scholes model to determine fair value for2041, 2010 and 2009 stock option grants were:

2011 2010 2009
Expected dividend yiel 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rate 1.9% to 3.49 3.5% to 3.99 2.4% to 3.19
Average expected volatilil 114% 119% 124%
Expected term (year: 10 10 10
Weighted average grant date fair va $ 3.3¢$ 3.1 $ 6.0¢€

As of December 31, 2011, 2010, and 2009 the agtgdgtinsic value of the option awards vested W& million, $2.4 million and $4
million, respectively. In addition, the aggregatérinsic value of option awards exercised during ylear ended December 31, 2011 and
was $2.7 million and $1.7 million, respectively.efa were no options exercised in 2010. The totakiging unrecognized compensation
related to the unvested option awards at Decembe2@®L1 was $2.0 million and is expected to begaed in varying amounts over the
months remaining in the requisite service periodrily 2011 options to purchase 935 shares of constark were exercised utilizing varic
cashless exercise features of our stock option afah after withholding shares for $887 in statutompimum payroll taxes and $1,252
exercise costs, we issued 381 shares of commok. f2ocing 2009 options to purchase 525 shares wincon stock were exercised in cash
exercise transactions and after withholding shésestatutory minimum payroll taxes calculated 8%, we issued 225 shares of com
stock.

Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan
We have a Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan (“20@URPlan”) for our employees and nemployee directors. Vesting of an RSU entitles
holder to receive a share of common stock of theny@oy on a distribution date. A summary of the R8&h as of December 31, 202010
and 2009, and for the years then ended consistéa: dbllowing:
Years Ended December &

2011 2010 2009
(in thousands)
Number Number Number Number
Number of Vested Number of Vested of of Vested
of RSUs RSUs of RSUs RSUs RSUs RSUs

Outstanding, beginnin 3,31¢ 3,267 3,31¢ 3,112 3,00(¢ 2,97(
Granted 0 0 0 0 33C 0
Distributed (829) (829 0 0 0 0
Vested 0 49 0 15k 0 142
Forfeited or expired 0 0 0 0 (17) 0
Outstanding, endin 2,487 2,487 3,31¢ 3,267 3,31¢ 3,112

The share-based compensation cost to be incurrédeoRSUs is the RSU'’s fair value, which is the keamprice of the Compang’commo
stock on the date of grant, less its exercise ddst. fair value of the RSU grants made in 2009 2008 was $2.1 million and $0.4 millic
respectively. The weighted average fair value B outstanding at December 31, 2011 is $3.83.

The 2005 RSU Plan provides that upon a change mraloof the Company or upon termination of an ewypk's employment with tt
Company without cause, vesting will accelerate tledRSUs will fully vest. Absent a change of cohtomefourth of vested shares of comn
stock underlying an RSU award will be distributedftér payment of $0.01 par value per share) onalgnl of each of 2011, 2012, 2013
2014. If a change in control occurs, the vestedeshanderlying the RSU award will be distributedatibout the time of the change in con
On January 1, 2011, 0.54 million vested shares isteibuted to the holders while 0.29 million seamwere withheld by the Company u
elections made to exchange RSUs in satisfactigdldd million withholding tax obligations. On Janydr, 2012, 0.54 million vested shs
were distributed to the holders while 0.29 millisimares were withheld by the Company upon electioade to exchange RSUs in satisfac
of $0.9 million withholding tax obligations.
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NOTE H — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Securities Class Action and Derivative Litigation

A lawsuit captionedang v. Acura Pharmaceuticals, et,abas filed on September 10, 2010 in the UnitedeStBistrict Court for the Northe
District of Illinois, Eastern Division (Case 1:10-65757) against us and certain of our current anthdo officers seeking unspecified dame
on behalf of a putative class of persons who puwetiaur common stock (the “Affected Securitids#jween February 21, 2006 and April
2010 (the “Plaintiff Class”)The complaint alleged that certain Company officeiesde false or misleading statements, or failedisolost
material facts in order to make statements noteadihg, relating to our AcurdXwith Niacin Tablet product candidate, resultingvialations
of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Acfi®84 (the “Exchange Act”), Rule 1Gbunder the Exchange Act and Section 20(a) ¢
Exchange Act. The complaint further alleges thahsialse or misleading statements or omissionsiaeffect of artificially inflating the pric
of our common stock. On March 14, 2011, an amemdaaplaint was filed in this lawsuit. The amendedplaint asserts the same claim
the initial complaint based upon the same allegéskfor misleading statements, and has addeddahme current directors as defendants.
Court has changed the caption of this cade t®@ Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. Securities Litiga . We filed a motion to dismiss this case
May 13, 2011.

On October 31, 2011, we entered into a Stipuladib8ettlement (“Stipulation”providing for the release of all claims against @@mpany an
its named directors and officers (the “Defendanis”}his case, for a payment of $1.5 million. Then@any and the individual defende
continue to deny all charges of wrongdoing or ligbagainst them relating to this action and thig@ation does not contain or constitute
admission or finding of wrongful conduct, acts anissions on the part of any Defendant. On DecerhbeR011 our insurance carrier paid
$1.5 million settlement amount into an escrow aatoo fund the settlement.

In consideration of the payment of the settlemenbant, the Plaintiff Class has agreed, upon fimpgdraval by the court, to dismiss the c
action with prejudice and release all known andnawkn claims arising out of or relating to, or imoection with the purchase or acquisitio
the Affected Securities during the class periodolttiave been or could have been asserted by théensmof the Plaintiff Class. On Febru
16, 2012, the court entered final approval of thtdement reflected in the Stipulation.

On October 25, 2010, Kiley Hill, a purported stockter of the Company filed a shareholder derivatiedon in the Circuit Court of Co
County, lllinois, Chancery Division captionétill v. Acura Pharmaceuticalst al. (Case No. 2010-C#6380), against our directors and cel
of our executive officers, generally relating t@ ttame events that are the subject of the clammditigation described above. The compl
purports to be brought on our behalf and namessua aominal defendant. The complaint seeks unspdcifamages from the individi
defendants for breaches of fiduciary duty, abuseoattrol, gross mismanagement, contribution an@nmugification, waste of corporate as:
and unjust enrichment for actions occurring fronteast February 21, 2006 through April 22, 201hsBantively similar complaints captior
Hagan v. Acura Pharmaceuticaet al. (Case No. 2010-CH-46621) aNdwell v. Reddiclet al (Case No. 2010-CKi6873) were filed in tt
Circuit Court of Cook County, lllinois, ChanceryJision, by other purported stockholders of the Campon October 27, 2010 and Octc
28, 2010, respectively. We filed a notion to disisese shareholder derivative actions on Nove2®e2011.

Reglan® /Metoclopramide Litigation

Halsey Drug Company, as predecessor to us, hasmeeed along with numerous other companies as endeiit in cases filed in thi
separate state coordinated litigations pending iennBylvania, New Jersey and California, respegtivelaptioned In r¢
Reglan®/Metoclopramide Mass Tort Litigation, Phigzhia County Court of Common Pleas, January T@0h0, No. 01997; In re: Regl@n
Litigation, Superior Court of New Jersey, Law Diweis, Atlantic County, Case No. 289, Master Dockeb. NATL-L-3865-10; ant
Reglan®Metoclopramide Cases, Superior Court of Califorr8an Francisco County, Judicial Council Coordinatleroceeding No. 463
Superior Court No.: CJC-1004631. In this product liability litigation againnumerous pharmaceutical product manufacturetsitributors
including us, plaintiffs claim injuries from theiise of the Reglan brand of metoclopramide and gensgtoclopramide. In the Pennsylve
state court mass tort proceeding, over 200 lawdaie been filed against us and Halsey Drug Compaéleging that plaintiffs develop
neurological disorders as a result of their usehef Reglan brand and/or generic metoclopramidaintffs have filed approximately 1
lawsuits against us, but have served less thamdi@idual lawsuits upon us in the New Jersey actlarthe California action, we were |
served with any complaints until the Spring of 2@iHen a single complaint including over 400 pldfativas served. To date, Acura has
been served with any metoclopramide lawsuits iisglictions other than Philadelphia, New Jersey @alifornia state courts.
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In the lawsuits filed to date, plaintiffs have notnfirmed they ingested any of the generic metaelopde manufactured by us. '
discontinued manufacture and distribution of genenietoclopramide more than 15 years ago. In amditive believe the June 23, 2
decision by the U.S. Supreme CourPhbIVA v. Mensing (“Mensinglecision”)holding that state tort law failure to warn claiagainst gener
drug companies are pre-empted by the 1984 Hatakman Act Amendments and federal drug regulatimiisassist us in favorably resolvi
these cases. We have consistently maintained gigguothat these claims are without merit andridté& vigorously defend these actions.

In Philadelphia, New Jersey and California, GenBfendants, including Acura, have filed dispogitmotions based on tiensingdecision
The New Jersey and California courts are expeaieidsue their rulings later this year. On Novemb@y 2011, the Philadelphia trial cc
denied Generic Defendantdispositive motion. In December 2011, the GeneefeDddants appealed this ruling, which the trialrtoefused t
modify on reconsideration. Nonetheless, the trairthas approved certification of the federal prpon issues based on thkensingdecisiot
for immediate appeal to the Pennsylvania SuperionrC A decision on this appeal should be issuéel lthis year which could result
dismissal of all of the Philadelphia cases agaBesteric Defendants, although there can be no assiia this regard. As any potential los
neither probable or estimable, we have not accfoedny potential loss related to this matter aBetember 31, 2011. Legal fee related to
matter are currently covered by our insurance earri

Statutory Minimum Withholding Tax Obligations

Under our stock option plans and our 2005 RSU phain,employees may elect to have shares withheddh @ercise of options and upon
exchange of RSUs in satisfaction of the statutoinyimum withholding tax obligations of such emplogeelating to such option exercise:
RSU exchanges. During 2011, elections were madeve 0.29 million of common shares withheld by @@mpany upon the exchange
RSUs in satisfaction of $1.0 million in withholdirtgx obligations and other elections were madeaiet0.23 million common shares withf
by the Company upon the exercise of options irsatiion of $0.9 million in withholding tax obligahs. On January 1, 2012, elections v
made to have 0.29 million of common shares withhgjdthe Company upon the exchange of RSUs in aatish of $1.1 million i
withholding tax obligations.

Financial Advisor Agreement
In connection with our August 2007 Unit Offeringewsre obligated to pay a fee to our then finarailgisor upon each exercise of the wart
issued in the Unit Offering, in proportion to thember of warrants exercised. The amount of theagseming 100% exercise of the remai
1.9 million warrants is $0.38 million. We have meflected this obligation as a liability in our cmlidated financial statements as the pay
is contingent upon the timing and exercise of tlaerants by each of the warrant holders. Such feayi, will be paid to the financial advis
and be offset against the equity proceeds as theamia are exercised.

NOTE | — SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDIT ED)

Three Month Period Ende
(in thousands except per share d

Calendar Year 2011 Mar. 31 Jun. 3C Sept. 3C Dec. 31
Total revenue (i $ 23: $ 20,23: $ 0% 0
Income (loss) from operatiol (2,839 17,36 (2,149 (1,847
Net income (loss (2,857) 17,02¢ (2,140 (1,64¢)
Income (loss) per common share Bz $ (0.06) $ 0.3¢ $ (0.09 % (0.09)
Diluted $ (0.0 $ 0.3t $ (0.0 $ (0.09)

Calendar Year 2010 Mar. 31 Jun. 3C Sept. 3C Dec. 31
Total revenue (i $ 2,04C $ 62C $ 29z $ 35¢
Loss from operation (4,035 (3,18¢) (2,56¢€) (2,937
Net loss (4,03%) (3,197) (2,557%) (2,927
Loss per common share - basic and diluted $ (0.09 $ (0.0 $ (0.05 $ (0.0¢6)

(i) See Note A(7) for revenue recognition.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are included as a part a$ thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated het®y reference.

Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

3.1

3.2

3.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1hHe Registrant’s Form 8-
K filed on June 25, 2009

Certificate of Amendment Reverse Splitting Commaac® and restating but not changing text of parAdicle Il of
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporadgcReference to Exhibit 3.1 to the ForiK filed December 4, 2007

Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporatedegrence to Exhibit 3.1 to the Forr-K filed on March 3, 2009

License, Development and Commercialization Agredmnt®n and between the Registrant and King Pharmenzds
Research and Development, Inc. (incorporated tsreate to Exhibit 10.1 of the Formk8filed on November 2, 200
(confidential treatment has been granted for postiof this Exhibit)

Manufacturing Services Agreement dated as of JAly2D11 between the Registrant and Patheon Phamtizeds Inc
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to oorr 8K filed July 27, 2011) (confidential treatment Hzeen grante
for portions of this Exhibit

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of Augus2@y “PIPE SP/’) among the Registrant, Vivo Ventures Fund
L.P., Vivo Ventures VI Affiliates Fund, L.P., GCEottlings LLC, and certain other signatories ther@ocorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Fori-K filed on August 21, 2007

Form of Warrant dated as of August 20, 2007 isqueduant to the PIPE SPA (incorporated by referémdexhibit 4.1 t
the Form K filed on August 21, 2007

Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated aslofulary 6, 2004 among the Registrant, Care Cdpialtments |
LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., G&lartners lll, L.P., and others (incorporated Hgnence to Exhib
10.5 of the Form -K filed on February 10, 2004 (t February 2004 Form-K")).

Joinder and Amendment to Amended and Restated {/@tgreement dated November 9, 2005 between thesRaqgi
GCE Holdings, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures Y, LCare Capital Investments Il, LP, Galen Parthiérs.P. anc
others (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.the Form -K filed November 10, 2005

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Votingekgent dated as of January 24, 2008 between thstReg an
GCE Holdings, LLC (incorporated by reference to i 0.1 to the Form-K filed January 28, 2008

Registrang’ 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Purchdae {hcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 te
Registrant's Registration Statement on Fo-8, File No. 3.-98396).

Registrar’'s 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporayeteference to Appendix C to the Regist's Prox)
Statement filed on May 12, 200¢




Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

Registrants 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, as amen(ecbrporated by reference to Appendix B to
Registrar’s Proxy Statement filed on April 2, 200

Registrants 2008 Stock Option Plan, as amended on June P9, @tcorporated by reference to Appendix B to Broxy
Statement filed on May 12, 200¢

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Augugt 2003 between the Registrant and Andrew D. Ré&
(“Reddick”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibd.2 to the Form 1@ for the quarter ended June 30, 2004 file
August 9, 2004 (th“June 2004 1-Q")).

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement betwberRegistrant and Reddick, dated May 27, 200eb(porate
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the June 200-Q).

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreenbetiveen the Registrant and Reddick, dated May R8E
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.116 toFoem 10K for the year ending December 31, 2005 filed obrkary 21
2006 (the*2005 Form 1-K™)).

Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemegtiveen the Registrant and Reddick, dated Decenthe2(D!
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tleenk ¢-K filed December 23, 2005 (t“December 2005 Formr-K”)).

Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreenteitveen the Registrant and Reddick dated Decenthe2QD"
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to Hwem 10K for the year ending December 31, 2007, filed oaréh 5
2008).

Fifth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeetween the Registrant and Reddick executed Jul209f
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Barm &K filed on July 10, 2008

Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 199&dsen the Registrant and Peter Clem¢ Clemen”) (incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the Forn-K for the period ending December 31, 2007, filedAgmil 15, 1998).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement made akiné 28, 2000 between the Registrant and Clemeosrporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.44A to the Regist's 2005 Form 1-K).

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerbetween Registrant and Clemens, dated as of Jasu&Q0!
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to thegRtrant's Form-K filed January 31, 2005

Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeated December 22, 2005 between Registrant and @k
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to trec@mber 2005 Form-K).

Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreenmaated December 16, 2007 between Registrant and etk
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to Hwem 10K for the year ending December 31, 2007, filed oaréh 5
2008).

Fifth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreememecmited July 9, 2008 between Registrant and Cle
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to oarrk &-K filed on July 10, 2008

E-2




Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

10.24 Employment Agreement dated as of March 18, 2008véxt the Registrant and Robert B. Jones (incorporag
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to our Forr-K filed on March 24, 2008

10.25 Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement datedfapril 28, 2011 between the Registrant and RoBeJone
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to oarrk 1(-Q filed July 28, 2011

10.26 Stipulation of Settlement dated October 31, 2011XCtass Action Litigation (incorporated by refererto Exhibit 10.1 t
our Form K filed November 4, 2011

14.1 Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi1 of the Form-K filed on December 10, 2007

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated byenesice to Exhibit 21 to the Form KOfor the fiscal year end
December 31, 2006 filed on March 15, 20(

*23.1 Consent of BDO USA LLP, Independent Registered ieuwatcounting Firm

*31.1 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@dficer pursuant to Rule 1-14 and 15-14 of the Securities Exchar
Act of 1934.

*31.2 Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financ@fficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B#lof the Securities Exchar
Act of 1934.

*32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chi€inancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 0,3&s adopte
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbi-Oxley Act of 2002

*101.INS XBRL Instance Documet

*101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

*101.CAL XBRL Extension Calculation Linkba:

*101.LAB XBRL Extension Label Linkbas

*101.PRE XBRL Extension Presentation Linkba

*101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkba:

*Filed or furnished herewith.




CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, Illinois

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referéndbe Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N88-1851653, 333-151620, 3333172

333-123615, 333-63288, and 33-98356) and on Fofn(I$a. 333146416) of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. of our repated March 1, 201
relating to the consolidated financial statements.

/s/ BDO USA, LLP
Chicago, lllinois
March 1, 201z




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert B. Jones, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescootain any untrue statement of a material facomit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheofircumstances under which such statements mwade, not misleading with resp
to the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operet and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disaie controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repaogtifas defined in Exchange Act R
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaased such disclosure controls and procedurée tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidiatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipor, or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangarding the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimgport our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amsteuiures, as of the end of the period covered sy réport based on st
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmanternal control over financial reporting tretcurred during the registrai
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal gedrtthat has materially affected, or is reasondifigly to materially affect, th
registrant's internal control over financial refrogt and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | baglisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioimtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetaz@immittee of the registrant's board of direct@s persons performing the equiva
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contro¢iofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidteaability to record, process, summarize and rtefieincial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesmagement or other employees who have a significdetin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 1, 201

/s/Robert B. Jone
Robert B. Jone
President and Chief Executive Offic




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify that:

1.

2.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Acura Pharmaceuticals, In

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescootain any untrue statement of a material facomit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheofircumstances under which such statements mwade, not misleading with resp
to the period covered by this repc

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operet and cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disaie controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repaogtifas defined in Exchange Act R
13e-15(f) and 15-15(f) ) for the registrant and hav

(@) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaased such disclosure controls and procedurée tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidiatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipor, or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangarding the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slaisire controls and procedures and presentedsimgport our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amsteuiures, as of the end of the period covered sy réport based on st
evaluation; ant

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmanternal control over financial reporting tretcurred during the registrai
most recent fiscal quarter (its fourth fiscal gedrtthat has materially affected, or is reasondifigly to materially affect, th
registrant's internal control over financial refrogt and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | baglisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioimtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetaz@immittee of the registrant's board of direct@s persons performing the equiva
functions):

(@) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contro¢iofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regidteaability to record, process, summarize and rtefieincial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesmagement or other employees who have a significdetin the registran
internal control over financial reportin

Date: March 1, 201

/s/Peter A. Clemer
Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION OF

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert B. Jones, certify, pursuant to 18 U.9.850, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBasOxley Act of 2002, that the Annt
Report on Form 16 of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2011 fully complies with thguirements ¢
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange & 1934 and that information contained in suaméal Report of Form 18- fairly
presents, in all material respects, the finanaialdition Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of the slptesented and results of operations of A
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the periods presented.

March 1, 201z By: /s/IRobert B. Jone
Robert B. Jone
President and Chief Executive Offic

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.850, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of theaBasOxley Act of 2002, that the Annt
Report on Form 1@ of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2011 fully complies with tegquirements «
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange & 1934 and that information contained in suaméal Report of Form 18- fairly
presents, in all material respects, the finanaialdition Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. as of the slptesented and results of operations of A
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the periods presented.

March 1, 201z By: /s/Peter A. Clemer
Peter A. Clemen
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




